Assessment of an *ex vivo* porcine lung model to investigate host-microbe interactions in cases of ventilator associated pneumonia.

By Elizabeth Barber

CONTENTS

	Pg.
Acknowledgements	5
Abbreviations	
List of figures	9
List of tables	11
Abstract	13
1. Introduction	14
1.1 Epidemiology of ventilator-associated pneumonia	14
1.2 Diagnosis	18
1.3 Treatment and Prevention strategies	21
1.3.1 Cost	21
1.3.2 Antibiotics	21
1.3.3 Alternatives to antibiotics	25
1 A Pathogens associated with VAP	28
	20
1.4.1 Common clinical isolate pathogens	28
1.4.2 VAP Pathology	30
1.4.3 Biofilms	31
1.4.4 Staphylococcus aureus	33
1.4.5 Acinetobacter baumanii	34
1.4.6 Pseudomonas aeruginosa	35
1.4.7 Rare pathogenesis	36
1.4.8 Transfer of bacterium on insertion of the ETT	37
1.5 Immune response to VAP	37

1.5.1 Systemic response	37
1.5.2 Lung specific response	42
1.6 Evaluation of current research approaches	46
1.7 Overall aims	47
2. Materials and methods	50
2.1 Bacterial strains and the clinical Isolate	50
2.1.1 Specifications of lungs from Sus scrofa	50
2.2 Development of <i>ex vivo</i> porcine lung model	50
2.2.1 Artificial Sputum Medium	50
2.2.2 Lung dissection	51
2.2.3 Optimisation of killing lung tissue	52
2.3. Bronchoalveolar Lavage of porcine lung	53
2.3.1 PCR amplification of 16SrRNA gene from BAL samples	53
2.4 Physiology of porcine lung tissue	55
2.4.1 BAL Cytospin	55
2.4.2 Fixing of tissue in wax	56
2.4.2.1 Hematoxylin and Eosin stain	58
2.4.2.2 Giemsa stain	59
2.4.3 Image analysis	60
2.5 Inoculation of porcine lung tissue with Pseudomonas aeruginosa	62
2.5.1 Understanding of optimal dilution factors of homogenised	tissue 62
2.5.2 Generation of bacterial growth curve on tissue	63
2.6 Genetic sequencing of BAL microbial content	64
2.6.1 DNA extraction	64
2.7 Statistical Analysis	67
3. Results	68
3.1 Differentiation of healthy and damaged lungs	68

3.1.2 Optimisation of inducing <i>ex vivo</i> porcine lung tissue death	73
3.1.3 Detection of extant microbiota within BAL samples	74
3.2 Physiology	76
3.2.1 Cells present in BAL sample extracted from ex vivo porcine lung analysed via cytospin	76
3.2.2 Identification of structures in healthy BAL sample extracted from <i>ex vivo</i> porcine lung via Hematoxylin and eosin staining	78
3.2.3 Comparative method into identification of structures in healthy BAL sample extracted from <i>ex vivo</i> porcine lung via giemsa staining	80
3.2.4 Prevalence of <i>Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae</i> infection within the lungs acquired	82
3.2.5 Proliferation of bacteria on <i>ex vivo</i> porcine lung tissue	83
3.3 DNA extraction and sequencing of <i>ex vivo</i> porcine lung tissue	88
4 Discussion	90
	50
5. References	102

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

To all that helped I thank you! I certainly could not have done it without Sarah, you helped me through so much and your patience and kindness really was amazing! To Jake and Holly making those long lab hours seem worth it! To my Dad for reading through my thesis so many times despite not really knowing what on earth it was about! Thank you, Mum, for everything, even the nagging. Thank you to my godmother Stella, whom without I would not even be able to read let alone write an MRES! And finally, a thanks to my supervisor Joe.

ABBREVIATIONS

16S ribosomal RNA (or 16S rRNA)

А Abbreviated Injury Scale (AIS) Acinetobacter baumanii (A. baumannii) Acquired immune deficiency syndrome (AIDS) Acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS) Airway surface liquid (ASL) Antigen-presenting cells (APC's) Antimicrobial resistance (AMR) Arginine vasopressin (AVP) С C-reactive protein (CRP) Centres for Disease Control (CDC) Centres of Disease Control and Prevention (CDCP) Central line associated bloodstream infections (CLABSI) Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD) Clinical Pulmonary Infection Score (CPIS) Clostridium difficile (C. difficile) Clumping factor A (clfA) Clumping factor B (ClfB) Community acquired infection (CAI) Computed tomography (CT) Control library (PhiX) Cranioventral pulmonary consolidation (CVPC) Cystic fibrosis (CF) D

Disability-Adjusted Life Years (DALY's)

Е Escherichia coli (E. coli) Endotracheal tube (ETT) Extracellular polymeric substance (EPS) G Gut associated lymphoid tissue (GALT) Н Haematoxylin and Eosin (H&E) Haemophilus influenzae (H. influenza) Healthcare-associated infections (HCAIs) Human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) Hospital-acquired pneumonia (HAP) Hybridization buffer (HT1) L Intensive care units (ICUs) Interferon gamma (IFN-γ) Interleukin (IL) Injury Severity Score (ISS) К Klebsiella pneumoniae (K. pneumoniae) L Lipopolysaccharide (LPS) Lower respiratory tract (LRT) Μ Major heart surgery (MHS) Methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA) Microbial surface components recognizing adhesive matrix molecules (MSCRAMM)

Multidrug resistance (MRD)

Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae (M. hyopneumoniae)

Ν National Health Service (NHS) Next-generation sequencing (NGS) National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) Neonatal intensive care unit (NICU) Noninvasive ventilation (NV) Ο Operational taxonomic units (OTUs) Ρ Pattern Recognition receptors (PRR) Pathogenicity islands (PAIs) Pediatric intensive care unit (PICU) Phosphate-Buffered Saline (PBS) Polymerase chain reaction (PCR) Pseudomonas aeruginosa (P. aeruginosa) Q Quantitative polymerase chain reaction (qPCR) Quorum sensing (QS) R Raoultella ornithinolytica (R. ornithinolytica) S Serratia marcescens (S. marcescens) Surfactant proteins (SP) Staphylococcus aureus (S. aureus) Stenotrophomonas maltophilia (S. maltophilia) *Streptococcus pneumoniae* (*S. pneumoniae*) Т Regulatory T-cells (T-regs) Toll like receptors (TLR)

Tumour necrosis factor-alpha (TNFα)

U Ultraviolet Light (UV)

Urinary tract infections (UTIs)

V

Ventilator-associated pneumonia (VAP)

Ventilator-associated tracheobronchitis (VAT)

W

World Health Organisation (WHO)

	List of Figures	Pg.
	Figure 1.1 Different classes of antibiotics segregated by their mechanisms. (Source:	22
	Kapoor, Saigal, & Elongavan, 2017)	
	Figure 1.2 Various antimicrobial mechanisms deployed by bacteria (Source: Venter,	23
	2019).	
	Figure 1.3: A comparison of the isolated pathogens in late and early onset VAP. The	27
	results demonstrate that in both the late and early onset cases of VAP <i>P. aeruginosa</i> was	
	the primary shared isolate, of 33%, followed by <i>E. coli</i> , 25.42%, then <i>A. baumannii</i> ,	
	13.56% (Source adapted from: Golia, Sangeetha, & Vasudha, 2013).	
	Figure 1.4: The bronchial lumen is positioned in the left main bronchus allowing	29
	ventilation of the left lung and the tracheal lumen is positioned above the carina.	
	facilitating ventilation of the right lung (Source: Lordan, Gascoigne, & Corris, 2003).	
	<i>Figure 1.5:</i> Comparative diagram of the different microbiomes of the lungs and the gut.	42
	demonstrated at a phylum level (Source: Huffnagle, Dickson, & Lukacs, 2016).	
	<i>Figure 1.6</i> : Hierarchy diagram to demonstrate the research pathways in VAP. From the	47
	top VAP is the confirmed clinical diagnosis. From this the diagram branches off to the	
	pathogenic organism causing VAP (the microbe) which can be a variety of organisms.	
	Figure 2.1: Plate layout to measure viability of ex vivo porcine lung tissue in various	51
	conditions. In row A is where the heat killed tissue pieces are placed, row B is cold killed.	
	row C is live tissue segments placed in ASM and in row D is live tissue segments in LB.	
	<i>Figure 2.2:</i> Screenshot of Fuzzy select tool within the software GIMP of the BAL cytospin	55
	Giemsa-stained slide. The right identifies the histogram and pixel count. The areas of	
	colour are defined by the black dashed lines.	
	<i>Figure 2.3</i> : On the left-hand side demonstrates the fuzzy tool selecting the diseased area	60
	of lung by the colouration. The image below demonstrates the selected area by removing	
	the background. On the right is the fuzzy tool selection of the whole lung whilst below it	
	is demonstrated in black and white.	
	<i>Figure 2.4:</i> The 24 well plate plan identifying each of the four treatment conditions for	62
	the lung tissue alongside the negative control in column 6. Row 1 refers to time point 1-	-
	removal after 1hr, row 2 removal after 3 hr, row 3 removal after 6hr, row 4 removal after	
	18hr and row 5 removal after 24hr.	
	<i>Figure 3.1</i> : An image of the anterior face of the lungs with the labelling of the larvnx.	68
	trachea, and apical lobes. The overall analysis of the lung is that this is a healthy	
	specimen and shows little to no damage on the lobes or respiratory tract. There is no	
	evidence of discolouration or drying out of the lobes.	
	<i>Figure 3.2:</i> A further dissection of the right lobe of the above lung in figure 9 to	69
	demonstrate the health of the tissue continued sub-dermally. There is no sign of	
	discolouration or tissue damage.	
	<i>Figure 3.3:</i> Image of the posterior face of the lungs with the main bronchus, heart,	70
	pleura, and diaphragmatic lobe labelled. Again, the overall analysis of this lung is healthy	
	and used as the standard in all experiments within this study.	
	Figure 3.4: An image of what a lung which would be considered 'damaged lung' within	71
	this study. It is missing the right lobe and has a deep laceration (circled) within the left	
	lobe. Despite the damage the remaining lobe is visually healthy due to the colouration	
ļ	and moisture retention.	
ļ	Figure 3.5: Metabolic activity of excised ex vivo porcine lung tissue measured by	72
ļ	fluorescence of Resazurin read at wavelengths Ex/Em 560/590nm to evaluate methods of	
ļ	killing the tissue.	
ļ	<i>Figure 3.6:</i> Detection of extant microbiota in pig lung. The 25bp Hyperladder in wells 1	74
	and 20, a blank in well 2 and 11. The samples in wells 3-10 have had the V1V2 primers of	
11		

the 16S rRNA gene and the samples in wells 12-19 have had V2V3. In wells 3 and 4 is the	
BAL sample from lung 1, wells 5 and 6 the BAL samples from Lung 2. In well 7 is the	
alveolar Tissue sample 2. In well 8 is the positive control of S. aureus bacterium and well	
9 is the sterile PBS as a negative control. In well 10 is the Tissue sample 1. In wells 12 and	
13 are BAL sample from lung 1, wells 14 and 15 the BAL samples from Lung 2. In wells 16	
and 17 are the tissue samples from lung 1 and 2. In well 18 is the positive control of S.	
aureus bacterium and well 19 is the sterile PBS as a negative control.	
<i>Figure 3.7</i> : Detection of host's cells within BAL sample of sus scrofa. Cytospin samples of	76
BALS were stained using Giesma stain and the percentage staining calculated using GIMP	
(version 2 10 14) nackage	
\mathbf{A} - This representative BAL sample was taken at the objective power of $4X/0.1$ and total	
nercentage stain colouration calculated as 15%. The colouring would indicate the stained	
cells are most likely nuclei of host cell or white blood cells, such as marginated	
cells are most likely fucier of host cell of white blood cells, such as marginated	
\mathbf{P} Ciamca staining of PAL autospin with the objective newer of $4Y/0.1$. The total stain	
B - Gleinsa staining of BAL cytospill with the objective power of 4A/0.1. The total stain	
percentage was calculated to be 47%. The yellow circles nightight areas where there may	
be a build-up of multiple layers of cells, so the colour is darker and individual feature are	
unidentifiable. The primary feature appears to be commonly found within the cytoplasm	
of porcine lungs.	
C - Giemsa stain of extracted BAL sample after cytospin at the objective power of 4X/0.1.	
Calculated stained percentage of slide was 15%. However, the large clusters and darker	
colours indicate a lack of separation when spun and may be a disproportionate	
representation of the cells within the BAL sample. Since there is a mass of overlaying	
colours it is difficult to distinguish individual features.	
<i>Figure 3.8</i> : Hematoxylin and Eosin stains of excised <i>ex vivo</i> porcine lung tissue to identify	78
the components within the tissue in a heathy state.	
A - Clear section that demonstrates the healthy structures found within the porcine <i>ex</i>	
vivo lung tissue such as the Bronchioles (Br); Blood vessels (Bv) and Air sacs at an	
objective magnification power of 100X/0.1 with a light microscope.	
B -Tissue section at an objective magnification power of 100X/0.1 with a light	
microscope. The majority is made up of extracellular matrix (circled)and nuclei (N).	
C -Tissue section of the pleura (PI) at an objective magnification power of 100X/0.1 with a	
light microscope.	
Figure 3.9: Sections of Lung tissue take from ex vivo porcine lung tissue and stained with	80
Giemsa and were examined by light microscopy at various objective powers.	
A - Objective power of 4X/0.1. The circled area highlights the air sacs, stained blue, which	
are intact and demonstrate lung health since there is no indication of damage or a	
desegregation of the sacs. Thus, demonstrating that the sectioning technique does not	
damage the structural integrity of the tissue.	
B - Objective power of $4X/0.1$ primarily showing the surrounding cytoplasm (pink) more	
so than the air sacs.	
\mathbf{C} - Objective power of 10X/0.25 mainly identifying eosinophils (circled)were present	
within the air sac of the alveolar. However, there is clearly wax still present on the slide	
making it difficult to clearly distinguish the stained features within the tissue	
Figure 3.10: Image of the gross anatomy of ex vivo porcine lungs. Discolouration of lung	82
tissue believed to be caused by <i>M</i> by onneumoniae is indicated with the circles. These	02
lungs were discarded and not included within the analyses	
Figure 3.11: An un-close assessment of ex vivo porcine lungs from the abattoir. The area	83
was located within the dianhragmatic lobe and has spread slightly into the anical lobes	00
The area is overall yory small and takes up a marginal portion of the lung tissue	
i ne area is overall very sinall and takes up a marginal polition of the fully tissue.	

	Figure 3.12: Comparative growth curve of heat killed ex vivo porcine lung tissue and heat	85
	killed ex vivo tissue inoculated with the clinical VAP isolate (Heat killed + VAP) with an	
	inoculum 0D of 0.2 and CFU/ml of 1x106. The bacterial growth was measured at the set	
	time points and recorded indicating there is more growth on the inoculated killed tissue	
	than that of the killed tissue alone.	
	Figure 3.13: Growth curve generated via CFU/ml over time for live tissue and live tissue	86
	inoculated with the VAP clinical isolate at an 0D of 0.2 and CFU/ml of 1x10 ⁶ (Live + VAP).	
	The bacterial growth was measured at the set time points and recorded indicating there	
	is more growth on the inoculated live tissue than that of the live tissue alone.	
	Figure 3.14: The abundance of bacterial genus's present in pooled homogenised ex vivo	88
	porcine lung BAL samples sequenced via Illumina technologies. BAL-R refers to the	
	pooled samples from the right lobe. BAL-L refers to the pooled samples from the left	
	lobes of the six lungs that underwent the BAL process.	
	List of Tables	Pg.
	Table 1.1: Denoted risk factors for development of VAP and risk specific justifications.	16
	Table 1.1: Primary source and action of the elevated cytokines identified in cases of VAP.	37
	(Source: Zhang, & An, 2007).	
	Table 2.1: List of all 20 naturally occurring amino acids with Tryptophan highlighted with	49
	reference to the ASM protocol (Source: Sigma-Aldric, 2019).	
	Table 2.2: PCR settings used to amplify BAL sample DNA.	53
	Table 2.3: Specific sequences of both sets of primer used including the Illumina	53
	sequencing overhang.	
	Table 2.4: Giemsa Satin Stages of which the BAL samples post cytospin were stained in	54
	the Lecia Autostainer (Lecia Biosystems).	
	Table 2.5: Cycle stages the tissue was subjected to in the Lecia TP1020 Tissue Processor.	56
	Table 2.6: Protocol steps used in the Lecia Autostainer on the three sections of ex vivo	58
	porcine lung tissue.	
	Table 2.7: Protocol steps used in the Lecia Autostainer on the sections of ex vivo porcine	59
	lung tissue for a Giemsa stain.	
	Table 2.8: PCR conditions for second PCR following the bead clean up.	65
Ī	Table 3.1: Data collated to present the total potentially infected lesions from M.	83
I	hyopneumoniae, on the ex vivo porcine lungs received of the course of the experiment.	

ABSTRACT

VAP is described as a pneumonic lung infection afflicting those that have been mechanically ventilated typically with an endotracheal tube. Unfortunately, there is no singular diagnostic test for VAP (Grossman & Fein, 2000) or 'gold standard' for the identification and diagnosis of the disease (American Thoracic Society; Infectious diseases Society of America, 2005). Since working with patients within hospitals is unpractical for research for several reasons, a developmental *ex vivo* porcine lung model has been theorised. The benefits of this model include immune similarities to humans and the availability of the tissue since it is normally food waste from an abattoir (Harrison, Muruli, Higgins, & Diggle, 2014). Using this model, the primary aims of this study were; to optimise the killing methodology of excised porcine lung tissue which acts as a control comparison to viable tissue highlighting the hots-microbe interactions, to establish a routine method of taking a BAL sample from the porcine lungs to therefore identify the normal microbial constituents within the porcine lungs, to establish the cell structures communally present within the lung tissue in health and to develop a time scale of the growth of a VAP clinical isolate on inoculated *ex vivo* porcine lung tissue. The results indicated that cold killing was the optimal method to kill porcine lung tissue whilst also maintaining cellular structural integrity to later investigate histological structures. A basic BAL sampling method was developed which allows for future developments, however, several different bacterial species within the lungs were identified. The inoculated ex vivo porcine lung tissue CFU growth curve demonstrated that the live inoculated tissue had a larger CFU than the dead inoculated tissue, suggesting that the method of killing was successful in 'knocking out' the host biome. In conclusion the ex vivo porcine lung model was further developed from previous studies and results indicated that it is a practical method of exploring the hoist microbe interactions in cases of VAP.

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 - Epidemiology of ventilator-associated pneumonia

Conflict between both healthcare workers and hospital infections occurs on a frequent basis. Yet, despite many interventions in infection prevention, between 20-50% of patients in intensive care units (ICUs) acquire a nosocomial infection (Van Der Kooi *et al.*, 2007). These statistics can be between two to five times higher than that of the general hospital population (Dasgupta, Das, Neeraj, & Hazara, 2015). Variability between incidence rates is believed to be heavily influenced by the prior condition of the patient (American Thoracic Society, Infectious Diseases Society of America 2005). Recently, this has been attributed to the impaired functionality of the patients' immune system prior to the development of healthcareassociated infections (HCAIs) (Hunter, 2012).

Commonly diagnosed HCAIs that ICU patients are at risk of contracting can come via various routes of infection. These include Central-Line Associated Bloodstream Infections (CLABSI), Ventilator-associated Pneumonia (VAP); Catheter-associated Urinary Tract Infections (CAUTI), and surgical site infections (SSI) (CDCP, 2014a). The damage posed by HCAIs is not only to the patient by causing significant morbidity, but also staff and visitors who circulate the busy wards which can result in community-based infections (National Institute for Healthcare and Excellence [NICE], 2011; NHS, 2017). An example of how this disperses is through healthcare staff who, as part of their duties, do home visits and are regularly in contact with those with impaired immune systems or with prolonged comorbidities. The risk of HCAIs is also influenced by environmental factors such as the layout of the ward, for example: bed spacing; contaminated air conditioning systems, which circulate potential pathogens; and poor cleaning practise (Al-Tawfiq & Tambyah, 2014). The size of hospital can also a factor, whereby in one investigation, the incidence of VAP was inversely correlated to the size of hospital (Lee, Walker, Chen, Sexton, & Anderson, 2013).

Over 80% of all HCAIs can be attributed to only six types of infection, with pneumonia/respiratory infections accounting for the largest percentile of 22% (NICE, 2016). This is then followed by urinary tract infections (UTIs) with 17.2%, then surgical site infections with 15.7%, clinical sepsis with 10.5%, gastrointestinal infections with 8.8%, and finally bloodstream infections with 7.3% (NICE, 2016). Amongst the 22% of patients suffering from

pneumonia, VAP is defined as a pneumonic lung infection that occurs in patients of whom have been on mechanical ventilation (MV) (Michetti et al., 2012) for 48 hours or more and which was not present before hospital admission (Wagh, & Achayra, 2009). It is a common infection resulting in a prolonged hospital stay (Centres of Disease Control and Prevention ((CDCP)), 2003). Average length of MV is around 6.1 days (Klompas, Kleinman, & Karcz, 2012), and has between a 15-45% contributory mortality rate (Bouza, Granda, Hortal, Barrio, Cercenado, & Muñoz, 2013). This rate may rise to be greater than 70% in cases where the infection is caused by multi-drug resistant (MDR) and/or invasive pathogens (American Thoracic Society, Infectious Diseases Society of America, 2005). As defined by the centre of disease control (CDC), an MDR pathogen is an isolate that is resistant to at least one antibiotic in three or more drug classes (Siegel, Rhinehart, Jackson, & Chiarello, 2006). Of greater concern, there are increasing numbers of MDR-pathogens that have developed resistance against carbapenem antibiotics; broad-spectrum antibiotics which are widely deemed as the 'last line of defence' against Gram-negative bacteria (Bryan, 2014). A patient's calculation of risk of VAP includes both modifiable and non-modifiable factors. Non-modifiable factors include sex, age, and pre-existing conditions. Examples include pulmonary diseases such as Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD) and cystic fibrosis (CF), and those that directly compromise the immune system such as HIV/AIDS. In contrast, modifiable factors include the treatment and care the patient receives (Weinstein et al., 2004). Despite the multitude of factors that influence the patient's risk of VAP, the main links to patient mortality are preexisting conditions/comorbidities, the pathogen inducing the infection, and the efficacy of the initial antimicrobial treatment given (Iregui, Ward, Sherman, Fraser, & Kollef, 2002).

There are a wide range of patients susceptible to VAP infection. Those receiving transplants are within the group of patients at risk of VAP. The most frequent complication following lung transplant surgery is VAP, often contributing to the overall high mortality rates (Fishman, 2007). Cases of infection can be heightened by improper lymphatic drainage, airway clearance negatively impacted by nerve damage during transplantation and the graft contact with the environment (Riera, Caralt, López, Roman, Gavalda, & Rello, 2015). A similar situation is found within burn patients, whereby 42-65% of mortalities are attributed to infection (Lachiewicz, Hauck, Weber, Cairns, & van Duin, 2017), with VAP causing the most substantial complications (Younan, Griffin, Zaky, Pittet, & Camins, 2018). Following a

comparative study of VAP in burn patients and those ventilated due to a brain injury, it has been reported that the cases of resistance were far lower in brain injured patients than in burn victims (Roquilly *et al.*, 2016). These results could be explained by a depletion in local epidermal microbial ecology and the severity of the injuries (Rello, Sa-Borges, Correa, Leal, & Baraibar, 1999).

Another susceptible group are those who have recently undergone major heart surgery (MHS). Data suggests that respiratory infections contribute to 57% of all infections following MHS (Bouza, Hortal, Muñoz, Pascau, Pérez, Hiesmayr, 2006). An extensive meta-analysis highlighted the risk of respiratory infections in a far larger cohort and concluded that those who needed mechanical ventilation post MHS had an average VAP incidence of 35% (He *et al.*, 2014). Of those who develop VAP, attributed mortality rates are between 15-45% (Bercault & Boulain, 2001). The type of surgery MHS subgroups receive also influences the incidence of VAP, with those receiving multiple surgeries most at risk (Hortal *et al.*, 2009). Within this group unfortunately, many of the risk factors are not acquiescent for improvement, leaving this population at an extremely high risk of VAP. This further highlights the need for effective pre-emptive procedures to be in place as denoted by the American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine (2005).

Patients also at a particularly high risk of developing VAP are trauma patients who have sustained thoracic injuries. The trauma sustained can lead to reduced levels of consciousness, and therefore patient care recommends immediate mechanical ventilation (Cavalcanti *et al.*, 2006). Issues can arise, as patients who have undergone pre-hospitalisation intubation, with an initial failure, has been recorded to have a greater than three times chance of developing VAP than those who had a successful initial intubation (Mangram *et al.*, 2006). In addition, the placement of the endotracheal tube (ETT) can cause varying levels of tracheal epithelial damage (Divatia, & Bhowmick, 2005). This will be elaborated on later in the publication.

When comparing the rates of VAP in critical-care units of several hospitals, one study suggested that the incidence of VAP was around four-fold higher in trauma patients than in ventilated non-trauma patients (Cook, Norwood, & Berne, 2010). Trauma patients are those who have suffered grave and life-threatening injuries which can be evaluated using the Injury Severity Score (ISS) being the oldest and best-known, consequent from Abbreviated Injury

Scale (AIS) data (Palmer, Gabbe, & Cameron, 2016). There are also increased levels of risk to developing VAP even within the type of trauma the patient has received, for example, higher levels of VAP are associated with severe head and neck trauma (Cavalcanti, Ferrer, Ferrer, Morforte, Garnacho, & Torres, 2006).

Within paediatric ICUs (PICUs), treatment of VAP amounts to over half of the total antibiotics used on the ward (Foglia, Meier, & Elward, 2007). Overall, VAP is the second most common infection acquired in PICUs and neonatal intensive care units (NICUs), with it affecting 3-10% of ventilated children (Almuneef, Memish, Balkhy, Alalem, & Abutaleb, 2004). Of the infected, the mortality rate attributed to VAP is approximately just over 10% (Ismail, Darbyshire, & Thorburn, 2012). Whilst this research does not focus on paediatric patients nor does the majority include data sets from minors (under 18), it is a group worth mentioning even if only briefly.

In summary of those who are at great risk of acquiring VAP as discussed in this chapter can be seen in Table 1 below.

Risk groups:	Explanation:
ICU patients	Weakened immune status due to previous
Trauma patients	injury creating an increased risk of
	infection
Mechanical ventilation	Thoracic injuries/brain injuries
Those receiving at home care	A vulnerable group of often immune
	compromised/weakened individuals who
	are exposed by health care workers to
	HAIs
Post-surgery patients	Open wounds are ideal for opportunistic
Post-Transplant patients	pathogens.
	Often on immune suppression drugs.
	Translocation of microbes which become
	pathogenic in new location post-surgery.
	The body is often in a weakened state
	after undergoing surgery creating a higher
	risk of infection.
Mechanical ventilation	

Table 1.1: Denoted risk factors for development of VAP and risk specific justifications.

Burn victims	Loss of normal protective endothelium barriers and lower immune function due to trauma. Often must be ventilated if tracheal injuries are sustained. Insertion of tube can also damage epithelium and lead to excessive fluid build-up around the cuff.
Non-modifiable factors	Age, sex, pre-existing medical conditions, and genetics.

Whilst it is important to discuss the groups which are commonly affected by VAP, it is also of note that that there are many exclusion categories for when researching VAP. This includes high severity patients at elevated risks of morbidity, or due to a lack of sufficient clinical or microbiological data able to be collected (Zakharkina *et al.*, 2017; Rello, & Diaz, 2003). Alongside this, children under the age of 18, inpatients to a care practise other than acute care hospitals, and patients on high frequency ventilation are also frequently excluded (Magill, 2012).

Overall, there are multiple groups of patients at risk of VAP. Much of the data suggests that those within ICU wards have the greatest risk of developing VAP, and within that category, trauma patients have the highest mortalities. This suggests that prior comorbidities are a significant influence on the development and severity of VAP.

Frequent causative pathogens of VAP comprise of gram-negative bacteria such as *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* (*P. aeruginosa*), *Escherichia coli* (*E. coli*), *Klebsiella pneumoniae* (*K. pneumoniae*), and *Acinetobacter* species, and gram-positive bacteria such as *Staphylococcus aureus* ((*S. aureus*) (Kollef, Shorr, Tabak, Gupta, Liu, & Johannes, 2005). Since the causative agent and MDR status varies between hospitals, regions, and countries, it is important for mass microbial surveillance data to be reported (Chi et al., 2012). This will be expanded further within this report.

1.2 - Diagnosis of VAP

Unfortunately, there are no clinical symptoms that can be singularly used in the diagnosis of VAP (Rea-Neto *et al.*, 2008). The Clinical Pulmonary Infection Score (CPIS) uses a combination

of diagnostic tools including: temperature; white blood cell count; tracheal secretions; oxygenation PaO₂/FiO₂ mm hg to calculate respiratory efficiency with low levels often indicating pathophysiological states; pulmonary radiography and culture of tracheal aspirate specimen (Singh, Rogers, Atwood, Wagener, & Yu, 2000). Each category has a score from 0-2, and patients are deemed to have VAP when the CPIS exceeds 7 points or more (Singh, Rogers, Atwood, Wagener, & Yu, 2000). Diagnosis, however, with this criterion is still problematic due to the parameters measured often already being raised due to prior injury and/or other sources of non-VAP related inflammation (Kalil *et al.*, 2016).

In recent years, there have been many alterations in the diagnosis of VAP, as previous methods were deemed to be subjective and inconsistent. Therefore, there is a great deal of variance in classification within the literature on the topic. The previous guidelines outlined by the CDC indicate that a patient that has been ventilated for 48 hrs or more can be diagnosed with VAP when there is evidence of new/progressive pulmonary infiltrates via the chest radiograph, alongside two or more of the subsequent criteria: fever >38.5 °C or hypothermia <36 °C, minimum leukocytosis of 12×10^9 /L, purulent tracheobronchial secretions or a reduced PaO₂/FiO₂ of 15% or more, confirmed commonly by the isolation of one or more species of pathogenic bacteria (Tablan, Anderson, Besser, Bridges, & Hajjeh, 2004). However, with reference to the new CDC guidelines, VAP can only be diagnosed three days post-mechanical ventilation, and two days before/after the decrease in oxygenation alongside positively screen respiratory cultures (CDCP, 2014b). There are also further VAP definitions; early-onset VAP, considered to develop within 48hrs, and late-onset, developing at any time beyond that (Wagh, & Achayra, 2009).

Whilst diagnosing VAP quickly is crucial to avoid delay in the necessary treatment measures (Iregui, Ward, Sherman, Fraser, & Kollef, 2002), a rushed or incorrect diagnosis also can lead to further complications, such as inappropriate and unnecessary treatments (Deeks, 2001; Dellinger *et al.*, 2008). When diagnosing VAP it is also important to be aware of ventilator-associated tracheobronchitis (VAT), deemed to be the intermediate stage between the colonization of the lower respiratory tract (LRT) and VAP (Piazza, & Wang, 2014). This is often associated with an increased production of infected sputum (Piazza, & Wang, 2014). Through histological data, it has been identified that VAT is a continuum to VAP (Nseir & Martin-Loeches, 2014). Key symptoms of VAP are also common in numerous other conditions, thus

resulting in more problematic diagnosis (Wiener-Kronish, 2009). Diseases that have similar clinical symptoms include acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS), pulmonary oedema, pulmonary contusion, tracheobronchitis, and thromboembolic disease (Gunasekera, & Gratrix, 2016).

Diagnosis of VAP tends to be based on multiple criteria, one of which is a culture-based method (Ullberg, Luthie, Molling, Stralin, & Ozenci, 2017). Quantitative cultures of bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) or tracheal aspirates with thresholds of more than 10³ or 10⁴ colony-forming units (CFUs) can microbiologically meet the criteria of a VAP diagnosis (Willson, Conaway, Kelly, & Hendley, 2014). This is a time-consuming process, in some cases taking several days to culture certain species of bacteria (Bahrani-Mougeot *et al.*, 2007). By the time colonies are present, the flora within the patient may have changed. It may also not identify any anaerobic organisms if the culture is exposed to oxygen (Bahrani-Mougeot *et al.*, 2007). Under conditions where there are limited resources; bacteria will alter motility and surface factors expressed in a trade off with growth rates to survive in niche environments often in competition with other bacterium, potentially causing bacterial populations to diminish (Gude *et al.*, 2020).

A BAL can be defined as a process designed to isolate the cells that are non-adhesive, in addition to the fluid lining the lungs' mucus for sampling. BAL samples within healthcare are commonly used for diagnostic and therapeutic reasons, whilst within research it is often to yield cells for *ex vivo* culture (Collins *et al.*, 2014). In research, it allows for the identification of macrophages, B- and T- lymphocytes, and immunoglobulins which are active within the lungs (Fullerton *et al.*, 2009). To reap the greatest benefit from samples, a minimum of 200mL of collection fluid is suggested alongside manual suction methods to reduce cellular damage (Collins *et al.*, 2014). Whilst BALs are an important tool to collect data from the lungs, there are also disadvantages to this technique. As aforementioned, it can damage the lung epithelium leading to latter complications. The sensitivity and specificity of this method is also reported to have varying degrees of success. This will be expanded upon later within this report.

An alternative method of diagnosis is the chest radiograph, but this itself comes with its own difficulties acquiring both sensitivity and specificity (Koenig & Truwit, 2006). Regarding

specificity, as previously noted, there are several similar pulmonary diseases to VAP, thus, the radiographic specificity is on average under 35% (Lefcoe, Fox, Leasa, Sparrow, & McCormack, 1994). Another difficulty of note is that there are differences between the results from X-rays and computed tomography (CT) scans, as just under 30% of opacities are detected by CT scans but not via chest X-ray (Butler *et al.*, 1999). Since there are no specific radiological measures for VAP, chest radiographs are left to subjectivity, leading to a lack of sensitivity and reliability (Klompas, 2007). There are, however, integral advantages of non-bronchoscopic techniques; as they are less invasive, less likely to compromise the patients access to oxygen, unlikely to increase intracranial pressure or induce arrhythmias, and do not pose a risk of contamination of the bronchoscopic channel (Koenig, & Truwit, 2006).

1.3 - Treatment and Prevention strategies

1.3.1 - Cost

In the UK, the treatment of VAP costs around £10,000-£20,000 per patient (NHS, 2016). This is similar to hospital costs in both the United States and Europe, thus indicative of a potentially global issue (Safdar, Dezfulian, Collard, & Saint, 2005; Wyncoll, & Camorota, 2012). In a survey comparing the cost of treatment of patients with VAP recovering from MHS to those without VAP, the VAP positive cases cost an extra £8829 (Luckraz *et al.*, 2017). In addition, the World Health Organisation (WHO) (2016) approximated LRT infections to have been the cause of 3 million deaths worldwide and, by their estimations, in 2020, the figure will have risen to be closer to 4 million. This highlights the need for more effective prevention strategies and treatment plans to be implemented.

1.3.2 - Antibiotics

There is limited data surveying the impact of anticipatory treatments with broad spectrum antibiotics as a preventative measure to VAP (Bouza, *et al.*, 2013). There are arguments for both the delay and immediate use of antimicrobial therapy in the combat of VAP, a delay can be associated with treatment failure and mortality, conversely, excessive, or incorrect use of treatment often promotes multidrug resistance leading (MDR) to global complications in future treatments and resistance to treatments within the patient (Riera *et al.*, 2015). Evidence supporting broad spectrum treatment can be observed in the comparison between patients receiving inadequate antibiotics, found to have a longer hospital stay by 15 days, than those receiving adequate antibiotic treatments (Piskin *et al.*, 2012).

The most common pre-emptive antibiotic therapies for VAP include initially vancomycin for methicillin-resistant S. aureus (MRSA) alongside either ciprofloxacin, imipenem, cefepime or pipercillin-tazobactam for *P. aeruginosa*. The choice of combination subject to the prescribing physician and will be based on numerous factors such as patient antibiotic history and antimicrobial resistance (AMR) within the hospital (Iregui et al., 2002). There is also worrying evidence of further resistance in MRSA isolates as in a study involving 550 patients, over 50% were resistant to clindamycin, erythromycin, ciprofloxacin, trimethoprimsulfamethoxazole, tetracycline, and gentamicin, whilst only being susceptible to rifampicin, chloramphenicol, and vancomycin (Rocha, Ribas, Darini, & Filho, 2013). Prescription errors may be avoided by new rapid nucleic acid amplification protocols which identify resistance genes; however, this does not provide information on the phenotypic antimicrobial susceptibility and cannot distinguish if the pathogen sequenced is dead or alive (Timsit, Esaied, Neuville, Bouadma, & Mourvllier, 2017).

Further complications arise as patients may not respond well to certain antibiotics. Whilst it is still very much a grey area as to why, it may potentially be due to the ineffectiveness of most common therapies such as β -lactams, aminoglycosides, and vancomycin at penetrating the lung tissue to target the pathogenic bacteria (American Thoracic Society, Infectious Diseases Society of America, 2005). These antibiotics target the synthesis of the peptidoglycan layer of the cell wall surrounding in various ways (Majiduddin, Materon, Palzkill, 2002) but there are several other types of antibiotic classes which have different target mechanisms as described in Figure 1.1.



Figure 2.1: Different classes of antibiotics segregated by their mechanisms (Source: Kapoor, Saigal, & Elongavan, 2017).

β-lactams and glycopeptides inhibit cell wall synthesis by disrupting the peptidoglycan layer leading to the lysis of the bacterium (Džidić, Šušković, & Kos, 2008). Glycopeptides bind to D-alanyl D-alanine portion of peptide side chain of the precursor peptidoglycan subunit thus inhibiting cell wall synthesis (Džidić, Šušković, & Kos, 2008). There are also inhibitors of protein biosynthesis which target the 30S or 50S subunit of the bacterial ribosome (Johnston, Mukhtar, & Wright, 2002), for example Oxazolidinones, Macrolides and Chloramphenicol all target the 50s subunit. Aminoglycosides main target of action is the bacterial ribosome which requires oxygen, meaning they are most effective in aerobic conditions and have poor activity against anaerobic bacteria whilst Tetracyclines act upon the conserved sequences of the 16S r-RNA of the 30S ribosomal subunit to prevent binding (Yoneyama & Katsumata, 2006). Some inhibit DNA replication such as Quinilones whilst others inhibit the folic acid metabolism such as Sulfonamides and Trimethoprim, each inhibiting distinct steps in the folic acid metabolism pathway (Yoneyama & Katsumata, 2006).

On average it has been reported that for a third of those on intravenous antibiotics the treatment will fail (Wood, 2016). The use of combination therapies is an alternative approach, achieved by combining different classes of antibiotics, this method has been proven to be significantly effective against MDR Gram-negative bacteria (Martínez *et al.*,

2010). Combination therapies that involve the use of fluoroquinolones have been shown to reduce the rates of relapse or reinfection of VAP characterised by *P. aeruginosa* or *Enterobacteriaceae* (Planquette *et al.*, 2013). However, the effectiveness of the fluoroquinolones against MDR Gram-negative bacteria appears to be inconsistent and highlights the risk of MDR bacteria in the lung microbiota (de Lastours *et al.*, 2014).

According to a recent list published by WHO the most antimicrobial-resistant include carbapenem-resistant *Acinetobacter baumannii* (*A. baumannii*), carbapenem-resistant *P. aeruginosa* and members of the family Enterobacteriaceae which are carbapenem-resistant and containing extended spectrum β -lactamases, all of which are Gram-negative pathogens (Willyard, 2017). Most organisms harbour multiple resistance mechanisms such as drug inactivation and drug modification to reduce efficiency to act on target (Arzanlou, Chai & Venter, 2017), there are several other antimicrobial resistance mechanisms which have been demonstrated in Figure 1.2



Figure 1.2: Various antimicrobial mechanisms deployed by bacteria (Source: Venter, 2019).

The blue boxes are the four main antimicrobial resistance mechanisms deployed by Gramnegative organisms, such as; (i) antibiotic inactivation, eg. via β -lactamase enzymes that hydrolyse the β -lactam ring thereby deactivating some antibiotics, (ii) target modification, resistance to fluoroquinolones is conferred via GyrA protein, (iii)active efflux, efflux pump removes antibiotic from within bacterial cell to a sub-toxic level, (iv) prevention of drug entry, often via mutation or loss or porins (Venter, 2019).

As mentioned, the highest risk of VAP acquisition is damage to the epithelium when the ETT is inserted. This is partially due to damaged tissue expressing higher quantities of the receptor asialoGM1 which bacteria can adhere to (Bucior, Mostov, & Engel, 2010). In addition to the physical trauma ETTs cause, they may also dampen the effectiveness of antibiotic ability, by impairing the physiological host defence mechanisms for clearance of pathogens whilst also providing a mechanism for the transportation of oropharynx microorganisms to the previously sterile tracheobronchial network (Barnes, Feit, Grant, & Brisbois, 2019), which may perhaps be a factor for why there is a high level of antibiotic resistant bacteria found to be the cause of VAP (Gil-Perotin et al., 2012). This offers another explanation as to why some classes of antibiotics impact the respiratory microbiome, while others appear to have little effect since the dampening effect will vary depending on the main target of the antibiotic. When not in a state of trauma the epithelium is normally resistant to *P. aeruginosa* infection, which explains the opportunistic capabilities of the bacterium when damage to the epithelium occurs (Galle, Carpentier, & Beyaert, 2012). Another risk due to the ETT is the capability for some bacteria to utilise this surface and form biofilms, thereby persisting in the tube, and providing a means for a pathogenic species to colonise the patient's lungs (Zur, Mandell, Gordon, Holzman, & Rothschild, 2004).

1.3.3 - Alternatives to antibiotics

More commonly non-invasive ventilation (NV) is increasingly utilised in VAP patients, with results reporting reduced mortality rates, intubation periods, further complications, and overall hospital duration (Lightowler, Wedzicha, Elliott, & Ram, 2003). Unfortunately, this form of treatment is not yet applicable to all respiratory diseases, however, there is ongoing research into its usage in patients with pneumonia and other types of hypercapnic failure (Shneerson, & Simonds, 2002). Alternatively, an effort to reduce the biofilm capabilities of the bacteria is to coat the endotracheal tube (ETT) with silver due to its broad-spectrum

antimicrobial activity and the reduce ability of bacteria *P. aeruginosa* to adhere to it (Ahearn *et al.*, 2000). This technique has been demonstrated to reduce the scale of colonization from *P. aeruginosa* (Olson, Harmon, & Kollef, 2002). However, when reviewing experiments deploying this strategy whilst VAP has been significantly delayed in onset, the disease still occurs (Kollef *et al.*, 2008). This finding is suggestive that the disease is not singularly caused by colonization of the ETT.

Other preventative measures including revolving the ETT and the efficient drainage of subglottic secretions produced, also reduce the incidence of VAP (Hunter, 2006). Contaminated fluids collecting above the cuff and gaining access to the LRT via a fold in the wall of the cuff is associated with incorrect positioning and pressure (Gunasekera, & Gratrix, 2016). Ensuring the cuff is functioning and not a potential risk to patients can be confirmed by repeated checks of the cuff pressure for it to be between a minimum of 25cm and a maximum of 30cm of water and to also prevent tracheal injury (Ricart, Lorente, Diaz, Kollef, & Rello, 2003). To reduce biofilm formation there have been attempts to modify the ETT via coating in silver or other nanoparticles, results have been suggested to show a decrease in incidence in VAP (Garland, 2010). Despite this, biofilms remain and pose a serious risk to patient health indicating the need for new effective preventive and therapeutic anti-biofilm developments (Hazan *et al.*, 2006).

The reduction of the patient's ability to clear the accumulation of tracheobronchial secretions through coughing due to the ETT, elevates the risk of colonization and therefore pneumonia (Kollef, 2004). There is also a risk of contamination if healthcare staff try to remove the fluid (Williams, Dehnbostel, & Blackwell, 2010). Many investigations into these reservoirs of secretory fluids have identified that the cuff on the ETT may lead to microaspirations of the fluid causing tracheobronchial colonization resulting in VAP (Smulders, van den Hoeven, Weers-Pothoff, & Vandenbroucke-Grauls, 2002; Dezfulian *et al.*, 2005).

The incidence of VAP has also been linked to the development of bacterial colonies within the oral cavity, especially the accumulation of pathogenic bacteria on the teeth, and subsequent plaque build-up (Rello *et al*, 2002; Schleder, 2003). Therefore, there have been many studies investigating the effect of more rigorous oral hygiene techniques, many of which indicate a reduction in VAP cases within ICU facilities (Coffin *et al*, 2008). Within a cohort of 90 patients

who were ventilated, the test group were subjected to a rigorous oral hygiene procedure including washing with an antiseptic solution of 1.5% hydrogen peroxide whilst the control group had the traditional rinse with 0.2% solution of chlorhexidine gluconate (Lev, Aied & Arshed, 2015). The results indicated that the control group had four times as many cases of VAP recorded than the study group, meanwhile the mean ventilation and days in hospital were lower in the study group than the control (Lev, Aied & Arshed, 2015). Similar studies also support these findings, as they also report further reductions in duration of ventilation, hospital stay and mortality with more rigorous oral hygiene procedures (Garcia *et al*, 2009).

Alongside the preventative measures relating to the host include that the mouth of the patient is cleaned repeatedly; that equipment such as the ventilator tubing is clean and replaced between patients and that the head of the patient's bed raised to a 30-to-45-degree angle, medical conditions permitting (Centres for Disease Control and Prevention, National Centre for Emerging and Zoonotic Infectious Diseases (NCEZID), Division of Healthcare Quality Promotion (DHQP), 2019).

There are no vaccinations specifically for VAP, partially due to the numerous causative pathogens, there are vaccination programmes which have reduced the occurrence of VAP caused by *H. influenzae* type B, *Streptococcus pneumoniae* and *Influenza virus* (Herceg, 1997). Vaccinations may prevent HCAI and may be considered before ventilation and prior to discharge for those at high risk of a subsequent respiratory infection (Wagh & Achayra, 2009).

Overall, whilst there is little evidence for treatment of late onset VAP there has been in cases of early onset. Despite the support for preventative interventions, clinical compliance can vary between 30-64% (Bouadma, Wolff & Lucet, 2012). A primary aim of healthcare professionals should be in reducing the modifiable risk factors for example, the endotracheal and nasogastric tubes, tracheotomy, reintubation, enteral nutrition, corticosteroid administration, gastric pH-modifying agents, supine positioning, prior antibiotic usage, poor infection control practice, and contaminated respiratory equipment, medications, or water (Koenig & Truwit, 2006).

1.4 - Pathogens associated with VAP

1.4.1 - Common clinical isolate pathogens

Currently there are believed to be four primary routes for bacteria to reach the LRT and cause VAP: spread due to proximity; hematogenous spread; inhalation and aspiration (Rello, & Diaz, 2003). Inhalation can refer to both microbes from contaminated air, and from the oropharynx, a principle supported by the efficacy of oral antibiotics in VAP prevention (Price, Maclennan, & Glen, 2014). The complicated interactions between the ETT, patient risk factors, virulence factors of the invasive bacteria and the integrity of the hosts immune system, also all influence the etiology of VAP (Kalanuria, Zai, & Mirski, 2014). The pathogens linked to causing VAP have the potential to vary between hospitals, patient populations, previous antibiotic exposure and change rapidly over time highlighting the need for regular isolate surveillance within ICUs (Golia, Sangeetha, & Vasudha, 2013).

The common bacterial causes of VAP are noted to be MRSA (44%) combined with *Acinetobacter baumanii (A. baumannii)* (30%), followed by *P. aeruginosa* (12%), *Stenotrophomonas maltophilia* (7%), *K. pneumoniae* (6%), and *Serratia marcescens* (2%) isolated from BAL samples of patients with VAP (Chi *et al.*, 2012) as seen in Figure 1.3.



Figure 1.3: A comparison of the isolated pathogens in late and early onset VAP. The results demonstrate that in both the late and early onset cases of VAP *P. aeruginosa* was the

primary shared isolate, of 33%, followed by *E. coli*, 25.42%, then *A. baumannii*, 13.56% (Source adapted from: Golia, Sangeetha, & Vasudha, 2013).

There was no recorded significant difference between bacterial causes of late and early onset VAP demonstrated by Figure 1.1, which represents a comparison of bacterial isolates taken from patients with early and late onset VAP (Golia, Sangeetha, & Vasudha, 2013). Even between these two studies there is a difference between the highest percentile colonizing organism. This broad range of potential causative pathogens is a contributory factor as to why diagnosing the specific cause of VAP is so difficult and why appropriate antimicrobial treatment is vital.

Most Gram-negative bacteria produce lipopolysaccharide (LPS), which creates a permeability barrier on the cell surface and is a primary contributor to antimicrobial resistance whilst also stimulating the immune system (Bertani, & Ruiz, 2018). LPS structure is relatively conserved between bacteria, but there are slight variations within species and strains, and it can also undergo modifications in reaction to environmental conditions (Klein & Raina, 2015). Overall LPS frequently plays a key role in bacterial pathogenicity (Scott, Oyler, Goodlett & Ernst, 2017).

Many clinically relative gram-negative bacteria also use quorum sensing (QS) to regulate their expressed virulence factors, for example *S. aureus* uses the paradigmatic Agr system to adjust adhesion and production of virulence factors, whereas *P. aeruginosa* uses two circuits arranged in tandem to control virulence factor production and biofilm formation, both of which cause persistent disease (Rutherford & Bassler, 2012).

A risk factor which has a significant impact on the transmission of MRSA and has therefore, implications in VAP is the colonization pressure (Williams *et al.*, 2007). Colonization pressure is defined as the percentage of patients colonized with a pathogen within the same environment during a specific time and can be used to quantify the level of antibiotic resistant bacteria and be used to estimate the probability of cross transmission within the area (Ajao *et al.*, 2012). This understanding can also be used in a more therapeutic approach since evaluating the colonization pressure could be used to determine the most relevant course of antimicrobial therapy for each specific ward.

1.4.2 VAP Pathology

Of the patients within an ICU who contract hospital-acquired pneumonia (HAP), 90% are mechanically ventilated (Pinzone, Cacopardo, Abbo, & Nunnari, 2014). The typical barriers which help the host prevent respiratory infections include anatomical barriers, cough reflexes and mucociliary clearance (Lillehoj, & Kim, 2002). However, the presence of the ETT used in mechanical ventilation frequently dampens mucocilliary clearance and limits the cough reflex, creating an increase in tracheobronchial secretions (Gil-Perotin *et al.*, 2012). The placement of the ETT can be seen in Figure 1.4.



Figure 1.4: The bronchial lumen is positioned in the left main bronchus allowing ventilation of the left lung and the tracheal lumen is positioned above the carina, facilitating ventilation of the right lung (Source: Lordan, Gascoigne, & Corris, 2003).

In disease, excess mucus is also produced due to additional mucosal pathways being activated via positive feedback loops, this then coupled with the inability to remove the secretions via coughing, allows the inhaled pathogens to be deposited on the luminal surface, creating opportunity for host infection (Nadel, 2013), thus heightening the risk of contracting pneumonia. Since mechanical stimulation of the upper airway can activate the afferent and efferent limbs of the vagus nerves causing secretory cell stimulation, this may also contribute to the problem of excessive mucus secretion (Jardine, Bhutta, & Inglis, 2011). The presence

of the tube can also facilitate the movement of gastric secretions around the ETT and then into the LRT (Flanagan *et al.*, 2007). The reduction of mucus removal efficiency allows greater admission of bacteria from the upper to the LRTs which enables colonization of the lower airways thought to be a potential causal factor of infection (Xu *et al.*, 2015).

VAP by nature is polymicrobial with mixed bacterial-fungal biofilms colonizing the ETT surface, the variety in microbial interactions is deemed to contribute to enhanced pathogenesis leading to the high mortality/morbidity rates, increase antimicrobial resistance rates forcing clinicians to come up with novel therapeutic strategies to treat VAP successfully (Rodrigues et al., 2017).

Whole-genome sequencing has identified not only numerous antibiotic drug resistance determinants but also several pathogenicity islands (PAIs) (Fournier *et al.*, 2006). PAIs are genomic islands acquired via horizontal gene transfer that contribute to the microorganisms' ability to evolve (Schmidt & Hensel, 2004). Additional relevant genes to the pathophysiology caused include those involved in the cell envelope, pilus biogenesis, alongside iron uptake and metabolism (Smith *et al.*, 2007). For example, a *gacS*-like gene encoding a sensor kinase was identified which is believed to be involved in virulence determinants in other gramnegative species such as *Pseudomonas*, as well as attachment and biofilm mutants (Dorsey, Tomaras, & Actis, 2002).

Mortality rate is highly influenced by the previous impairment of the host immune system (Safdar, Crnich, & Maki, 2005) failed early treatment strategies (Lodise *et al.*, 2007), and the virulence factors of the pathogen (Hauser *et al.*, 2003).

1.4.3 - Biofilms

A biofilm is commonly characterised as a complex and tightly adherent microbial community, surrounded in a matrix of extracellular polymeric substance (EPS), principally formed of polysaccharides, proteins, nucleic acids, and lipids (Flemming & Wingender, 2010). Statistically biofilms are present on 90% of ETT tubes within seven days of intubation (Solomon, Wobb, Buttaro, Truant, & Soliman, 2009). This is primarily an issue as the ETT-biofilms are associated risk factors for increasing upper respiratory tract infections (Perkins, Mouzakes, Pereira, & Manning, 2004). Regarding VAP, ETT-biofilms are one of the primary causes (Tarquinio, Confreda, Shurko, & LaPlante, 2014; Gil-Perotin *et al.*, 2014).

The primary causative bacterium of these biofilms is *P. aeruginosa* (Strateva & Mitov, 2011). For several years it was considered that the main transmission pathway for *P. aeruginosa* infections was via the environment, however, more recently in the last decade the emergence of a variety of different transmission methods, sometimes posing a greater risk to mortality, has caused a shift in view on how the disease is transmitted and how clinicians should treat patients accordingly (Fothergill, Walshaw, & Winstanley, 2012). Infections from *P. aeruginosa* are thought to cause higher rates of mortality than other organisms primarily due to common infectiosnn occurring in those with vast amounts of comorbidities (Parkins, Gregson, Pitout, Ross, & Laupland, 2010).

The presence of biofilms has several negative impacts on a patient's outcome as they; make infection eradication far more challenging, commonly cause chronic inflammation and their formation is associated with antimicrobial tolerance/resistance (Ciofu, Tolker-Nielsen, Jensen, Wang, & Høiby, 2015). In *P. aeruginosa* the switch to growth via biofilm formation allows the bacteria to have a greater survival rate within the host as it enables tolerance to inflammatory defence mechanisms, the lack of oxygen in the aerobic respiratory zones and to the areas which contain aerobic sputum (Bjarnsholt *et al.*, 2009). In cases of biofilms caused by *P. aeruginosa*, their structure and stability are denoted to three different polysaccharides: alginate, Pel and Psl (Ryder, Byrd & Wozniak, 2007). Of note, alginate is associated with water retention and nutrient accretion within the matrix (Sutherland, 2001). From the biofilm itself, bacterial cells can detach and be transported down to the LRT via ventilator gas flow and respiration (Gil-Perotin *et al.*, 2012).

It is of note that it is not only *P. aeruginosa* that forms biofilms, *A. baumannii* strains have also been found to also have environmental resistance due to its biofilm (Ioanas *et al.*, 2004). *P. aeruginosa* and *S. aureus*, often have reciprocal effect on biofilm formation sometimes creating polymicrobial biofilms or sometimes causing intense levels of competitions between the two (Magalhães, Lopes, & Pereira, 2017). However, in a study by Gil-Perotin *et al.*, (2012) despite over half of the patients having evidence of biofilm formation only 20% developed VAP, suggesting that whilst biofilm formation is essential for bacterial colonization, it alone is not enough to equate to infection. Whilst this study is only small scale it does illuminate the need for further investigations into the complicated dynamics between bacteria and the host regarding the onset of VAP.

1.4.4- Staphylococcus aureus

As mentioned, there are several bacteria deemed to be pathogenic when in association to VAP. In a healthy person *S. aureus* is a commensal and can be seen to colonize various ecological niches (Paling *et al.*, 2017). The pathogenic *S. aureus* associated with VAP, are believed to have had to reach a critical load in the altered environment before causing disease (Chastre, & Fagon, 2002). *S. aureus* commonly utilises the Type I toxins to cause diseases, for example it has been noted in cases of superantigen-mediated toxic shock syndrome (Proft, Sriskandan, Yang, & Fraser, 2003). In ICUs *S. aureus* is attributed to high rates of morbidity and elevated financial costs (Bloemendaal *et al.*, 2009). The primary reservoir for *S. aureus* is in fact infected patients, it is spread via contaminated health workers, patient to patient, or the environment (Williams, Callery, Vearncombe, & Simor, 2009).

The main reason *S. aureus*, including methicillin-resistant *S. aureus* (MRSA), is so dangerous is that it can survive for extended periods of time outside the host on nearby surfaces which act as a secondary reservoir and is a main component of horizontal microbial transfer- (Rocha, Ribas, Darini, & Filho, 2013). This also puts any visitors at risk who may contact the surfaces surrounding the patient and may increase the accidental spread of the disease from visitor to patient if proper hand washing is not followed. VAP occurs far more frequently in patients with acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS) and is often delayed due to the immediate use of antimicrobial therapy, however, this often results in colonization by strains that are resistant; such as MRSA and other MDR microorganisms (Chastre, Trouillet, Vuagnat, Joly-Guillou, Clavier, Dombret, & Gilbert, 1998). Severe infections normally cause an adaptive immune response within a week of the initial infection; however, an advantageous adaptation of *S. aureus* is the ability to cause repeated re-infections believed to be a result of the toxins released altering the hosts T cell activation pathway (Lee *et al.*, 2002).

There are a variety of mechanisms of which the *S. aureus* pathogen can deploy to adhere and invade the host epithelial cells which are blanketed under the term microbial surface components recognizing adhesive matrix molecules (MSCRAMM) (Liu, 2009). Two important functional components within the MSCRAMM bracket are cell-wall protein clumping factor B (ClfB) and wall-associated teichoic acid, which both promote adhesion to epithelial cells (Wertheim *et al.*, 2009). Another pathogenic mechanism that *S. aureus* deploys is the production of coagulase, an invasive enzyme, which provides an antigenic disguise by allowing

bacterial cells to be resistant to phagocytes, this enzyme is almost always associated with pathogenic S. aureus (Tam & Torres, 2019).

However, it is not essential for the bacteria to enter the host's cell to survive. A capacity which commonly enhances the ability of pathogenicity of *S. aureus* is its capability to thrive both inside and outside of the host's cells (Liu, 2009). The presence of *S. aureus* was also noted to be adhered to the ETT, this may indicate that the bacterium gained purchase during the handling of the tube, thus providing evidence possibly to support the bacterium being a secondary reservoir when it has colonized the local environment (Rosenblatt, Reitzel, Jiang, Hachem, & Raad, 2014).

1.4.5 - Acinetobacter baumanii

The incidence of *Acinetobacter* species has increased rapidly over the past twenty years and has been attributed to causing severe infections (Kanafani *et al.*, 2018). It is becoming a global problem with multidrug-resistant *A. baumannii* (MDR-Ab) resulting in HCAIs which lead to severe morbidity and even mortality (Sunenshine *et al.*, 2007), this is especially prevalent in ICUs (Siegel, Rhinehart, Jackson, & Chiarello, 2007). It is of note that *Acinetobacters* are part of the normal healthy human skin flora (Peleg, Seifert, & Paterson, 2008). However, *A. baumannii*, the relevant nosocomial species, was rarely (0.5-3%) found on human skin (Dijkshoorn *et al.*, 2005).

There have even been reports of *A. baumanii* clinical isolates that are resistant to all known classifications of antibiotics (Peleg, Seifert, & Paterson, 2008). The success of this opportunistic may be due to it being able to prevail on both moist and dry surfaces (Espinal, Martí, & Vila, 2012). Almost 70% of critically ill patients are anaemic (Heming, Montravers, & Lasocki, 2011). This is most likely due to the disintegration of the erythropoietin response as a response to cytokines as well as frequent removal of blood for sampling (Yepes *et al.*, 2006). *A. baumannii* has adapted to survive such normally toxic environments via secretion of low-molecular-mass ferric binding compounds, which considerably vary between clinical strains (Dorsey, Tomaras, & Actis, 2002).

From epidemiological surveys, most positive cultures of *A. abumanii* were found within respiratory secretions, followed by wound colonizations, blood samples and finally urine samples, which is represented internationally (Maslow, Glaze, Adams, & Lataillade, 2005).

There was also a higher association of resistant strains with patients in the ICU that have respiratory failure and sepsis (Kanafani *et al.*, 2018). In extended ICU stays of up to 30 days (the average being 4) there was a recorded increase in resistance of *Acinetobacter* isolates believed to be due to an elevated acquisition of extended spectrum Beta lactamase (ESBL), which are enzymes that confer resistance to most beta-lactam antibiotics, such as Carbapenems (Araj *et al*, 2012). In a financial evaluation those with an *Acinetobacter* colonization accrued greater financial costs than those with different pathogens, of note *Acinetobacter* VAP infections often result in a further 14 days hospitalisation, with additional costs (Kanafani *et al.*, 2018).

The key immunostimulatory factor was identified as *A. baumannii* lipopolysaccharide (LPS) which binds to the toll like receptor- 4 (TLR4) (Knapp *et al.*, 2006), which when activated leads to the intracellular signalling pathway NF- κ B and inflammatory cytokine production (IL-8) which in turn activates the innate immune system (Vaure & Liu, 2014). *A. baumannii* LPS, also stimulates TNF α (Erridge, Moncayo-Nieto, Morgan, Young, & Poxton, 2007) indicating that the *A. baumannii* endotoxin potentially induces a strong inflammatory response during infection (Peleg *et al.*, 2008). TLR2 was also highlighted as important in the signalling pathway (Erridge, *et al.*, 2007).

Since *A. baumannii* can form biofilms on surfaces and inanimate objects, it may explain its success and rapidly increasing prevalence in hospitals as the biofilm formation is linked to long term survival in both moist and dry surfaces (Tomaras, Dorsey, Edelmann, & Actis, 2003). The *csuE* gene associated with biofilm formation has also been linked to the successful adherence of the pathogen to human bronchial epithelial cells and erythrocytes (Lee *et al.*, 2006). Post adherence *A. baumannii* induces apoptosis through an outer membrane protein, Omp38, which initiates both caspase-dependent and independent pathways of apoptosis, whilst an OMP38 mutant caused a reduction in the rate and extent of cell death (Choi *et al.*, 2005). Alongside biofilm formation exopolysaccharide production is also believed to protect the bacterium from host defences (Joly-Guillou, 2005).

1.4.6 - Pseudomonas aeruginosa

P. aeruginosa is an incredibly successful opportunistic pathogen which displays intrinsic MDR capabilities but also can acquire alternative mechanisms via its fluid genome

(Fothergill, Winstanley & James, 2012). During infection, the pathogen may form biofilms to reduce efficiency of antibiotics whilst also giving it the ability to thrive in a multitude of different environments and harbours an arsenal of virulence factors often secreted by a variety of different effects making it hard to target using anti-microbials (Fothergill, Winstanley & James, 2012).

The type III secretions (T3S) are used in many gram-negative bacteria, including the commonly cited *P. aeruginosa* (Hauser, 2009). Within the T3 system the main apparatus used is the 'injectisome' which enables the bacteria to translocate effectors from the bacterial cytosol to the host cell via a needle like structure (Bridge, Novotny, Moore, & Olson, 2010). The movement of effector toxins between the bacteria and the host cell is so efficient that only 0.1% is leaked into the extracellular space (Sundin, Thelasus, Broms, & Forsberg, 2004). The transported products are associated with disease since they facilitate the circulation of the pathogen around the bloodstream which in severe cases can eventually lead to septic shock (Coburn, Sekirov, & Finlay, 2007). The main proteins transported are; ExoS; ExoT; ExoU; and ExoY (Hauser, 2009). A more detailed investigation on their effects on the host will be discussed later in this report within 'Systemic Response'.

1.4.7 - Rare pathogenesis

Due to the advances in modern detection and sequencing methods, bacterium that was previously disregarded in cases of human infection, is now being increasingly identified as the causative agent, a prime example is the bacterium *Raoultella ornithinolytica* (*R. ornithinolytica*) (de Jong, de Jong, & Rentenaar, 2013). Despite their being several risk factors associated with *R. ornithinolytica* infection such as solid cancers, diabetes mellitus, immunodeficiency, post-invasive procedures, and post-urethra trauma (Seng, Boushab, & Romain, 2016), until this year there had been no known cases of VAP identified to be caused by *R. ornithinolytica* within immunocompromised patients. However, two have been isolated in a recent study (Van Cleve, Boucher, Smith, & Croce, 2018).

R. ornithinolytica, is incredibly virulent due to its ability to form biofilms and the capability to adhere to human tissue (Djeribi, Bouchloukh, & Menaa, 2012). In both presented cases the bacterium was resistant to aminopenicillins (Zheng, Li, Zhang, Ji, & Fang, 2015). In further analysis of the identified cases, the patients were admitted months apart and no other cases
of the isolate were identified indicating the infection is unlikely to be caused by cross contamination or part of the unit's normal microbial flora (Van Cleve *et al.*, 2018). Which poses the question, where did this pathogen appear from and what the relevant method of transmission in when causing VAP.

1.4.8 - Transfer of bacteria on insertion of the ETT

It has long been hypothesised that the oral cavity pathogens and those that cause VAP overlap, and in a recent study this idea was supported since there was an 88% overlap between the two sites (Bahrani-Mougeot *et al.*, 2007). This research has also been seen in studies of CF whereby the translocation of oral bacteria such as *Prevotella*, *Veillonella spp* and oral *Streptococci* can be linked to the polymicrobial pathogens causing the chronic illness (Filkins, & O'Toole, 2015). This is a critical discovery regarding the diagnosis of VAP since most cultures are not suitable to anaerobes and yet many of the flora within the oral cavity are specialized anaerobes. It also introduces the element of risk of transferring the oral bacteria into the LRT when inserting the ETT (Perkins, Woeltje, & Angenent, 2010).

A risk factor associated with *S. aureus* colonization is the establishment of the nasal cavity, particularly in patients in ICU (Bloemendaal *et al.*, 2009). On analysis of the isolates taken from paediatric VAP patients, *Prevotella* was identified to be the most common genus followed by *Streptococcus* and *Staphylococcus*, which are members of the oropharyngeal microbiota which suggests they may have been relocated into the LRT on insertion of the ETT (Leroue, *et al.*, 2017). Within samples from healthy patients, there is a high degree of shared bacteria between the lungs and the mouth, but interestingly, there is little conservation between the lungs and the nose (Bassis *et al.*, 2015).

1.5 - Immune response to VAP

1.5.1 - Systemic response

Patients in ICU/hospital wards frequently experience lower immunocompetency due to several reasons: the illness they are already battling; negative side effects on microbial communities due to treatments; and for some, this is worsened by genetic predispositions (Weinstein et at, 2004). Often patients in ICU experience reductions in both their adaptive and innate immune systems in the forms of reduced antigen presentation and endotoxin

tolerance which are crucial factors in the development of nosocomial infections (Boomer *et al.*, 2011). Whilst it is commonly accepted that critically ill patients reside in an immunosuppressed state, more recent evidence suggests that this is also true of those with VAP (Boomer *et al.*, 2011).

The impairment of the innate immune system can be expressed in decreased phagocytosis activity, associated with the negative connotations of the of the anaphylatoxin C5a, which reduces neutrophil phagocytic activity (Morris *et al.*, 2011). Within the critically ill there are also predispositions which increase the likelihood of HCAIs such as, elevated levels of regulatory T-cells (T-regs), deactivated monocytes (measured by monocyte HLA-DR expression) and dysfunctional neutrophils measured by CD88 expression (Conway Morris *et al.*, 2013). Since there is no link between nosocomial infection and other markers of neutrophil activation (CD11b, CD64 and L-selectin), it is indicative that the association between CD88 expression and neutrophil dysfunction is not simply induced via common activation (Conway Morris *et al.*, 2009).

Largely the immunosuppression within the critically ill is believed to originate from the overstimulation of counter-regulatory mechanisms, this is demonstrated via the raised level of regulatory helper T-regs (Venet *et al.*, 2008). In patient case studies, T-regs are believed to damage the effect of lymphocytes (Venet, 2009). Data collated from studies testing immune-components as biomarkers for VAP, have identified that in cases of VAP there are elevated levels of: interleukin-1 β (IL-1 β); IL-8; matrix metalloproteinase (MMP)-8; and MMP-9, with a combinational sensitivity of just under 95% (Hellyer *et al.*, 2015). See Table 1.2: below which describes each cytokine and its primary function.

Cytokine	Primary Source	Principle Activity
IL-β	Macrophages and other antigen	Co-stimulation of APCs and T cells,
	presenting cells (APCs)	inflammation and fever, acute phase
		response,
		haematopoiesis
IL-8	Macrophages, somatic cells	Chemoattractant for neutrophils and T cells

Table 1.2: Primary source and action of the elevated cytokines identified in cases of VAP. (Source: Zhang, & An, 2007).

MMP-8	Pre-synthesized by neutrophils	Tissue damage by releasing matrix
	and stored in granules	degradation products upon secretion
MMP-9	Secreted by a wide number of	Reduced IL-2 response; Anti-inflammatory;
	cell types, including neutrophils,	Enhanced collagen affinity and Bioavailability
	macrophages, and fibroblasts	of TGFβ

There is evidence to suggest that even amongst the critically ill immunoparalysis is more severe in patients with VAP. This is indicative from the decreased levels of CD3+/CD4+ cells, the increase in monocyte apoptosis, and the reduced release of pro-inflammatory cytokines (primarily IL-6, TNF α) post stimulation with LPS in the group of patients with VAP (Christaki, 2009).

Increased mortality rates have recently been associated with disproportionately increased IL-10 in relation to TNF α production, which is believed to be of a genetic origin, however, the specifics are yet to be recognised (White *et al.*, 2010). Following on from this, the overproduction of IL-10 has also been related to an increased rate of severe sepsis (O'Dwyer *et al.*, 2006). This may stem from the increased IL-10 gene expression being the reason for reduced interferon gamma (IFN- γ) production in antigen-presenting cells (APC's) since IL-10 is thought to be an inhibitory factor (Fiorentino *et al.*, 1991). IL-10 is an immunosuppressive cytokine which in normal quantities of a healthy patient, is used to avoid an excessive immune response and avoids self-damage by the immune system, however, in dysregulation it prevents an immune response from being mounted by the host, making them more susceptible to infections (Cadwell, 2015). Assessed cumulatively both the data surrounding TNF α and IL-10 concentrations, would suggest that as the circulating cytokine volume increases so does the severity of pneumonia (Millo *et al.*, 2004).

The endotoxin tolerance is believed to be due to a decreased cytokine production in response to lipopolysaccharide (LPS) after initial stimulation (Weijer, Lauw, Branger, van den Blink, & van der Poll, 2002). LPS are also powerful stimuli for macrophages (Zhang, & Morrison, 1993). Endotoxin tolerance has been considered an example of immunoparalysis (Biswas, & ELopez-Collazo, 2009). Which can be defined as a state of prolonged and severe acquired immune deficiency (Frazier, & Hall, 2009). Present evidence suggests that there is an increased level of immunoparalysis in patients with VAP than in those with alternate bacterial infections (Christaki, 2009) and is demonstrated by the reduced count of CD3+/CD4+ cells, rise in monocyte apoptosis, and the poorer discharge of pro-inflammatory cytokines, namely tumour necrosis factor-alpha (TNF α) and interleukin 6 (IL-6), from monocytes after stimulation with LPS (Pelekanou *et al.*, 2009).

There are also genetic factors associated with the likelihood of development of VAP. There have been certain genes found to be depressed within those who have developed VAP such as those involved in the cAMP and calcium signalling pathways within the complement system, which are integral to producing the cellular immune response synapsing between antigen presenting cells and lymphocytes (Keane & Martin-Loeches, 2019). Furthermore, gene expression levels are typically inverse to a high CPIS result which is indicative of pathology, suggesting patients who develop VAP are immunosuppressed and that ddPCR quantification of genes partaking in the immunological synapse may help diagnostic efforts of differentiating between patients with and without VAP that would otherwise be hard to clinically identify (Almansa *et al.*, 2018).Whilst a depression of immune factors can lead to VAP development it is also true of the inverse.

To colonize the host, the pathogenic bacteria must defend itself against antimicrobial peptides, lysozymes, lactoferrins, and antibodies such as IgA (Wertheim *et al.*, 2005). There are believed to be more than fifty accessory genes which aid in parthenogenesis which code for proteins which are either excreted or presented on the bacteria's surface which enable host immune avoidance and facilitate adherence to host cells which when exposed to host tissues beyond the mucosal surface are upregulated (Novick, 2003). *S. aureus* also has the potential to utilise clumping factor A (clfA), protein A and numerous compliment inhibitors which prevent opsonophagocytosis by preventing host opsonins from adhering to the bacterium (Foster, 2005).

Since many of the common VAP pathogens are opportunistic understanding the extent of the immune failures may prove to be the understanding of novel preventative and therapeutic strategies (Williams, Dehnbostel, & Blackwell, 2010). Since *P. aeruginosa* infections are rare in those who are not immunocompromised, it is indicative that the reduction of immune functionality puts the patient at far greater risk of developing an infection (Williams, Dehnbostel, & Blackwell, 2010). Therefore, the result of the infection can be linked to the level of immune impairment within the patient (Safdar, Crnich, & Maki, 2005).

Following on from this, it is not surprising that those with HIV are at an extremely great risk of a *P. aeruginosa* infection and are also more likely to become infected than the average intubated patient (Afessa & Green, 2000). Similarly, a common occurrence in a pseudomonal infection is the elevated level of neutrophils, however, in neutropenic patients, frequent in HIV positive cases and those undergoing chemotherapy, until the development of carbenicillins, gentamicin and carbapenems, said infections were nearly always fatal (Chatzinikolaou *et al.*, 2000). Whilst there are several cases of resistance in *P. aeruginosa* to commonly used antibiotics, there is evidence to suggest that whilst they may not eliminate the infection they may 'hold back' the full force of pathogenicity until the hosts immune system is at a higher functioning level often linked to the removal of the ETT (Weber *et al.*, 2007).

Primarily, gram negative bacteria such as *P. aeruginosa*, initiate a response from the host immune system through their interactions with TLR4 (Kopp & Medzhitov, 2003). Throughout the progression from acute to chronic infection, there are changes in the lipid-A moiety acylation pattern to reduce its immunogenicity and therefore have a lesser stimulation of TLR4 (Ernst *et al.*, 2007).

When the host receives the stimuli in response to an infection the posterior pituitary gland releases arginine vasopressin (AVP), created by hypothalamic neurons, and has vasoconstrictor and antidiuretic functions (Itoi, Jiang, Iwasakiz, & Watson, 2004). However, since AVP is a relatively unstable molecule it is far easier to study copeptin, of which concentrations are mirrored to AVP and which also increase alongside the severity of illness (Struck, Morgenthaler, & Bergmann, 2005). Based on this evidence it has been suggested therefore, that copeptin levels could be used as a biomarker to access the severity and onset of VAP (Müller *et al.*, 2007). It would therefore be interesting to investigate if there are any bacterial influences which cause the rise of copeptin in patients with VAP.

However, it is important to note, there are difficulties in analysing the immune response in patients with VAP in that many diseases or injuries that induce the need for additional ventilatory support are already characterised by profound systemic inflammatory responses including immune cell activation and immune mediated organ damage (Cohen, 2002). Additionally, since the progressive relationship between immune dysfunction and the

infection is often clouded, it leads to limitations in the extrapolations about causality (Conway Morris *et al.*, 2009).

Of relevance to this study, there is a high degree of similarity between lymphoid tissues associated with the oral cavity and upper respiratory in pigs and humans (Mair *et al.*, 2014). The immune recognition factors such as pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) which are expressed on many immune cells are evolutionarily conserved (Kumar, Kawai, & Akira, 2011). Another beneficial element of the porcine immune system that is not dissimilar to its human counterpart is the thymus, functioning as the lymphoid organ mainly involved in T cell development (Swindle, Makin, Herron, Clubb Jr, & Frazier, 2012). This is the reasoning behind this study using the lungs of *Sus scrofa ex vivo* lungs as a model to attempt to replicate the physiology in cases of VAP.

1.5.2 - Lung specific response

It was long believed that the lung was a sterile environment, however, on appraisal, considering that upper respiratory tract microbes are found in abundance and aspiration of this content occurs daily, it is unsurprising that this idea has since been overturned and, in fact, it is now known that the lung has its own microbiome (Dickson *et al.*, 2015). Comparably the microbiome of the lung has a far smaller bacterial biomass than that of the gastrointestinal tract however, there is still a large and diverse population within the area (O'Dwyer, Dickson, & Moore, 2017). Unlike the gut, the movement of microbes within the lungs is frequently bidirectional since there are no physical barriers between the larynx and the alveolus, therefore, the biome is more transient and dynamic than that of the gastrointestinal tract (Dickson, & Huffnagle, 2015). The comparison is visually represented in Figure 1.5.



Figure 1.5: Comparative diagram of the different microbiomes of the lungs and the gut, demonstrated at a phylum level (Source: Huffnagle, Dickson, & Lukacs, 2016).

In health it is believed that it is the balance between the complex microbial constituents of the lung that help the host maintain immunocompetency in homeostasis (O'Dwyer *et al.*, 2017). In fact, these endogenous bacteria are the pivotal regulators of both the host and pathogen modulation regarding infection (Global Health Sciences: Global Research Projects, 2015). Therefore, there is also an element of previous/current viral infections altering the normal flora constituents of the microbiome potentially leading to a change in bacterial populations, in turn, leading to dysbiosis which may ultimately bear an impact re infection (Cadwell, 2015).

In comparison to healthy controls, it was only seen in the diseased patients that the taxa in the LRT differed from that of the upper at a given time point (Martin *et al.*, 2015). From research into the diversity of bacterial communities between healthy and diseased intubated patients it has been established that, whilst the α diversity (variance within a particular community) was lower in intubated patients than in healthy controls, it was the reverse for β diversity (variance of two communities) with there being a general similarity found amongst the healthy control microbial communities (Kelly *et al.*, 2016). This loss of diversity has been linked to dysbiosis which is commonly attributed to a risk factor in disease.

Despite there being benefits in the presence of microorganisms there are also areas where, it is in fact, a disadvantage to health. Typically, in health the respiratory tract below the carina

has a low density of microorganisms, this void within the alveolar space may be linked to improved gas exchange and prevention of bacteraemia (Williams, Dehnbostel, & Blackwell, 2010). Infections of the LRT generally produce an intense inflammatory response to try and rid the host of the pathogens, since prolonged exposure is often fatal (Lau, Hassett, & Britigan, 2005). The type of infection can be differentiated into those that penetrate the host defences frequently and opportunistic pathogens, that are primarily seen in cases of impaired immunity within the host and are often commensal in states of normalcy within the host (Trautmann, Lepper, & Haller, 2005).

After the epithelial membrane has been penetrated the innate immune system is the primary defence system (Williams, Dehnbostel, & Blackwell, 2010). The innate system is made-up of microbial defences, including lung leukocytes and epithelial cells, and is generally described as any effector mechanism which aims to prevent infection (Beutler, 2004). An integral system within the innate immunity defence mechanisms is the use of pattern recognition receptors (PRR) which are encoded into the hosts germ line DNA and recognise the stimulus as pathogenic and generate an immunological reaction to it without the host having prior immunologic exposure (Williams, Dehnbostel, & Blackwell, 2010). Following its activation, the innate system often drives the adaptive system to perform functions such as, atopic pathways (receptor-mediated cell death pathways) and pathways generated by mechanical stretch (mechanical stretch accelerates cytokine production by human alveolar macrophages in vitro), and since each system is unique to each person this may be an explanation for the differences observed in immune responses amongst patients suffering from the same bacterial, fungal, or viral infections (Martin, & Frevert, 2005). For example, not all LRT colonizations in intubated patients result in VAP, many do not develop the disease (Durairaj et al., 2009), suggesting there are host factors influencing the development of the disease.

Numerous immune cells have been associated with the pulmonary defence against infections from *P. aeruginosa*, the most crucial being the neutrophil associated with bacterial clearance and therefore removal of infection (Williams, Dehnbostel, & Blackwell, 2010). T-helper cells have also been implicated in immune defence however, their role and ability to regulate neutrophilic responses remains relatively understudied (Williams, Dehnbostel, & Blackwell, 2010). There are some glycoproteins, such as IL-17 which are pivotal in the pulmonary immunoinflammatory response, for instance a lack of IL-17 is associated with an increased

vulnerability to bacterial pathogens whereas an increased quantity of IL-17 is linked to autoimmunity (Nembrini, Marsland, & Kopf, 2009). The consequences of an imbalanced quantity of IL-17 links to the wide range of cells influenced by the glycoprotein such as; neutrophils, fibroblasts, epithelial cells and endothelial cells (Flierl *et al.*, 2008).

The host has several forms of pulmonary defences including structural, mechanical, chemical, and cellular strategies, alongside innate and acquired host defences (Whitsett, 2002). The epitomical lining can be defined as a 'pseudostratified columnar epithelium' formed of various morphologic cells such as: squamous; ciliated; basal; serous; goblet; neuroepithelial and non-ciliated Clara cells (Whitsett, 2002). The mechanical defence mechanisms which are so vital to respiratory health include the airway surface liquids (ASL) formed via water and mucus secretions which contain many substances that have antimicrobial properties to capture pathogens which are then repelled out of the lung via the mucociliary action. They work alongside the cellular barriers that prevent entry of organisms into the subcellular space and bloodstream. Both are often impeded during MV (Williams, Dehnbostel, & Blackwell, 2010).

In health the respiratory epithelium undergoes apostasies upon ingestion of pseudomonads to prevent greater diffusion, is a great source of microbiological agents within the ASL and has several transmembrane PPR that communicate to immune cells through via a multitude of cytokine networks (Williams, Dehnbostel, & Blackwell, 2010). Thus, highlighting why, the damage done to the epithelium by the ETT insertion has such detrimental effects.

Bacteria are translocated to the alveolar surface where they are exposed to soluble components within the ASL and alveolar macrophages (Martin, & Frevert, 2005). The soluble components include; lysozymes to disrupt the stability of the bacterial membrane, lactoferrins which interfere with iron transport, the antibodies IgA and IgG alongside the antimicrobial peptides and defensins (Lehrer, 2004). Following opsonisation from either IgG or SP-A/Sp-D, the bacteria are then ingested by alveolar macrophages whilst the toll like receptors (TLRs) aid in identifying which microbial products enter the cell (Blander, & Medzhitov, 2004).

Within the ASL four proteins, SP-A, SP-B, SP-C and SP-D, have been found to act as crucial mediators in the host defence of the lung via the regulation of surfactant lipid metabolism

and the lipid membrane organization (Kuroki, Takahashi, & Nishitani, 2007). It is noted that SP-B and SP-C are hydro-phobic and therefore are vital in the biophysical functions of surfactant (Whitsett and Weaver, 2002) whilst SP-A and SP-D are water soluble and belong to the collectin family characterised to be integral to the innate immune system (Kuroki, Takahashi, & Nishitani, 2007).

The pulmonary collectins are also known to inhibit the growth of Gram-negative bacteria via a cumulative increase in the permeability of the bacterial membrane (McCormack *et al.*, 2003). Several *in vivo* studies demonstrate that the collectins also increase the uptake of pathogens (Kuroki, Takahashi, & Nishitani, 2007). SP-A and SP-D encourage phagocytosis of bacterial particulates by alveolar macrophages and granulocytes whilst also contributing to their clearance (Shrive *et al.*, 2003). The complement pathway which leads to phagocytosis via opsonization is triggered by the Mannose-binding lectin 2 (encoded by MBL2) binds Dmannose and N-acetyl-D-glucosamine on the surface of the bacterium, however, MBL2 is subject to a large amount of genetic variation and low levels seem to reduce the time taken for a *P. aeruginosa* infection (Dorfman *et al.*, 2008).

1.6 - Evaluation of current research approaches

Animal models provide many insights into the pathophysiology of VAP and allow for scrutiny into the efficacy and safety of current therapeutic interventions (Li Bassi *et al.*, 2014). There have been various animal models developed throughout the years evaluating different pulmonary injuries, causative agents, methods for bacterial immunisation and time progression of the onset of the disease (Rouby *et al.*, 2012). Primarily during the 1980s VAP was studied via the intubation of baboons (*Papio papio*) for eight days. In this study the primary causative agents were *P. aeruginosa* and *Staphylococcus aureus* (Johanson, Holcomb, & Coalson, 1982). These early models allowed for pinnacle breakthroughs in the understanding of the pathophysiology of the disease and to develop preventive strategies since there was such a close reflection in the etiology of VAP in humans (Campbell, Coalson, & Johanson, 1984). However, there are many ethical constraints to working on primates so studies that have shifted to primarily on sheep and pigs.

Of the early porcine lung models many have been proven effective into the investigation of VAP, as one study reported that of the pigs being mechanically ventilated for four days,

around 90% developed VAP (Marquette, Wermert, Wallet, Copin, & Tonnel, 1999). The causative organisms were noted to be *Pasteurella multocida* and *Streptococcus suis* which were later supported by similar colonizations of the endogenous oropharyngeal pathogens, demonstrated in models developed by the National Institutes of Health (Zanella *et al.*, 2012). In said models it is of note that the animals were positioned so that the tracheal orientation was above horizontal which is reported to enhance the microaspiration of the oropharyngeal pathogens (Li Bassi *et al.*, 2014). Some researchers have even induced pneumonia in pigs via bronchial inoculation of *P. aeruginosa* (Luna *et al.*, 2007) and methicillin-resistant *S. aureus* (Martinez-Olondris *et al.*, 2010).

The main advantages of a porcine lung model in the investigation into VAP is that it is similar in the pathogenic mechanisms of human VAP and bacteriology allowing an in-depth study to be conducted on the disease, diagnosis, and preventative strategies (Li Bassi *et al.*, 2014). Another advantage is that the use of 'waste' products from abattoirs correlates with the National Centre for the Replacement, Refinement and Reduction of Animal Research (NC3R) (2021) guidelines. Using the waste tissue means that no animals were culled for the experiment itself, since they were to be slaughtered regardless, the animals were killed in a humane way and all experimentation was done after death leaving there no possibility for animal suffering due to the experiment. There has even been research into how to avoid using animals all together and to use a novel *Dictyostelium* model instead (Cocorocchio *et al*, 2018), but this needs further research and assessment before implementation into this study may occur.

1.7 - Overall aims

From the evidence the key issues within both research and treatment of VAP are that a more specific and rapid diagnosis test is needed to avoid misdiagnosis, and the development of faster ways to identify the causative organisms specific to the patient to avoid unnecessary broad-spectrum treatments which increase the risk of MDR and dysbiosis. There is a need for a more detailed analysis of the differentiation between a VAP specific response either systemically or isolated to the pulmonary system and the response to the initial cause for ventilation. These are the current problems associated with VAP that affect the clinicians, researchers, and the patients.

The aim of this study was to characterise the interactions between host and VAP pathogens in an *ex vivo* porcine lung model to help improve strategies for a more accurate and rapid diagnosis. This model has been previously developed and used to investigate virulence of respiratory bacterial pathogens, including *P. aeruginosa* and *S. aureus* (Harrison, Muruli, Higgins & Diggle, 2014), and is therefore a viable model for investigation of host-pathogen interactions in VAP.

A schematic diagram has been developed to explain visually how each element of research has been investigated within this study, see Figure 1.6 below. Each of the aims may fall into one or more of the areas within the diagram which demonstrates how the research should be viewed holistically as well as compartmentally. Since working with patients within hospitals is unpractical for research of this level a developmental *ex vivo* porcine lung model is far more practical and responsible, this issue will be further expanded on elsewhere within this study.



Figure 1.6: Hierarchy diagram to demonstrate the research pathways in VAP. From the top VAP is the confirmed clinical diagnosis. From this the diagram branches off to the pathogenic organism causing VAP (the microbe) which can be a variety of organisms.

Following from the causative agent is the isolation of a sample in ordered to determine the specific causative microbe. Succeeding this is the testing of the sample for antibiotic resistance to determine which antibiotics would be most suitable for the patient. On the other side below VAP is the patient (host) response which will be highly varied between patients due to several variables such as age, sex, initial cause for intubation etc. Subsequently leading to the amounted response of the patient either systemically or specific to the pulmonary organs. There is also the double headed arrow to identify that there are interactions between the host and the causative microbes.

The modifications of this study specifically are to optimise the killing methodology of excised porcine lung tissue to act as a comparison to live tissue to allow the input that the host microbes have in any interactions studied and to also assess the specific/systemic response to VAP. To establish a routine method of taking a BAL sample from the porcine lungs to therefore identify the normal microbial constituents within the porcine lungs, then by knowing the normal flora it allows later identification of foreign microbes which may lead to a species-specific treatment rather than unnecessary broad-spectrum treatments. To establish the cell structures, present within the lung tissue in health which can later be compared to diseased tissue to understand further the host-microbe interactions in cases of VAP. Lastly to generate a time scale of the growth of a VAP clinical isolate on inoculated viable and non-viable *ex vivo* porcine lung tissue to identify how much the host may impact isolate growth and in what time does colonisation of the tissue arise.

2. METHODS & MATERIALS

2.1 – Bacterial strains and the clinical Isolate

The clinical isolate was obtained from Liverpool University. Originally from a clinical patient isolate which was subculture and grown so that only the pure isolates remained. There is no patient information accessible from the sample as it is pure bacterium and contains none of the original host's DNA. The strain was stored at -80 in 50% Phosphate Buffered Saline (PBS)/50% glycerol prior to use within a 1.5mL cryo-tube. Cultures were grown on MH agar. The control strain of *S. aureus* was used as it a notably common bacteria with well documented AGE band weights whilst also having the V₁V₂, V₃V₄ gene regions (Wagner et al., 2016) and in this study was prepared via a colony boil prep method as defined by Hassanzadeh, Pourmand, Afshar, Dehbashi & Mashhadi (2016).

2.1.1 - Specifications of lungs from Sus scrofa

The lungs were collected from Morphets Widnes, an abattoir in Cheshire. The large white pigs (*Sus scrofa domesticus*) were culled just before picking up and then placed in a cool box till reaching Salford University, approximately 1hr later at 5-7 °C, where they were transferred to a secondary cool box with ice and stored there until use. The whole lung was excised form the larynx, including both lobes.

2.2 - Development of *ex vivo* porcine lung model

2.2.1 - Artificial Sputum Medium

All components to make ASM were purchased from Sigma-Aldric, UK. Deoxyribonucleic acid sodium salt from salmon testes (4g/L), Type II mucin from porcine stomach (5g/L), L-amino acids listed in Table 1, excluding L-Tryptophan (250mg/L), Diethylenetriamine Pentaacetic Acid (DTPA) (5.9g/L), NaCl and KCL (both 5g/L) were thoroughly mixed into 850mL of dH₂O. The solution was then made to pH 7, brought to a total of 900mL with dH₂O and autoclaved. Once cooled, filter sterilised L-Tryptophan (250g/L) was added and lastly egg yolk emulsion (5mL/L) was added to a final volume of 1L.

Table 2.1: List of all 20 naturally occurring amino acids with Tryptophan highlighted with reference to the ASM protocol (Source: Sigma-Aldric, 2019).

Alanine, Ala, A	Isoleucine, Ile, I	Leucine, Leu, L
Methionine, Met, M	Valine, Val, V	Phenyl alanine, Phe, F

Tryptophan, Trp, W	Tyrosine, Tyr, Y	Asparagine, Asn, N
Cysteine, Cys, C	Glutamine, Gln, Q	Serine, Ser, S
Threonine, Thr, T	Aspartic acid, Asp, D	Glutamic acid, Glu, E
Arginine, Arg, R	Histidine, His, H	Lysine, Lys, K
Glycine, Gly, G	Proline, Pro, P	

2.2.2 - Lung dissection

A dissection tray was prepared by sterilising with 70% ethanol and 15 mins exposed to UV light, all of which was conducted within a laminar flow cabinet. Two plastic chopping boards were placed onto two large strips of tinfoil which were placed onto the tray and UV sterilised again for 30 mins.

The first lung was removed from the cool box and placed onto one of the boards. The health of the lung was then assessed. A pictorial example of a 'healthy' and 'unhealthy' lung can be found in the Results section "3.1 Differentiation of healthy and damaged lungs".

If necessary, a BAL sample as described in the Materials and Methods Section "2.3. Bronchoalveolar lavage of porcine lung", would be conducted.

Using a hot paddle knife, the surface of lung tissue was cauterized, ensuring to be within the reach of a Bunsen on a roaring flame throughout to encourage aseptic technique.

The surface layer of the tissue was then carefully removed trying to avoid damage to deeper sections of the tissue using sterile tweezers and a single edged razor blade.

Lung tissue sections were prepared as previously described by Harrison, Muruli, Higgins, & Diggle, (2014). Using the autoclaved sterilised dissection kit and the single edged blade two horizontal lines were cut. Vertical incisions within the horizontal lines were then made. The surface alveolar tissue was removed and discarded. Tissue from the now exposed sub-dermal layers were then removed of an approximate 0.5cm^2 diameter and were immediately placed into a plate filled with ASM resting on ice. To maintain maximal similarity between the tissue sections, bronchioles and veins were avoided as much as possible. This was then repeated for the left and right lobes of the lung. The tissue was then washed in ASM twice. Research by Harrison, Muruli, Higgins, & Diggle, (2014) reports that washing causes no notable damage to the pleura or have negative connotations on the resident bacterial cells.

2.2.3 - Optimisation of killing lung tissue

Lung tissue segments were excised using the protocol defined in "2.2.2 Lung dissection".

To six Eppendorf tubes filled with 500µl of sterile PBS (Thermo Fisher) one piece of tissue was added. After ensuring the tissue was fully submerged in the PBS. PBS is a water-based salt solution containing disodium hydrogen phosphate, sodium chloride which helps maintain a constant pH (Harrison et al., 2012). The tubes were placed into a heated block at 70 °C for 20 mins. A further six pieces of tissue were individually placed into cryovials and fully submerged into liquid nitrogen for 20 mins. A further six tissue segments were kept cool with ice, to be used as viable controls.

At the completion of the various conditions a piece of tissue was placed into each well of a pre-prepared 24 well 0.8% agarose bed plate, as seen in the layout of Figure 2.1. This was then placed into the CO_2 incubator at 37 °C.



Figure 2.1: Plate layout to measure viability of ex vivo porcine lung tissue in various conditions. In row A is where the heat killed tissue pieces are placed, row B is cold killed, row C is live tissue segments placed in ASM and in row D is live tissue segments in LB.

At the time points after incubation; 1hr, 3hr, 6hr, 18hr and 24, the tissue pieces were removed from the agarose bed and added to a 24 well plate containing 1 mL ASM. A total of 10% of the total volume of Resazurin (Fisher Scientific) (from a stock solution of 0.50 g

Resazurin sodium salt dissolved into 100 ml 1x sterile PBS) was added to the well and incubated for 45 mins in the 37 °C CO₂. After the interval had elapsed 200 μ l of the media surrounding the tissue was removed and placed in duplicate in a 96 well plate and absorbance was read at wavelengths Ex/Em 560/590nm.

2.3 - Bronchoalveolar lavage of porcine lung

Freshly acquired lungs (>12 h post slaughter) lungs were placed into the sterile dissection zone (As referenced 2.2.2 Lung dissection). The Halyard Mini-Bal Sampling Catheter (Halyard Health) was removed from the packaging whilst maintaining sterility and inserted into the vertically suspended lungs via the larynx, down the trachea and then into the primary bronchioles where the tube was inserted into the left lobe. Using a syringe 100mL of PBS was then introduced to the lungs as a lavage via the catheter and then removed via suction excreted from the syringe. Success of the lavage could be assessed by the colour, if the fluid was red then tissue damage was likely to have occurred when inserting the tube, whereas a more yellow tinged translucent liquid indicted a successful lavage.

The extracted fluid volume was recorded and placed into a Disposable 50 x 50mL centrifuge containers (Tube Pipe Vial Lab Test- Thermo Fisher) and stored at -18 °C till further use (approximately 24hrs later). The catheter was then flushed clean with PBS and inserted into the alternate lobe of the lung as to previously. Another lavage was then completed, and the same process applied to the extracted fluid. This was then further repeated for the second lung.

2.3.1 - PCR amplification of 16SrRNA gene from BAL samples

The samples were collected by the methods referenced in "2.3. Bronchoalveolar lavage of porcine lung" and were thawed and amplified following the PCR settings in Table 2.2. The reagent MytaqRed (Bioline) was used for 16S amplicon sequencing to amplify the 16S rRNA directly from the BAL sample. Following the Highprep[™] PCR 96-Well Protocol (Milipore Sigma, 2020) the samples were subjected to several rounds of bead clean up wherein 56µl of AMPure XP (Beckman Colture) beads were added to the product of PCR ensuring to mix by pipetting repeatedly for a minimum of 10 times. This was to eliminate contaminates and salts, which often act as inhibitors, therefore, leaving a purified DNA sample for later testing.

Stage	Temperature	Time (seconds)	Cycles
Preliminary	95 °C	60	1
Denaturation			
Denaturation	95 °C	15	25
Annealing	55°C	15	
Extension	72 °C	10	

Table 2.2: PCR settings used to amplify BAL sample DNA.

The 16S rRNA gene was amplified with primer sets of V_1V_2 and V_3V_4 modified to contain Illumina overhang sequences (16S Metagenomic Sequencing Library Preparation). These primers were used in concordance to other relevant studies of BAL samples as they are abundant in respiratory bacteria (Charlson et al., 2012 & Becker et al., 2019). See Table 2.3 for full primer sequences (Watts et al., 2017).

Table 2.3: Specific sequences of both sets of primer used including the Illumina sequencing overhang.

V_1V_2 Forward	TCGTCGGCAGCGTCAGATGTGTATAAGAGACAGAGAGTTTGATCCTGGCTCAG
V ₁ V ₂ Reverse	GTCTCGTGGGCTCGGAGATGTGTATAAGAGACAGTGCTGCCTCCCGTAGGAGT
V_3V_4 Forward	TCGTCGGCAGCGTCAGATGTGTATAAGAGACAGCCTACGGGAGGCAGCAG
V ₃ V ₄ . Reverse	GTCTCGTGGGCTCGGAGATGTGTATAAGAGACAGGGACTACHVGGGTWTCTAAT

Post PCR, each of the samples was loaded (5µl) in a 1.5% Agarose gel and ran for 1hr at 70V with a 50bp hyperladder (Bioline) along with the positive control of known *S. aureus* and negative control of sterile PBS. Using the Sigma Aldrich Centricon-100 the amplicons were also purified. The Centricon-100 was set up per manufacturers manual and then 2mL deionized water was added into the column followed by the sample. The column was then spun at 1000 x g in a fixed-angle centrifuge for 10 minutes. The waste was removed, and a collection vial attached. The column was then inverted and span at 270 x g for 2 minutes. Deionized water was then added to the product to bring it back to the original volume of PCR fragments.

2.4 - Physiology of Porcine Lung tissue

2.4.1 - BAL Cytospin

A Giemsa stain was used to identify the cytoplasmic morphology of the BAL through the eosin binding to components such as the cytoplasm and granules whilst the methylene blue stains the nuclei and acts as a fixative which disallows further cellular changes and encourages adherence to the glass slide (Microbe Online, (2019). With a blank slide (Thermo Scientific[™] Frosted Microscope Slides, 45°) placed into the empty clamp of the Cytospin (Thermo Scientific Shandon), 50µl of sterile PBS was pipetted around the hole of the disposable Shandon cytofunnel (Thermo Scientific). The cytofunnel was then slotted into the clamp and placed into the Cytospin and 100µl of the BAL sample was added which was spun at 700 rpm for 5 mins. Once complete the samples were left briefly to dry and Giemsa stain (Sigma Aldrich) via the Lecia Autostainer was added. Table 4 highlights the protocol the samples were subjected to.

Table 2.4: Giemsa Satin Stages of which the BAL samples post cytospin were stained in the Lecia Autostainer (Lecia Biosystems).

	Stain/Dye	Time (seconds)
1	Eosin 1%	00:00:07
2	Sorensens pH 6.8	00:00:03
3	Methlene Blue	00:00:05
4	Sorensens pH 6.8	00:00:07

The slides were viewed through a light microscope at 4X/0.1 objective and images taken via an iPad connected to the microscope. The images were then analysed using the software GIMP (version 2.10.14 was used, <u>https://www.gimp.org/downloads/</u>). A histogram of the stained portions of slide was generated using the 'Fuzzy tool select' and percentage coverage could be calculated. This was to establish if the BAL samples were working as a method to detected cellular presence within the sample, as demonstrated in the Figure 2.2



Figure 2.2: Screenshot of Fuzzy select tool within the software GIMP of the BAL cytospin Giemsa-stained slide. The right identifies the histogram and pixel count. The areas of colour are defined by the black dashed lines.

2.4.2 - Fixing of tissue in wax

Using the dissection method as stated in the "2.2.2 Lung dissection" small sections of tissue were removed from the lungs. As aforementioned in "2.2.3 Optimisation of killing lung tissue", six viable pieces of tissue were placed in Paraformaldehyde/Saline at 4 °C for 48 hours and then rinsed with PBS and placed into new Eppendorf tubes in PBS at 4 °C overnight.

The tissue samples were then removed from the Eppendorf tubes and individually placed into slotted cassettes and into the Leica TP1020 tissue processor to fix the tissue in wax.

The samples were subjected to the conditions as shown in Table 2.5.

	Duration (mins)	Temperature (°C)
Solution (Sub-X Clearing Medium, Lecia Biosytsems)	60	Room Temperature (RT)
50% Alcohol (Ethanol)	60	RT
90% Alcohol (Ethanol)	60	RT
100% Alcohol (Ethanol)	60	RT
100% Alcohol (Ethanol)	60	RT
Histoclear (Lecia Biosytsems)	60	RT
Empty	0	RT
Wax	90	60
Wax	90	60

Table 2.5: Cycle stages the tissue was subjected to in the Lecia TP1020 Tissue Processor.

The samples were then removed from the final wax beaker and placed in the hot wax basket.

The tissue pieces were then removed from the cassettes and added to a plastic mould case and fully embedded in paraffin and allowed to harden. A lid was placed to secure the tissue piece from moving and left on a cooler block so that the wax could solidify. The cassette was then placed into the microtome and the tissue was sectioned in thin slices. The tissue sections were floated in a water bath of 30 °C and placed onto microscope slides where they were then left to dry on the heated block of 28 °C for 2hrs. Post this interval the slides were left to further dry overnight at RT.

2.4.3 - Hematoxylin and Eosin stain

The tissue samples were subjected to the protocol outlined in "2.4.2 Fixing of tissue in wax". The slides were then placed into the Lecia Autostainer and subjected to the protocol in table 6. The stain is preferential since it works well with a wide variety of fixatives and displays a broad range of cytoplasmic, nuclear, and extracellular matrix features with the Hematoxylin (Lecia Biosytsems) staining a deep blue, mainly targeting nucleic acids, whilst eosin stains pink and typically to the cytoplasm and various proteins (Fischer, Jacobson, Rose, & Zeller, 2008).

Step	Reagent	Duration	Exact	Dip
		(h:m:s)		
1	Oven station	00:13:30	No	No
2	Histoclear	00:05:00	No	Yes
3	Histoclear	00:05:00	No	Yes
4	Ethanol 100%	00:01:30	No	Yes
5	Ethanol 100%	00:01:30	No	Yes
6	Water station	00:01:00	No	No
7	Carazzi Haematoxylin	00:01:00	Yes	No
8	Water station	00:00:30	No	No
9	Water station	00:00:30	No	No
10	Eosin 1%	00:00:10	Yes	No
11	Water station	00:01:00	Yes	No
12	Ethanol 95%	00:01:00	Yes	Yes
13	Ethanol 100%	00:01:00	Yes	Yes
14	Histoclear	00:05:00	No	Yes

Table 2.6: Protocol steps used in the Lecia Autostainer on the three sections of *ex vivo* porcine lung tissue.

After the slides were removed from the output tray and left to dry overnight at RT. A blank cover slip was then dabbed with a small amount of the mounting agent DPX (p-Xylene-Bis-Pyridinium Bromide) (Thermo Fisher) and the slide was then placed onto the cover slip. The slides were then left to dry further for 2hrs at 18 °C. The slides were then individually examined under a microscope and the results can be seen in "3.2.2 Identification of structures in healthy BAL sample extracted from *ex vivo* porcine lung via Hematoxylin and Eosin staining".

2.4.4 - Giemsa stain

The tissue samples were subjected to the protocol as defined in "2.3.2 Fixing of tissue in wax" with the sections being stained via the stage's outlines in table 7. The benefits of a Giemsa stain have been highlighted in "2.4.1 BAL Cytospin".

Step	Reagent	Duration (h:m:s)	Exact	Dip
1	Oven station	00:13:30	No	No
2	Histoclear	00:05:00	No	Yes
3	Histoclear	00:05:00	No	Yes
4	Ethanol 100%	00:01:30	No	Yes
5	Ethanol 100%	00:01:30	No	Yes
6	Water station	00:01:00	No	No
7	Methanol	00:00:06	No	No
8	Eosin 1%	00:00:07	No	No
9	Sorensens pH 6.8	00:00:03	No	No
10	Methylene Blue	00:00:05	No	No
11	Sorensens pH 6.8	00:00:07	No	No

Table 2.7: Protocol steps used in the Lecia Autostainer on the sections of *ex vivo* porcine lung tissue for a Giemsa stain.

The slides were then left to dry, a cover slip added and then photographed under the microscope. The results of which can be seen in section '3.2 - Physiology'.

2.4.5 - Image analysis

The lesions on the lungs may have been caused by *M. hyopneumoniae* are phenotypically purply-grey and on the upper parts of the lobes (Ceva Lung Program, 2019). To determine the extent of the infection the below methodology was employed.

Image Analysis (IA) is a subjective method which facilitates the quantification of affected lung area (%) via a photograph of the lungs (Sibila, Aragón, Fraile, & Segalés, 2014) and using the corresponding software (in this study the software GIMP version 2.10.14 was used, <u>https://www.gimp.org/downloads/</u>). To calculate the affected percentage, the image of lung was saved and opened in the image manipulation program GIMP. The areas of discolouration were then selected as contiguous region based on colour using the 'Fuzzy select tool', detonated in Figure 2.3. Using the colour histogram, the number of pixels selected within the discoloured regions was recorded. Using the total number of pixels for each lobe a percentage was calculated as demonstrated in the equation below.

(Right lobe infected area + Left lobe infected area) ÷ Total lung area *100.

This method is adapted from the one proposed in the study by Sibila *et al.*, 2014.



Figure 2.3: On the left-hand side demonstrates the fuzzy tool selecting the diseased area of lung by the colouration. The image below demonstrates the selected area by removing the background. On the right is the fuzzy tool selection of the whole lung whilst below it is demonstrated in black and white.

The fuzzy select tool is an objective measurement of discolouration of the lung tissue. By looking at the black and white images within Figure 2.3 it also highlights the extreme

selectiveness of the tool as it has not included any background pixels which may have disordered the percentage calculated of discoloured tissue.

To analyse the prevalence of herd infection, around 30 animals should be assessed to provide a reliable measure of severity (Sibila *et al.*, 2009). Over the period from 28/08/2018-24/10/19 a total of 43 lungs were collected for this research. A total of 5 had to be discounted due to excessive lobe damage, demonstrated in Results section '3.1 Differentiation of healthy and damaged lungs'. Therefore, a total of 38 lungs were deemed healthy and therefore examined in the evaluation of potential herd infection with *M. hyopneumoniae*.

2.5 - Inoculation of porcine lung tissue with P. aeruginosa

2.5.1 - Understanding of optimal dilution factors of homogenised tissue.

Using the methodology described in "2.2.2 Lung dissection" sections of porcine lung tissue were excised. All tissue was then washed in ASM. Following this, 10 pieces of tissue from each lobe were placed individually into PBS (500 ul). The tissue was then placed into a heat block pre warmed to 70 °C for 10 mins. This has been determined as the optimal killing method despite not maintaining structural integrity for later histology. A further five pieces of "live" untreated tissue from each lobe were then inoculated with 5µl of a clinical VAP isolate of *P. aeruginosa* using a Hamilton's Syringe by gently pricking into the surface of the tissue, with a known diluted optical density (OD) of 0.2. The tissue was then cultured overnight in LB. Once the heat-treated tissue sections were removed from the heat block, five from each lobe were also inoculated under the same conditions. Using a premade 24 well plate with a set 500µl 0.8% Agarose/ASM nutrient agar bed filled with an additional 500µl of ASM, as described by Harrison et al (2014), five tissue pieces from each condition was added as described in Figure 2.4 and left in the CO₂ incubator at 37°C for an hour. To each well a 1/20 dilution of Ampicillin (concentration 50-100 microgram per ml) was added to suppress the host microbes since the VAP strain is known to be resistant at even the highest concentrations as documented by Harrison, Browning, Vos, & Buckling, (2006). This was evaluated by comparing the live and dead tissue colony growth counts to see if the use of the antibiotic had been successful. In column six there was no tissue added, simply 250µl more ASM to act as a negative control as displayed in Figure 2.4.



Figure 2.4: The 24 well plate plan identifying each of the four treatment conditions for the lung tissue alongside the negative control in column 6. Row 1 refers to time point 1- removal after 1hr, row 2 removal after 3 hr, row 3 removal after 6hr, row 4 removal after 18hr and row 5 removal after 24hr.

After the incubation period each segment from row 1 was removed and added to a 2mL microcentrifuge tubes with screw caps (Corning, Thermo Fisher) filled with 1mL sterile PBS and a singular sterile 6mm Diameter Grade 100 Hardened 52100 Chrome Steel Ball Bearing (Simply Bearings Ltd). The microcentrifuge tubes were then placed into the bead beater for 20 mins at a frequency of 30Hz. This time is common in collagen rich tissue samples such as lung tissue (Zelentsova, Yanshole, & Tsentalovich, 2019). From the now homogenised solution 100µl was removed and added to 9900µl of sterile PBS. This solution was then vortexed thoroughly and 20µl was removed and added to 180µl of PBS in a 96 well plate. This was repeated for all four of the conditions and both lobes. A dilution factor of 10^3 before beginning the 10-fold dilution series, ensuring to mix a minimum of five times before transferring to the next well.

From each of the dilutions 100µl was then added to an MHA plate and using an (Fisherbrand) L-Shaped Cell Spreaders a spread plate was generated. The colony growth was then analysed after 24hrs and a CFU per gram of tissue was calculated.

2.5.2 - Generation of bacterial growth curve on tissue

Using the results generated from "2.5.1 Understanding of optimal dilution factors of homogenised tissue" the methodology was refined so that the time points after incubation were: 8hrs, 18hrs, 24hrs and 30hrs. This is due to their being little to no evidence of VAP isolate growth in the first three time points of the previous experiment. The homogenate was then only diluted to 10⁻⁸ since there was little evidence of growth beyond this.

2.6 Genetic sequencing of BAL microbial content

2.6.1 DNA extraction

Part 1: DNA extraction

The lung was examined and identified as being in a visibly healthy state through checking for black-discolouration, excessive trauma or lacerations to the lobes, dryness or shrivelling of the tissue, swelling, and fibrinous exudate residing on the lung surface (Zuo *et al.*, 2012). Using the method described in "2.3 Bronchoalveolar lavage of porcine lung" found previously in this report, a BAL sample was extracted. A total of six lungs were used to retrieve BAL samples, from each lung the left and right lung were washed making twelve BAL samples in total. The left BAL samples were pooled into one. This was repeated for the right lobes, leaving two pooled samples extracted from six lungs.

To extract the host and microbial DNA the sample was ran through a DNEasy kit (QIAGEN) and then left at -18° C overnight. The samples are lysed with the proteinase K from the kit which avoids mechanical disruption. As a negative control sterile PBS was used and for a positive, *S. aureus* ran through the DNA extraction kit alongside the BAL samples.

Part 2: Library preparation for sequencing

The samples were then left to incubate at room temperature for 5 mins and then placed onto a magnetic stand (Thermo Fisher, DynaMag[™]-2 Magnet) for 2 mins. The supernatant was then discarded whilst leaving the tubes on the magnetic rack. The pellet was then washed with 200µl 80% ethanol and left to stand on the magnetic rack for 30 sec. The supernatant was then discarded. This process was repeated and in the final removal of supernatant a 10µl

pipette was used to ensure all ethanol had been removed and then were left dry for 10 mins on the rack.

To the PCR tubes 27.6µl of molecular water (Milipore Sigma) was added. Proper mixing was ensured by repeated pipetting to ensure beads are fully re suspended.

The samples were then incubated for 2 mins and placed again on the magnetic rack. From this 25μ l of the supernatant was removed and placed into a new PCR tube and the pellets were discarded. The samples were then stored at 4 °C overnight.

Index PCR:

A master mix of 500ul was made up of 80% My Taq Red (Sigma Aldrich) and 20% PCR grade water was formulated and then 35μ l was added to each sample.

The DNA was fragmented and tagged using sequencing adapters by adding 5µl of the Nextra XT Index 1 and 2 Primers (Illumina). The index primers were added to the sample to allow sequencing of several samples at the same time, after amplification of the target region.

The samples were then run through an Index PCR with the conditions as shown in Table 2.8.

Temperature (°C)	Hold Time (seconds)	
98	180	
89	30	Repeated 10 times
55	30	
72	30	
72	300	
4	300	

Table 2.8: PCR conditions for second PCR following the bead clean up.

The PCR products then underwent a second bead clean up following the procedure as aforementioned which will from hereon be considered the standard protocol for a 'bead clean up'.

Library Quantification- Qubit:

Using the Qubit[™] dsDNA HS Assay Kit (Thermo Fisher) the genomic library of the samples was assessed, as explained below.

Using the working solution provided in the kit the two Standard buffers were produced (190 μ l working buffer; and 10 μ l Standard). Standard 1 has an extremely low DNA concentration and Standard 2 an extremely high concentration to generate a curve for the samples tested to be compared to.

The quantity of dsDNA in each sample was then measured by making a mix of the sample and working buffer and using the standards as a scale (198 μ l working solution: 2 μ l sample). All samples were vortexed sufficiently before reading. This data allows for further calculations to equal the concentrations of DNA between each sample by diluting each sample to the lowest concentration, ideally being no lower than 2ng/ μ l and no higher than 2ng/ μ l. This created a 'working pool' of the samples.

Tape Station: Quality control and quantification of DNA libraries

After allowing the tape station reagents and the tape (Agilent) to come to room temperature (Agilent) for at least 30 mins, 1µl of each of the libraries, including the negative and positive controls, were added to individual wells of an 8-strip. To each tube 3µl of sample buffer was added, and vortexed for 60sec and briefly spun down. The tubes were then placed in the Tape Station holder and the tip rack filled. Using the TapeStation controller software on the computer, the appropriate number of wells was selected, and the samples named in the corresponding table. The run was then initiated, and the results analysed within the Electropherogram section. Traces of primer dimer and or nonspecific binding were checked for in each sample, and only if not present in the samples was the experiment continued. If there was presence of said issues, a further bead-clean up and PCR was completed, and the Tape Station repeated until the issue was resolved.

Library/PhiX denaturing and dilution- Preparation:

A Miseq reagent cartridge was defrosted in a tub of water whilst the hybridization buffer (HT1) and the control library (PhiX) were defrosted on ice.

The working pool was then diluted to 4nM with molecular H₂O. The pool was then denatured further to 1:20pM using 0.2N NaOH and 990µL HT1. This mixture was then vortexed, centrifuged and incubated at 23 °C for 5 mins.

The library was then diluted further to 12.5pM.

The PhiX library was then denatured and diluted to 4nM. Using the 10nM PhiX library stock (40%) and molecular H_2O (60%) a 5µL solution was prepared. This was then vortexed and centrifuged. This library was then diluted further to 1:20pM via the addition of 0.2N NaOH and 990µL HT1.

The PhiX library (120µL) was then combined with the denatured pool (480µL) and was inverted to mix. The sample was then kept on ice until ready to load into cassette. Making sure wash has been done prior, the machine was re started and the chip was removed and rinsed ensuring it was streak and lint free. A sequinning run was then commenced, and the outputted data was collated from the Illumina sequencer was then analysed through RStudio (RStudio Inc version 3.5.1).

2.7 - Statistical analysis

A two-way ANOVA was used to identify the degree of variation between the different groups. The standard deviation is presented by the bars and the value of *P* to indicate significance was 0.05.

3. RESULTS

3.1 - Differentiation of healthy and damaged lungs

Surplus porcine abattoir tissue was used to establish a modified *ex vivo* lung model for the investigation of host-microbe interactions relevant to VAP. The principle of this was to establish to what extent the 'host' interacts with the microbes that are associated with VAP and if this reaction could be quantifiable. Initial gross assessment of lung viability was required prior to dissection. Figures 3.1, 3.2 and 3.3 demonstrate what is defined by 'healthy lungs' within this study as they demonstrate consistent healthy colouring, have little to no damage to the lobes. Figures 3.4 what a 'damaged lung' is within this experiment, this is due to discolouration and external damage caused by removal. A general assessment was made of each lung to assess health and condition of the lung before any experiments occurred.



Figure 3.1: An image of the anterior face of the lungs with the labelling of the larynx, trachea, and apical lobes. The overall analysis of the lung is that this is a healthy specimen and shows little to no damage on the lobes or respiratory tract. There is no evidence of discolouration or drying out of the lobes.



Figure 3.2: A further dissection of the right lobe of the above lung in figure 9 to demonstrate the health of the tissue continued sub-dermally. There is no sign of discolouration or tissue damage.



Figure 3.3: Image of the posterior face of the lungs with the main bronchus, heart, pleura and diaphragmatic lobe labelled. Again, the overall analysis of this lung is healthy and used as the standard in all experiments within this study.

However, not all lungs arrived in the conditions as described above. Figure 3.4 demonstrates the appearance of a lung subjected to severe damage. This is comprised of missing lobes and lacerations which have occurred post removal from the pig. Due to this this specific set is unfit for a BAL sample. It also excluded this set from the epidemiological analysis of the prevalence of *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* since there cannot be a reliable percentage of total lung infection recorded. This is especially notable as the lobes of the lungs have different weightings in terms of the infection density (Garcia-Morante *et al.*, 2016). However, the tissue from the left lobe was deemed fit to be used for experimentation.



Figure 3.4: An image of what a lung which would be considered 'damaged lung' within this study. It is missing the right lobe and has a deep laceration (circled) within the left lobe. Despite the damage the remaining lobe is visually healthy due to the colouration and moisture retention.

3.1.2 - Optimisation of inducing *ex vivo* porcine lung tissue death

The impact of host viability was investigated to further the understanding of the interactions between the porcine host and the later added microbes to generate a model that can be extrapolated to human cases of VAP. The metabolism of the dissected *ex vivo* lung tissue was measured via resazurin fluorescence (in section 2.2.3 Optimisation of killing lung tissue) to establish cell viability over time and to make comparisons between the different conditions
that the tissue was subjected to: live; heat killed and cold killed. The results of which can be seen figure 3.5.

There was a significant difference between heat killed and live tissue viability for the first three hours. This is suggestive that as a method of lung tissue killing, heat is the best and most effective method. At the three-hour point there is no significant difference between cold killed and live tissue suggesting that the cold killed tissue is not dead and still viable at this point. Further reinforced by there being a significant difference between the heat killed and cold killed at the same time point.

After 18 hours there is no significant difference between live and any of the killed tissue readings, which is applicable for the latter reading at 24hrs, suggesting the tissue was no longer viable after 6hrs. There is a general trend for all conditions to have lower metabolic activity during the latter stages of the experiment than at the beginning suggesting there is a decrease in metabolic activity over time.



Figure 3.5: Metabolic activity of excised *ex vivo* porcine lung tissue measured by fluorescence of Resazurin read at wavelengths Ex/Em 560/590nm to evaluate methods of killing the tissue.

The statistical analysis of this data was a 2 way- ANOVA as a comparison of multiple analysis. The Tukey's test was applied.

3.1.3 - Detection of extant microbiota within BAL samples

BAL samples were prepared from the lungs of abattoir-grade pigs as described in section '2.3. Bronchoalveolar lavage of porcine lung'. Briefly, fluid was flushed into the lungs and then extracted using a mini-BAL sampling catheter, this fluid was then analysed to determine whether the isolates contained bacteria and if so what species. A PCR was performed using 16S amplicon sequencing with primer sets of V_1V_2 and V_3V_4 as described in PCR amplification of 16SrRNA gene from BAL samples. Figure 3.6 demonstrates that there are bacteria present in two different BAL samples taken from two different animals. The wells from 3-6 are 16S rRNA amplicons of the V1-V2 region from two BAL samples from two different lungs, wells 12-15 is the same BAL samples but run with the V_2V_3 primer set. The primers, V_1V_2 appear to be more complimentary to the bacterial DNA present within the BAL samples since in all four samples there are bands present whereas with the V_3V_4 only two samples have visible bands.

Wells 7,10, 16 and 17 contain the alveolar tissue and display three similar band widths in both samples. The weight is unclear since the Hyperladder did not run well, it is not the same as well 8 or 18 so it can be assumed to not be *S. aureus*, but this needs further research. Well 9 and 19 had sterile PBS however since there are bands present on the AGE it is assumed the sample was corrupted and was no longer sterile at the point of testing. This was not able to be repeated and therefore contamination of the other samples cannot be definitively ruled out.



Figure 3.6: Detection of extant microbiota in pig lung. The 25bp Hyperladder in wells 1 and 20, a blank in well 2 and 11. The samples in wells 3-10 have had the V_1V_2 primers of the 16S rRNA gene and the samples in wells 12-19 have had V_2V_3 . In wells 3 and 4 is the BAL sample from lung 1, wells 5 and 6 the BAL samples from Lung 2. In well 7 is the alveolar Tissue sample 2. In well 8 is the positive control of *S. aureus* bacterium and well 9 is the sterile PBS as a negative control. In well 10 is the Tissue sample 1. In wells 12 and 13 are BAL sample from lung 1, wells 14 and 15 the BAL samples from Lung 2. In wells 16 and 17 are the tissue samples from lung 1 and 2. In well 18 is the positive control of *S. aureus* bacterium and well 19 is the sterile PBS as a negative control.

3.2 - Physiology

Via tissue analysis of healthy porcine lungs, the structure and key components can be identified and then used as a control to compare to in instances of disease. These differences can highlight the changes brought about by the disease and can then be targeted by therapeutic devices.

3.2.1 Cells present in BAL sample extracted from *ex vivo* porcine lung analysed via cytospin Samples of BAL extracted as defined in the Materials and Methods section '2.4.1 BAL Cytospin' were prepared for histological staining to investigate the cells present within a healthy porcine BAL sample. Figure 3.7 demonstrate representative images of BAL cytospins stained with Giemsa to differentiate nuclear and cytoplasmic morphology of the various blood components like platelets, red blood cells and white blood cells, such as marginated neutrophils, monocytes, and lymphocytes which were present within the sample.



Figure 3.7: Detection of host's cells within BAL sample *of sus scrofa*. Cytospin samples of BALs were stained using Giesma stain and the percentage staining calculated using GIMP (version 2.10.14) package.

A - This representative BAL sample was taken at the objective power of 4X/0.1 and total percentage stain colouration calculated as 15%. The colouring would indicate the stained cells are most likely nuclei of host cell or white blood cells, such as marginated neutrophils, monocytes, and lymphocytes or platelets.

B - Giemsa staining of BAL cytospin with the objective power of 4X/0.1. The total stain percentage was calculated to be 47%. The yellow circles highlight areas where there may be a build-up of multiple layers of cells, so the colour is darker and individual feature are unidentifiable. The primary feature appears to be commonly found within the cytoplasm of porcine lungs.

C - Giemsa stain of extracted BAL sample after cytospin at the objective power of 4X/0.1. Calculated stained percentage of slide was 15%. However, the large clusters and darker colours indicate a lack of separation when spun and may be a disproportionate representation of the cells within the BAL sample. Since there is a mass of overlaying colours it is difficult to distinguish individual features.

Of the 13 total cytospin stains the average percentage covering was 30% and were most similar visually to B within figure 15. The most common colours within all the stains are dark purple, pale blue and violet. The dark purple may be nuclei of host cell or white blood cells. The pale blue potentially the cytoplasm of the porcine host, whilst the violet/purple may represent platelets. Specific protein immunochemistry and immunofluorescence assays, such as the CD-45 receptor found on most white blood cells (Inamura, 2018) could be performed to confirm the staining results in future experiments

3.2.2 - Identification of structures in healthy BAL sample extracted from *ex vivo* porcine lung via Hematoxylin and Eosin staining

Presently most tissue sections are treated with Haematoxylin and Eosin (H&E) (Titford, & Bowman, 2012; Bancroft, & Layton, 2013; Alturkistani, Tashkandi, & Mohammedsaleh, 2016). Over the years there has been little changes to the stain since it exhibits a broad array of features and works well with numerous fixatives, so much so it is often considered the 'gold standard' of medical diagnosis (St. Michael's hospital protocols, 2019). H&E stain can identify several features of tissue by the colours identified since the cytoplasm and the extracellular matrix is stained in varying shades of red whereas the nuclei are blue (Dettmeyer, 2011). The common features of lung tissue include the bronchi, bronchioles, and the pulmonary alveoli, which enable gas exchange (Zhou, & Moore, 2017) as demonstrated in Figure 3.8.



Figure 3.8: Hematoxylin and Eosin stains of excised *ex vivo* porcine lung tissue to identify the components within the tissue in a heathy state.

A - Clear section that demonstrates the healthy structures found within the porcine *ex vivo* lung tissue such as the Bronchioles (Br); Blood vessels (Bv) and Air sacs at an objective magnification power of 100X/0.1 with a light microscope.

B -Tissue section at an objective magnification power of 100X/0.1 with a light microscope. The majority is made up of extracellular matrix (circled)and nuclei (N).

C -Tissue section of the pleura(PI) at an objective magnification power of 100X/0.1 with a light microscope.

3.2.3 Comparative method into identification of structures in healthy BAL sample extracted from ex vivo porcine lung via giemsa staining.

Giemsa staining originally developed by Dimitri Romanowsky in 1981 with its popularity rising due to the ability to stain in multiple colours and ability therefore to identify blood parasites, for which it is still used today (Alturkistani, Tashkandi, & Mohammedsaleh, 2016). Since then, the stain has been greatly modified to make it more applicable to various fixation methods (Musumeci, 2014). In this study it was primarily used to act as a comparison to H&E staining (in section 3.2.2) since the same piece of tissue was sectioned multiple times so that it was as similar as possible when comparing the two stains.

Sections of wax embedded lung tissue were stained with Giemsa as in section. This allowed for clear visualisation of the alveolar sac as demonstrated in Figure 3.9.



Figure 3.9: Sections of Lung tissue take from *ex vivo* porcine lung tissue and stained with Giemsa and were examined by light microscopy at various objective powers.

A - Objective power of 4X/0.1. The circled area highlights the air sacs, stained blue, which are intact and demonstrate lung health since there is no indication of damage or a desegregation of the sacs. Thus, demonstrating that the sectioning technique does not damage the structural integrity of the tissue.

B - Objective power of 4X/0.1 primarily showing the surrounding cytoplasm (pink) more so than the air sacs.

C - Objective power of 10X/0.25 mainly identifying eosinophils (circled)were present within the air sac of the alveolar. However, there is clearly wax still present on the slide making it difficult to clearly distinguish the stained features within the tissue.

3.2.4 - Prevalence of *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* infection within the lungs acquired Discoloured lesions were identified on the surface of the alveolar lung tissue which could potentially be due to bacterial infection caused by a variety of pathogenic bacteria but most commonly due to *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* (Garcia-Morante *et al.*, 2017). This discoloration was evident in some of the lungs as demonstrated in Figures 3.10 and 3.11. Pigs infected with the pathogen commonly experience damage to their mucosal clearance system, modulation of the immune system and leaves the animal more vulnerable to other respiratory tract infections since the pathogen adheres to the ciliated epithelium of the trachea, bronchi, and bronchioles stopping rapid clearance of the pathogen from the respiratory tract (Maes ET AL., 2021). But the extent of which the damage the infection does to pulmonary function is very poorly characterised and demands further research (Summerfield, 2020).



Figure 3.10: Image of the gross anatomy of *ex vivo* porcine lungs. Discolouration of lung tissue, believed to be caused by *M. hyopneumoniae*, is indicated with the circles. These lungs were discarded and not included within the analyses.

Figure 3.11 is an enlargement and focused view of the lesion in Figure 3.10.



Figure 3.11: An up-close assessment of *ex vivo* porcine lungs from the abattoir. The area was located within the diaphragmatic lobe and has spread slightly into the apical lobes. The area is overall very small and takes up a marginal portion of the lung tissue.

The total prevalence of the possible herd infection can be seen in Table 3.1 where an evaluation of all lungs received was collated.

Table	3.1:	Data	collated	to	present	the	total	potentially	infected	lesions	from	М.
hyopneumoniae, on the ex vivo porcine lungs received of the course of the experiment.												

Total Received	43
Discounted due to injury	5
Total Examined	38
Total % Infected	10.5
Average % of lesion coverage	6.71
Location of Lesion	75% Apical lobes
	25% Diaphragmatic lobes

Overall, of the lungs included with the assessment just above 10% (total 4) had lesions which could be due to *M. hyopneumoniae*. Of the potentially infected the average percentage size of the lesion(s) was 6.71 % of the total pulmonary tissue area. Despite the presence of some slight discolouration as demonstrated in figures 3.10 and 3.11 the overall assessment of the lung is that it is healthy as the discolouration spans less than 10% of the total area of tissue and was avoided when dissecting sections of alveolar tissue. A histological comparison of the diseased tissue compared to the live tissue would be required in future testing to help understand further the clinical effects of the pathogen on respiratory function.

3.2.5 Proliferation of bacteria on *ex vivo* porcine lung tissue

By having established the optimum way to effectively kill *ex vivo* porcine lung tissue previously in this study, a comparable control of dead vs live tissue was able to be implemented when measuring the proliferation of the VAP clinical isolate on the excised lung tissue. The tissue was co cultured with the isolate after inoculation to establish the growth curve. To make sure it was the most accurate representation of solely VAP growth, the antibiotic Ampicillin was added since most VAP isolates are known to be resistant, however, it is of note an MIC was not done by this author on the isolate, this may also help reduce any chance of contaminating from influencing the growth of the isolate. After determining the optimal dilution range for the homogenised *ex vivo* porcine tissue, by measuring growth of the VAP isolate at various dilutions, the CFU/mI was calculated at the stated time intervals. The curves were generated for both 'dead' and 'live' tissue sections. The results of which can be seen in figure 1.12 and figure 1.13.

In figure 1.12 demonstrating the growth on heat killed tissue, the CFU/ml of the tissue demonstrates no growth for the first three time point intervals however, at the 24hr reading there is evidence of growth which increases when recorded again at the 30hr point. This is suggestive of the bacteria having a relatively long lag phase of 18rhs. The mean CFU for the heat killed tissue, no inoculum, at the 24hr point is $2x10^{10}$ which in comparison to the live tissue (not inoculated) which is $5x10^{10}$. These CFU counts present clear evidence that there is more bacterial growth on the live tissue than dead, suggesting that the killing method was successful in removing the original host biome.

The growth was at a steady rate and relatively linear. This tissue was not inoculated with VAP, so the growth is likely to be residual host microbiota which is also resistant to the added ampicillin or contamination from the extraction and homogenisation process. Further sequencing would be required to eliminate this possibility. This could be further examined in the future by using selective agars and gene specific PCRs.

Considerable difference in CFU was observed between inoculated live and dead tissue. After the 8hr point where no growth was recorded to the next time interval of 18hr there was a sharp increase in bacterial growth. Then again from the 18hr to the 24hr point there is a further steep increase in gradient suggesting the bacteria was in the exponential phase. The growth rate then falls just as sharply as it had risen between time points 24hr to 30hr suggesting the bacteria has entered the death phase. This may be due to a finite number of mineral resources supplied by the excised tissue causing bacterial starvation.



Figure 3.12: Comparative growth curve of heat killed *ex vivo* porcine lung tissue and heat killed *ex vivo* tissue inoculated with the clinical VAP isolate (Heat killed + VAP) with an inoculum 0D of 0.2 and CFU/ml of 1x106. The bacterial growth was measured at the set time points and recorded indicating there is more growth on the inoculated killed tissue than that of the killed tissue alone.

The results for the live tissue can be seen in figure 3.13 Both conditions were relatively similar after the 8hr time interval both with minimal growth recorded. However, between the 8hr to

the 18hr time point the live tissue with the VAP inoculum has a rapid and sharp increase in reported bacterial growth. This is in vast difference to the live tissue that was not inoculated which whilst does have an increase in growth of 10^9, it is minimal in comparison. Therefore, the inoculated tissue has bacterium that are rapidly proliferating in the exponential phase whereas the live tissue on its own is at a far slower rate. From the 18hr point to the 24hr time point the inoculated tissue enters a slight decline in growth.



Figure 3.13: Growth curve generated via CFU/ml over time for live tissue and live tissue inoculated with the VAP clinical isolate at an OD of 0.2 and CFU/ml of $1x10^6$ (Live + VAP). The bacterial growth was measured at the set time points and recorded indicating there is more growth on the inoculated live tissue than that of the live tissue alone.

The opposite occurs in the live tissue alone since there is a continual rise in growth of a relatively steep incline. However, this rate of growth desists, and the bacterial growth demonstrates a steep decline as it enters the death phase from the 24hr point to the 30hr. This is interestingly the opposite of what is happening with the inoculated tissue which is expressing a rise in bacterial colonies from the 24hr to the 30hr point. Whilst the results are not expressing as perfectly horizontal growth curve the bacterium may be in the stationary

phase between 18hr to 30hr on the Live +VAP condition since there is only a small change in the gradient of the curve over this time.

When extrapolating the information from figures 3.11 and 3.12 both growth curves indicate that there is a far greater amount of bacterial growth in the inoculated sections of tissue than the non-inoculated tissue in both the live and dead conditions. When comparing the non-inoculated live and dead tissue it is evident that the live tissue has a steeper initial gradient and more rapid proliferation stage at the first few recorded time intervals than the heat killed tissue, but then rapidly falls from the 24hr to 30hr time interval. The dead tissue has a far more gradual and slower proliferation stage but appears to constantly rise across all the time points. However, at the 30hr point the end growth CFU/ml recorded is not vastly different for the heat killed and live tissue.

Regarding the inoculated tissue in both the live and dead tissue conditions there are also these similarities and differences presented in the data. Within the heat killed and inoculated lung tissue, the bacterial growth appears to go straight from the steep exponential phase straight into the death phase. The live tissue that is inoculated appears to present a more gradual exponential phase but then transitions into a stationary phase towards the latter time intervals. However, again the end points after 30hrs are not too dissimilar.

3.3 - DNA extraction and sequencing of ex vivo porcine lung tissue

The 16S rRNA profiles of microbial communities from the pooled BAL demonstrated in figure 3.14. As aforementioned six lungs were used, from each the left and right lobes were washed. These samples (left and right) were then pooled together to make two test samples. This is to save cost and to gather a more general idea of what the normal constituents of the porcine lung microbial community. It also increases the sample size which makes the data more replicable. There are many common bacteria shared by both BAL pooled samples, but the primary shared bacterium being *Caloramator, Anoxybacillus* and *Flavobacterium*.



Figure 3.14: The abundance of bacterial genus's present in pooled homogenised *ex vivo* porcine lung BAL samples sequenced via Illumina technologies. BAL-R refers to the pooled samples from the right lobe. BAL-L refers to the pooled samples from the left lobes of the six lungs that underwent the BAL process.

There is very little β - diversity demonstrated in figure 3.14 however, there is a high level of α diversity since there are thirteen different phyla identified within the pooled BAL samples. This aligns with the current beliefs in research that high levels of α -diversity are indicative of lung health whereas low levels of α -diversity and high levels of β - diversity is indicative of a pathology of some sort, be it a bacterial infection or viral (Segal et al., 2013).

4. DISCUSSION

The aim of this study was to develop the previously established *ex vivo* porcine lung model into a modified version to facilitate the investigation of host-microbe interactions relevant to VAP. The pig was used since they have vastly similar immune responses and anatomy to that of humans (Li Bassi *et al.*, 2014). In developing this model, the optimisation of killing the *ex vivo* lung tissue was established. A functional method of obtaining a BAL sample from the *ex vivo* porcine lungs was developed. Via tissue histology the structures present in sections of the *ex vivo* porcine lung tissue was reported alongside an investigation into the growth of a clinical VAP isolate on the excised tissue.

Whilst collecting data for this study an internal unexpected branch of research developed as to investigate the prevalence of a potential *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* (*M. hyopneumoniae*) infection within the porcine lungs was identified. Since this was not necessarily an aim of this study other than reporting the initial findings, little was done in terms of exploratory research. However, this would be an interesting avenue to pursue for those looking to take this developmental model further in future research projects. The diseased lungs were not included in the primary experiment since it was unknown if the immune markers may be different to that of healthy lungs, which is also a further avenue of future exploration.

There are several elements as to why the microbiology of VAP is important, such as the ability to make a better-informed diagnosis of the patient, to provide information about the current AMR status and the microbes causing pathogenesis, whilst also being able to guide VAP prevention efforts to reduce the negative impacts of the disease (Park, 2005). Despite there being a great amount of research into the host microbiome and the pathogens that cause disease, there is little research on how these two elements are linked and how they interact in cases of disease. This is partly because there are so many variables involved which makes a holistic study difficult to singular out the cause and consequence of the applied variables.

There is also an issue that even the organisms that are normally commensal within the host are the causative agent for less than half the reported cases indicating the degree of variation in pathogenic organisms. This variety is part of the reason treatment strategies for VAP are so convoluted as each have their own individual methods of pathogenesis to the host (Akter, S., Khatun, R., & S.M Shamsuzzaman, 2015). These mechanisms must mute the hosts microbial defences for the pathogen to establish itself and cause VAP (Bonten, Kollef, & Hall, 2004).

In initial VAP research, primates were used due to their incredible likeness to the human immune system (Pulido, Burgos, Luna, & Morato, 2017). However, there are strict restrictions when working with primates such as the substantial cost of upkeep and specialized equipment needed (Harrison *et al.*, 2014). Another avenue that has been investigated is using live invertebrate models instead of mammals (Harrison, Browning, Vos, & Buckling, 2006; Brackman, Cos, Maes, Nelis, & Coenye, 2011). The benefits being that the experimental design is simple, low cost and bares far less ethical constraints however, the model itself is severely lacking in similarities with its human counterpart and their limited life spans also add extra time constraints to the research (Harrison *et al.*, 2014). Overall, it was concluded as an ineffective way to study human diseases in the case of VAP due to the lack of transferability which is why most of the research has moved onto smaller mammals such as pigs and mice.

This study used *ex vivo* porcine lungs to study the host-microbe interactions to VAP. There are negatives within this avenue of research such as the loss of a more systemic and holistic view of VAP as it would be in a patient however, the specific pathophysiology caused by independent variables can be isolated and observed. This is a benefit for establishing cause and effect of specific components of VAP. Porcine organs also share great a deal of similarity in; anatomy and the organization of an amounted response to disease, as recent research suggests a similarity of up to 80% between pigs and humans which is incredibly high when in comparison to mice which share only a 10% similarity, (Dawson *et al.*, 2013) thus allowing for more translational data when using pigs in research. The porcine lung model can also be used to study a variety of respiratory diseases as well as VAP such as cystic fibrosis (Harrison *et al.*, 2014) and other respiratory bacterial infections (Dumigan *et al.*, 2019). The ability for the porcine lung models to be so multifaceted is what makes them such excellent research tools.

The similarity between the porcine organs and immune system is imperative as it allows the data to be translational and is more likely to be applicable to clinicians dealing with patients with VAP. For research to progress to clinical trials, commonly referred to as 'from bench to bedside', it may take from ten to fifteen years to go through all three clinical trial phases

before the treatment can be licenced (Cancer Research UK, 2019). The ability to make frequent explorations and investigations with little cost or resource drainage via the porcine lung model means that multiple avenues can be explored quickly narrowing down what is successful and should be put forward for future trials.

With the lung tissue there are several established methods of killing extracted tissue that have been explored within popular research, most commonly by subjecting the tissue to extreme temperatures. Previous studies that investigated heat killing identified that after just one minute at 45-50 °C cell viability plummeted from around 90% to just 20% (Franco, Kothare, Ronan, Grekin, & McCalmont, 2010). In comparison, the advantages of subjecting the tissue to extreme cold via liquid nitrogen, is the ability for it to be stored and transported in a non-pressurized container allowing research to be conducted in the regular laboratory room, with no extra costs or provisions required (Nomori, Yamazaki, Kondo, & Kanno, 2017). The viability of the tissue was measured via resazurin fluorescence, which is reduced by metabolically active cells to resorufin, which is fluorescent therefore, the amount of fluorescence produced is correlated to the quantity of viable cells existing (Van Den Driessche, Rigole, Brackman, & Coenye, 2014).

Within this research, the optimisation of killing lung tissue was established using resazurin. The data identified that heat killing tissue was more successful compared with cold killing at early timepoints. However, it is of note that whilst heat may significantly reduce the viability of the tissue in comparison to live tissue, it also degrades the structural integrity of the tissue. This then makes histology impossible and is therefore useless regarding sectioning or staining in latter experiments. Whereas the cold killed tissue retains structural integrity and is metabolically significantly different to the live tissue, suggesting it has been killed. Work must now continue to identify a compromise where viability is impaired, whilst still maintaining usability for further investigations. Throughout this experiment cold freezing killing was used since it preserves the tissue for latter histology.

At the latter time points, tissue viability increases in all conditions. It is unlikely that this is due to tissue recovery, but maybe the result of growth from an opportunistic bacterium which is thriving on the decomposing tissue and/or the media itself (Shi, Mi, Wang, & Webster, 2019). However, the nutrients provided by the media and the tissue is a finite source and the

bacterium may be beginning to starve and be reducing in numbers thus explaining the varied viability results after 24hrs. This is important regarding VAP research as any bacterial components being measured after the 24hr mark may no longer solely be related to VAP and may be in fact be a by-product of the research that is unrelated to VAP in a clinical setting. This is important to be aware of to those looking to extend this research further.

Overall, the results suggest that both heat killing and cold killing are successful methods of killing lung tissue. The benefit of cold killing in comparison to heat is the ability for the tissue to remain structurally intact for future testing and therefore was used as the method for killing lung tissue throughout this experiment.

Optimising the method of killing the tissue was an important stage in the development of this model as it acts as a negative control and a comparison to the live tissue. By comparing the reactions caused in live tissue to dead it isolates the 'host' factor in the research. If the response does not happen in dead tissue but does in live, then the research can focus on specifically what is happening within the live tissue to make this difference. This is important to the patient suffering from VAP as theoretically due to the similarities between porcine and human pulmonary systems a response in one may be reflected in the other. Then once the response has been isolated it can be investigated what the host does to the bacterial component specifically. These responses are the focus of this research and the development of this model to better understand these interactions to be able to apply them to a clinical setting eventually.

Due to the relatively new discovery that the lungs are not in fact sterile as once believed the research into the lung biome is comparatively lacking to that of other areas within the body (Morris & Flores, 2017). Recent studies into the pulmonary microbiome have established that changes in the lower respiratory tract microbiota can be associated with disease (Pragman, Kim, Reilly, Wendt, & Isaacson, 2015). Bacterial diversity is commonly associated with health, and it is of considerable note that in 83% of patient's diversity decreased over the course of intubation, with dysbiosis being more significant in those who developed VAP (Zakharkina *et al.*, 2017). The length of the ventilatory period was directionally proportional to the α diversity of the microbiome of the LRT (Zakharkina *et al.*, 2017).

In current clinical VAP cases, through the analysis of BAL samples, it has been identified that those with microbiologically conformed VAP have a higher bacterial load than those without VAP.-(Huebinger *et al.*, 2018). However, there is very little data on the porcine lung biome therefore, within this research it was investigated further using BAL sample techniques. This study used the Halyard Mini-Bal Sampling Catheter (Halyard Health) to obtain BAL samples. This catheter worked well within the excised lungs and is available for use within clinical settings. Thus, reducing the distance between this research and that regularly performed on humans.

By understanding the healthy pig lung biome, the effect of adding the clinical VAP isolate can be observed on tissue extracts bathed in BAL fluids. The level of microbial dysbiosis within the lungs can be observed in correlation to the bacterial load of clinical isolate inoculated into the lungs. Since they are excised, the lungs would have to be placed into a simulated *in vitro* environment to do a longitudinal study over the course of several days. This was not feasibly possible for this research study but would be interesting and more clinically relevant to be explored in the future. The use of pre-emptive therapies can also be tested, for example by knowing the main bacteria of the biome specific probiotics could be administered and their effect monitored when the lungs are later intubated (O'Dwyer, Dickson & Moore, 2017). This would be especially relevant to health care workers as if they know a patient is going to be intubated these pre-emptive therapies could be applied relatively easily and have great potential. This is an avenue of research which should be investigated in the future.

Following on from this the effect of commonly given antibiotics that patients receive could also be studied within the lungs. Whilst there are differences in the biomes there are also conserved bacteria The level of dysbiosis when VAP isolates are introduced alongside antibiotics would be clinically relevant. There may be different combinations of antibiotics which cause less dysbiosis which could be discovered by repeated testing using this model.

The conclusions of the BAL samples indicated that *S. aureus* was present within the sample. Commonly *S. aureus* strains are isolated from the nasal cavity of healthy pigs and within the trachea rather than the lungs (Moodley *et al.*, 2012). The finding of *S. aureus* strains within the lung is rare as the most common bacterium within the porcine are *Methylotenera*, *Prevotella*, *Sphingobium* and *Lactobacillus* (Huang *et al.*, 2019). Therefore, the *S. aureus* may have potentially been introduced from the catheter as it was brought down the trachea rather than residing within the lung. This is of note as many cases of VAP have been associated with displaced oral bacteria that are foreign to the lung biome (Marik, 2001). When looking at other research examining the pig microbiome there are few similarities in what their research presents and this study, this may be due to such a small sample size within this but also it is of note that the quantity of literature available is very limited, alongside most studies only highlighting around six phyla for pig biomes whereas human biomes have around fifty categorised phyla (Huebinger et al., 2018 &Huang et al., 2018). This demonstrates how much more research needs to be done to establish a well published porcine lung biome for further research.

The displacement of oral bacteria is clinically relevant as it is believed to be a primary cause for VAP in intubated patients (Sands *et al.*, 2016). By discovering that this is potentially happening in the *ex vivo* model not only further highlights the similarities between the model and patient cases, but once again allows for this occurrence to be studied and prevention strategies tested. For example, after changing factors of inserting the ETT the presence of *S. aureus* could then be tested, if the bacterium was not present the relocating of oral/tracheal bacterium was potentially ceased. This would be of clinical relevance as it may reduce the cases of VAP dramatically.

An agarose gel electrophoresis was used to separate the mixed population of macromolecules, such as DNA or proteins in a matrix of agarose, was used to identify the bacteria present in the BAL sample. AGE is a very simplistic approach and therefore further testing is required to identify all the species within the samples rather than just that of the control. Within this study a genetic sequencing was run on the BAL samples.

The benefits of using polymerase chain reaction (PCR) are that it is a simple procedure which generates results promptly and with a high degree of specificity (Garibyan & Avashia, 2014). However, the simplicity of PCR can potentially be its downfall since even trace amounts of DNA can result in false readings, whilst being limited to only be able to identify known genes through specific primers (Smith, & Osborn, 2009). A further limitation relating to the use of primers is the possibility for primers to anneal to sequences that are like that of the target

DNA, whilst sometimes annealing to themselves phrased 'primer dimer' causing a replication of non-target sequences (Garibyan & Avashia, 2014).

The samples were also subjected to the Qubit and a Nanodrop to identify if there was enough DNA for sequencing. The advantages of using a Nanodrop are the rapid turnaround time of 10 seconds for results, the small quantity (1 μ I) of only sample needed, the large rage of ng/ μ I recorded whilst also avoiding the use of cuvettes and need for diluting samples (DNA Technologies Core, 2018).

Within clinical settings the microbial composition of BAL samples is frequently characterised by 16S rRNA gene sequencing, therefore this study follows similar procedures (Huebinger *et al.*, 2013; Ying *et al.*, 2019). The most abundant bacteria found within this study was *Caloramator*, there is no evidence to suggest this is a normal lung microbe which suggest it is either a residual affect from pulmonary aspiration of contaminated water sources that contained this bacterium (Ogg & Patel, 2009), or it is a contaminate from the sampling technique. These methods allow for longer base sequences of DNA to be identified and are ideal for the specific bacterial isolation and identification within clinical settings (Huebinger *et al.*, 2013). They also allow for the identification of individual species from mixed samples at an extremely high rate of sensitivity whilst maintaining a low cost, especially compared to that of previous methods (Hamady, Walker, Harris, Gold, & Knight, 2008).

From the results in section '3.3 DNA extraction and sequencing of *ex vivo* porcine lung tissue' many of the bacterial families identified three were commonly cited in other publications. The common genus are as follows; *Flavobacterium, Staphylococcus* and *Bradyrhizobium* (Siqueira *et al.*, 2017). Bacteria within the *Flavobacteriaceae* family have been discovered to be within the mucous membranes of both healthy humans and animals (Vela *et al.*, 2007). However, in cases of pathogenicity this bacterium has also been linked to cases of pneumonia and other bacterial diseases in humans (Slenker, Hess, Jungkind, & DeSimone, 2012). However, it is of note that this is only a very small sample size of six lungs grouped into two pooled samples. To increase accuracy and reliability it is suggested to do this with a far larger pool of samples.

Whilst using 16S ribosomal RNA (or 16S rRNA) is still considered the go to method in biome sequencing, there are limitations in how well the method can differentiate between species

(Zhu *et al.*, 2013). Due to the lower levels of bacterial biomass within the lungs there is a great risk of contamination by 'outside' bacteria either during the sample collection method or later within the experiment (Dickson, Erb-Downward, Martinez, & Huffnagle, 2016). From samples extracted from the lungs, there has been an estimated range of between 4.5 to 8.25 log copies per/ml of bacteria which equates to 1-10 bacterial cells to every 10 human cells (Charlson *et al.*, 2012). This is tiny in comparison to the colon (large intestine) which has log 11 of typical concentration of bacteria (number/mL content) (Sender, Fuchs, & Milo, 2016). Due to the lack of reliability in 16S ribosomal RNA testing, full genome sequencing is often implemented either instead or alongside this as a method of bacterial detection.

Despite the recent publication of the porcine genome, there is still a lack of data surrounding the airway histology and is often limited to veterinary publications (Judge, Hughes, Egan, Maguire, Molloy, & O'Dea, 2014). The problem with a limited understanding of the porcine respiratory histology is the inability to make comparisons between shared structures with humans and the incapacity to also identify the differences that may occur which influence immune responses.

During the investigation into the pathophysiology of the extracted porcine lung tissue, most of the sections were treated with Haematoxylin and Eosin (H&E) which is a common staining method, and as such it is a well-researched and understood method (Titford, & Bowman, 2012; Bancroft, & Layton, 2013; Alturkistani, Tashkandi, & Mohammedsaleh, 2016). H&E stain can identify several features of tissue by the colours identified since the cytoplasm and the extracellular matrix is stained in varying shades of red whereas the nuclei are blue (Dettmeyer, 2011). The common features of lung tissue include the bronchi, bronchioles, and the pulmonary alveoli, which enable gas exchange (Zhou, & Moore, 2017).

The appropriate analysis is to calculate the percentage of cellular staining on the slide images. This is due to the difficulties in differentiating the cellular components after spinning. The velocity can alter morphology and create multiple layers of cells on the same section of slide which may lead to misconceiving results. However, these darker layers of colours may be simply a repeated overlay of stained cells so that they appear darker. This is a limitation of this method of cellular detection.

The wax seen on the slides is suggestive that the oven stage when staining the tissue is perhaps not long enough as the wax has not been fully melted. This is interesting as no such result was seen in the H&E staining and was not seen across all Giemsa-stained sections. Whilst using the GIMP imaging software is an objective and quantifiable method of identifying the percentage of stain coverage on the slide there are some limitations. The software struggled to identify the extremely light blue sections of stains as demonstrated within section '2.4.1 BAL Cytospin'. This may mean that the percentages calculated are perhaps lower than actual value. To overcome this limitation sourcing a more sensitive softer that can detect even minute colour changes would be optimal.

Overall, the H&E staining and analysis allows the health of the lung tissue to be analysed. They create a great base for future research to reference since there is very little in the way of research on porcine histology. Latter research could involve studying the changes in the structure of the tissue after inoculation with the VAP strain. By having a base for the tissue structure, it could also be used as an indicator of what quantity of infection must be reached before pathology occurs. Of which also the bacterial cytokines and inflammatory signals could also be discovered. Since the BAL was effective there is also the potential to study the effects of aerosol antibiotics could be investigated since there are many current cautions associated with this form of therapy.

There are cases where aerosolized colistin causes direct lung damage leading to lifethreatening side effects if not administered correctly (Zarogoulidis et at., 2013a). There are also restrictions regarding the size of the droplet as it must not surpass 5µm (Zarogoulidis *et al.*, 2013a), which is made increasingly difficult due to the respiratory environment of high humidity, concentration of salts and chemical compounds, the droplets tend to increase by ¼ to ½ the size of the original (Labiris & Dolovich, 2003). However, the data suggests that aerosol therapy can be successfully administered but the dose should be regularly changed, and careful monitoring of the applicable laboratory values is essential (Zarogoulidis *et al.*, 2011). Therefore, further research by using this model would be relevant for clinicians to avoid causing damage to the patient.

M. hyopneumoniae is not an uncommon disease with a prevalence range between approximately 20-80% (Fablet *et al.*, 2012). Delayed presentation alongside other respiratory

pathogens has been linked to high levels of morbidity and significant economic losses due to a reduced biomass (Ruiz, Utrera, & Pijoan, 2003). The main transmission pathways are vertical from sow to piglet and then is spread via proximity, especially in indoor pens (Fano, Pijoan, Dee, & Deen, 2007).

Despite the presence of some slight discoloration, the overall assessment of the lung is that it is healthy as the discoloration spans less than 10% of the total area of tissue and was avoided when dissecting sections of alveolar tissue. The areas of discoloured tissue were avoided within this study and were not used for any experimentation.

Whilst this was not an aim of the study to explore it is an interesting avenue that could be researched more extensively in another study. When relating it back to patient studies it is important to note that a large cohort of patients will have had some sort of pulmonary event, the NHS quotes that one in every five people have had a form of respiratory disease, be it a viral infection, asthma, COPD, and other instances whereby the lungs have bene influenced by an external source (NHS, 2020). More topically this could also include COVID-19 since a recorded 1.57 million cases have been reported amongst the British population (NHS, 2020). The research could therefore be focused on how these pre-existing conditions or exposure affect the development and severity of VAP. The final phase of this experiment was to generate a growth curve of inoculated porcine lung tissue with a VAP clinical isolate strain obtained from Royal Liverpool Hospital. The previous work of determining the best method for killing lung tissue was applied and therefore since the structural capacity of the tissue was not necessary heat was used. The growth curve is used to be able to simulate VAP in the lung tissue and measure the response between the host microbe interactions.

Within section '3.2.5 Proliferation of bacteria on ex vivo porcine lung tissue' the heat killed tissue has a far lower bacterial viable count than that of the heat killed and inoculated tissue. This is likely due to the heating element causing tissue death and thus providing an inhospitable environment to the normal host flora, however, anaerobes which are found within the lungs are often associated with pathogenesis in pulmonary infections (Bartlett, 2012). The bacterium growing on both types of tissue is surviving anaerobically and off dead tissue/nutrients available. This ideology is supported within the research which claims that

'anaerobes multiply well in dead tissue' (Bowler, Duerden, & Armstrong, 2001). Since the lungs are generally considered an aerobic environment, this finding is also interesting as

When the live and live with the inoculum tissue samples were compared the non-inoculated tissue bacterial growth is far lower than that of the inoculated, however, there is still a considerable portion of growth, with a CFU of 10^9. Harrison et al (2012) published that their inoculated tissue had a mean CFU of 4 x10^9, which suggests that a CFU of 10^9 is relatively minimal and supports a successful inoculation practise within this experiment.

This measurement of growth on live but not inoculated tissue is likely caused due to the normal flora which resides on the lung tissue. Selective media was not used since it was a poly microbial isolate and therefore that would have skewed the reports. The drop of said bacterium counts after the 24hr time point may be due to the death of the tissue thus removing the normal host bacterium's environment and leading to colony death. This is supported earlier within this report when the findings presented that the live tissue was not significantly different to that of heat killed tissue after 18hrs. This tissue death will cause a reduction in viable host flora since the majority will not be adapted to survive on the new conditions created by tissue and cell death.

A growth curve can be used as a platform to investigate the effect of antibiotics, probiotics and various other VAP prevention strategies. For example, within Salford there has been extensive testing on what types of antibiotics the VAP isolate is resistant to. Those that it is susceptible to could be added to the medium and then the bacterial growth analysed. The tissue could also be sectioned, and any differences caused could be noted. This is especially useful when testing novel or alternate treatment pathways due to the similarity of the porcine immune system to humans. Thus, allowing safe ways of testing before reaching clinical trials.

Overall, the conclusions from the curves generated is that inoculated live tissue had a far greater bacterial load than dead tissue. Live inoculated tissue had a greater bacterial load than non-inoculated tissue. To take this research further the bacterium causing the growth could be isolated and sequenced and then compared to the bacterium within the VAP isolate.

Through these findings the importance of the host is highlighted. Whilst on both types of tissue, dead and live, the inoculated sample had a greater density of bacterial growth it is of note that the heat killed tissue had a far higher colony count. Since the conditions and isolate added was the same the only difference was that one section was live, this highlights the potential 'fight' the tissue has with the clinical isolate. In fact, several of the most common microbes found within the lung microbiome of humans, such as *Proteobacteria*, *Bacteroidetes* and *Firmicutes* (Huffnagle, Dickson & Lukacs, 2017) are in fact thermophiles and would have survived the heat killing procedure (Selvarajan, Sibanda, & Tekere, 2017) suggesting that the tissue itself has been killed/denatured by the heat but the microbes may have survived.

The presence of thermophiles and their presence on the porcine lung tissue would need to be investigated further through sequencing and further histology to record the differences between the live and dead tissue. There could also be another stem of research into the *P. aeruginosa virulence* factors to establish if they are the same products secreted that would be inspected in the lung environment, which would be an interesting avenue to pursue. But overall, this study has provided a good benchmark for this to be investigated further. This is of clinical relevance since patients are alive when they contract VAP and therefore the live tissue response is more synonymous to what they experience clinically.

Through the research and data collected to collate this report the overall conclusions are that VAP has a variety of pathogenic causes and the need for a rapid diagnostic test is vital to reduce excessive antibiotic use and avoid MDR. When using the porcine lung model as an *ex vivo* investigation into the host microbe interactions with VAP more research needs to be done on healthy and diseased lung tissue histology to act as a comparison to any experimental designs. Despite that, the porcine model is an excellent model to study VAP.

5. REFERENCES

Ahearn, D.G., Grace, D.T., Jennings, M.J., Borazjani, R.N., Boles, K.J., Rose, L.J., ...& Ahanotu, E.N. (2000). Effects of hydrogel/silver coatings on in vitro adhesion to catheters of bacteria associated with urinary tract infections. *Current Microbiology*, *41*(2), 120-125.

Akter, S., Khatun, R., & S.M Shamsuzzaman. (2015). Molecular detection of atypical microorganisms in patients with ventilator associated pneumonia. *IMC Journal of Medical Science*, *9*(1), 22-25.

Almansa, R., Nogales, L., Martín-Fernández, M., Batlle, M., Villareal, E., Rico, L.,& Martín-Loeches, I. (2018). Transcriptomic depression of immunological synapse as a signature of ventilator-associated pneumonia. *Annals in Translational Medicine, 6*(21), 415. doi: 10.21037/atm.2018.05.12

Almuneef, M., Memish, Z.A., Balkhy, H.H., Alalem, H., & Abutaleb, A. (2004). Ventilatorassociated pneumonia in a pediatric intensive care unit in Saudi Arabia: a 30-month prospective surveillance. *Infection Control & Hospital Epidemiology, 25*(9), 753-758. doi: 10.1086/502472

Alp, E., & Voss, A. (2006). Ventilator associated pneumonia and infection control. *Annals of Clinical Microbiology and Antimicrobials, 5* (7). doi: 10.1186/1476-0711-5-7

Al-Tawfiq, A., & Tambyah, P.A. (2014). Healthcare associated infections (HAI) perspectives. *Journal of Infection and Public Health*, 7(4), 339-344

Alturkistani, H.A., Tashkandi, F.M., & Mohammedsaleh, Z.M. (2016). Histological Stains: A Literature Review and Case Study. *Global Journal of Health Science*, *8*(3), 72–79. doi: 10.5539/gjhs.v8n3p72

American Thoracic Society; Infectious Diseases Society of America. (2005). Guidelines for the management of adults with hospital-acquired, ventilator-associated, and healthcare-associated pneumonia. *American Journal of Respiratory Critical Care Medicine*, *171*(4), 388-416. doi: 10.1164/rccm.200405-644ST

Araj, G.F., Avedissian, A.Z., Ayyash, N.S., Bey, H.A., El Asmar, R.G., Hammoud, R.Z....& Sabai, S.A. (2012). A reflection on bacterial resistance to antimicrobial agents at a major tertiary care centre in Lebanon over a decade. *The Lebanese medical journal, 60*(3):125-135.

Bahrani-Mougeot, F.K., Paster, B.J., Coleman, S., Barbuto, S., Brennan, M.T., Noll, J., Kennedy, T., ... & Lockhart, P.B. (2007). Molecular Analysis of Oral and Respiratory Bacterial Species Associated with Ventilator-Associated Pneumonia. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology, 45*(5), 1588-1593. doi: 10.1128/JCM.01963-0

Bancroft, J.D., & Layton, C. (2013). The Hematoxylin and eosin. In S.K. Suvarna, C. Layton, J.D. Bancroft (Ed.), Theory Practice of histological techniques (pp. 179–220). Philadelphia: Churchill Livingstone of El Sevier.

Barnes, M., Feit, C., Grant, T-A., & Brisbois, E.J. (2019). Antimicrobial polymer modifications to reduce microbial bioburden on endotracheal tubes and ventilator associated pneumonia. *Acta Biomaterialia (91)*, 220-234. doi: 10.1016/j.actbio.2019.04.042

Bartlett, J.G. (2012). Anaerobic bacterial infection of the lung. *Clinical microbiology: Anaerobe*, *18*(2), 235-239.

Baselski, V., & Klutts, J. (2013). Quantitative cultures of bronchoscopically obtained specimens should be performed for optimal management of ventilator-associated pneumonia. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, *51*(3), 740-744.

Bassis, C.M., Erb-Downward, J.R., Dickson, R.P., Freeman, C.M., Schmidt, T.M., Young, V.B., ...& Ravel, J. (2015). Analysis of the Upper Respiratory Tract Microbiotas as the Source of the Lung and Gastric Microbiotas in Healthy Individuals. *American Society for Microbiology, 6*(2). doi:10.1128/mBio.00037-15.

Bekaert, M., Timsit, J.F., Vansteelandt, S., Depuydt, P., Vésin, A., Garrouste-Orgeas, M., ... & Benoit, D. (2011). Attributable mortality of ventilator-associated pneumonia: A reappraisal using causal analysis. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine, 184*, 1133–1139.

Bercault, N., & Boulain, T. (2001). Mortality rate attributable to ventilator-associated nosocomial pneumonia in an adult intensive care unit: a prospective case–control study. *Critical Care Medicine, 29*(12), 2303–2309. doi: 10.1097/00003246-200112000-00012

Bertani, B., & Ruiz, N. (2018). Function and biogenesis of lipopolysaccharides. *American Society for Microbiology, 8*(1). doi: 10.1128/ecosalplus.ESP-0001-2018.

Beutler, B. (2004). Innate immunity: an overview. *Molecular Immunology*, 40(12), 845-859.

Bjarnsholt, T., Jensen, P.O., Fiandaca, M.J., Pedersen, J., Hansen, C.R., Andersen, C.B., ... & Hoiby, N. (2009). *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* biofilms in the respiratory tract of cystic fibrosis patients. *Pediatric Pulmonology*, *44*, 547-558.

Bioline. (2018). MyTaq[™] Red Mix, Retrieved from https://www.bioline.com/uk/mytaq-redmix.html#review

Biswas, S.K., & ELopez-Collazo, E. (2009). Endotoxin tolerance: new mechanisms, molecules and clinical significance. *Trends in Immunology, 30*(10), 475-487. Doi:10.1016/j.it.2009.07.009

Blander, J.M., & Medzhitov, R. (2004). Regulation of phagosome maturation by signals from toll-like receptors. *Science*, *304*(5673), 1014-1018. doi: 10.1126/science.1096158

Bloemendaal, A.L.A., Fluit, A.C., Jansen, W.M.T., Vriens, M.R., Ferry, T., Argaud, L., ... & Verhoef, J. (2009). Acquisition and cross-transmission of Staphylococcus aureus in European intensive care units. *Infection Control and Hospital Epidemiology, 30* (2), 117-124.

Blot, S. (2008) Limiting the attributable mortality of nosocomial infection and multidrug resistance in intensive care units. *Clinical Microbiology and Infection*, *14*(1), 5–13.

Bonten, M.J.M., Kollef, M.H., & Hall, J.B. (2004). Risk factors for ventilator-associated pneumonia: from epidemiology to patient management. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, *38*(8):1141-1149. doi: 10.1086/383039

Boomer, J.S., To, K., Chang, K.C., Takasu, O., Osborne, D.F., Walton, A.H., ...& Hotchkiss, R.S. (2011). Immunosuppression in patients who die of sepsis and multiple organ failure. *The*

Journal of the American Medical Association, 306(23), 2594-2605. doi: 10.1001/jama.2011.1829.

Bouadma, L., Wolff, M., & Lucet, J.C. (2012). Ventilator-associated pneumonia and its prevention. *Current Opinions in Infectious Diseases, 25*(4), 395-404. doi: 10.1097/QCO.0b013e328355a835.

Bouza, E., Granda, M.J.P., Hortal, J., Barrio, J.M., Cercenado, E., & Muñoz, P. (2013). Preemptive broad-spectrum treatment for ventilator-associated pneumonia in high-risk patients. *Intensive Care Medicine*, *39*(9), 1547–1555.

Bouza, E., Hortal, J., Muñoz, P., Pascau, J., Pérez, M.J., Hiesmayr, M. (2006). Postoperative infections after major heart surgery and prevention of ventilator-associated pneumonia: a one-day European prevalence study. *Journal of Hospital Infections, 63*(3), 224-230.

Bowler, P.G., Duerden, B.I., & Armstrong, D.G. (2001). Wound Microbiology and Associated Approaches to Wound Management. Clinical Microbiological Reviews, 14(2), 244-269. doi: 10.1128/CMR.14.2.244-269.2001

Bridge, D.R., Novotny, M.J., Moore, E.R., & Olson, J.C. (2010). Role of host cell polarity and leading edge properties in *Pseudomonas* type III secretion. *Microbiology*, *156*(Pt 2), 356-373. doi: 10.1099/mic.0.033241-0

Bryan, J. (2014). Carbapenems have stood the test of time so far but resistance is emerging. *The Pharmaceutical Journal, 292,* (7815/6). doi: 10.1211/PJ.2014.20065329

Bucior, I., Mostov, K., & Engel, J.N. (2010). Pseudomonas aeruginosa-mediated damage requires distinct receptors at the apical and basolateral surfaces of the polarized epithelium. *Infection and Immunity*, *78*(3), 939-953. doi: 10.1128/IAI.01215-09.

Butler, K.L., Sinclair, K.E., Henderson, V.J., McKinney, G., Mesidor, D.A., Katon-Benitez, I., & Weaver, W.L. (1999). The chest radiograph in critically ill surgical patients is inaccurate in predicting ventilator-associated pneumonia. *The American Surgeon, 65*(9), 805-809.

Butler, K.L., Best, I.M., Oster, R.A., Katon-Benitez, I., Lynn Weaver, W., & Bumpers, H.L. (2004). Is bilateral protected specimen brush sampling necessary for the accurate diagnosis of

ventilator-associated pneumonia? *The Journal of Trauma,* 57(2), 316-322. doi: 10.1097/01.ta.0000088858. 22080.cb

Cadwell, K. (2015). The virome in host health and disease. *Immunity*, *42*(5), 805-813. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2015.05.003

Campbell, G.D., Coalson, J.J., & Johanson, W.G. Jr. (1984). The effect of bacterial superinfection on lung function after diffuse alveolar damage. *The American review of respiratory diseases, 129*(6), 974–978. doi: 10.1164/arrd.1984.129.6.974

Cancer Research UK. (2019). How long a new drug takes to go through clinical trials. Retrieved from: https://www.cancerresearchuk.org/find-a-clinical-trial/how-clinical-trials-areplanned-and-organised/how-long-it-takes-for-a-new-drug-to-go-through-clinical-trials

Cavalcanti, M., Ferrer, M., Ferrer, R., Morforte, R., Garnacho, A., & Torres, A. (2006). Risk and prognostic factors of ventilator-associated pneumonia in trauma patients. Critical Care Medicine, 34(4), pg. 1067-1072. Doi: 10.1097/01.CCM.0000206471.44161.A0

Centres of Disease Control and Prevention (CDCP). (2003). Pneumococcal ACIP Vaccine Recommendations. Retrieved 13th September 2018 from: https://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/hcp/acip-recs/vacc-specific/pneumo.html

CDCP. (2014a). Types of Healthcare-associated Infections. Retrieved 13th August 2018 from https://www.cdc.gov/hai/infectiontypes.html.

CDCP. (2014b). Ventilator-Associated Event (VAE). Retrieved 13th August 2018 from https://www.cdc.gov/nhsn/pdfs/pscManual/10-VAE_FINAL.pdf.

CDCP, National Centre for Emerging and Zoonotic Infectious Diseases (NCEZID), Division of Healthcare Quality Promotion (DHQP). (2019). Healthcare Associated Infections. Retrieved from: https://www.cdc.gov/hai/vap/vap_faqs.html

Ceva Lung Program. (2019). Lung scoring methodology. Retrieved from: https://www.ceva.co.uk/Swine/Ceva-Lung-Program/Ceva-Lung-Program

Charlson, E.S., Diamond, J.M., Bittinger, K., Fitzgerald, A.S., Yadav, A., Haas, A.R.,...& Collman, R.G. (2012). Lung-enriched organisms and aberrant bacterial and fungal respiratory microbiota after lung transplant. *The American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*, *186*(6), 536-545. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201204-0693OC.

Chastre, J., & Fagon, J-Y. (2002). Ventilator-associated Pneumonia. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*, *165*(7), 867-903. doi: 10.1164/ajrccm.165.7.2105078

Chastre, J., Trouillet, J.L., Vuagnat, A., Joly-Guillou, M.L., Clavier, H., Dombret, M.C., & Gilbert, C. (1998). Nosocomial Pneumonia in Patients with Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome. *American Journal of Respiratory Care medicine, 157*(4). doi:10.1164/ajrccm.157.4.9708057

Chi, S.Y., Kim, T.O., Park, C.W., Yu, J.Y., Lee, B., Lee, H.S., ... & Kwon, Y.S. (2012). Bacterial Pathogens of Ventilator Associated Pneumonia in a Tertiary Referral Hospital. *Tuberculosis and Respiratory Diseases*, 73(1), 32-37.

Christaki, E. (2009). Host immune response in sepsis due to ventilator-associated pneumonia: how is it different? *Critical Care, 13*(6), 1009. doi: 10.1186/cc8174

Choi, C.H., Lee, E.Y., Lee, Y.C., Park, T.I., Kim, H.J., Hyun, S.H.,& Lee, J.C. (2005). Outer membrane protein 38 of *Acinetobacter baumannii* localizes to the mitochondria and induces apoptosis of epithelial cells. *Cellular Microbiology*, *7*(8), 1127-1138. doi: 10.1111/j.1462-5822.2005.00538.x

Ciofu, O., Tolker-Nielsen, T., Jensen, P.P., Wang, H., & Høiby, N. (2015). Antimicrobial resistance, respiratory tract infections and role of biofilms in lung infections in cystic fibrosis patients. *Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews*, *85*. 7-23. doi: 10.1016/j.addr.2014.11.017

Coburn, B., Sekirov, I., & Finlay, B.B. (2007). Type III Secretion Systems and Disease. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, *20*(4), 535-549. doi: 10.1128/CMR.00013-07.

Cocorocchio, M., Baldwin, A.J., Stewart, B., Kim, L., Harwood, A.J., Thompson, C.R.L.,...& Williams, R.S.B. (2018). Curcumin and derivatives function through protein phosphatase 2A and presenilin orthologues in *Dictyostelium discoideum*. *Disease Models and Mechanisms 11*(1). doi: 10.1242/dmm.032375 Cohen, J. (2002). The immunopathogenesis of sepsis. *Nature*, *420*(6917), 885-891. doi: 10.1038/nature01326

Coffin, S.E, Klompas, M., Classen, D., Arias, K.M., Podgorny, K., Anderson, D.J., Yokoe, DS. (2008) Strategies to prevent ventilator-associated pneumonia in acute care hospitals. *Infection Control and Hospital Epidemiology, 29* (Suppl 1): S31–40.

Collins, A.M., Rylance, J., Wootton, D.G., Wright, A.D., Wright, A.K.A., Fullerton, D.G., & Gordon, S.B. (2014). Bronchoalveolar Lavage (BAL) for Research; Obtaining Adequate Sample Yield. *Journal of visualized experiments, (85)*, 4345. doi: 10.3791/4345.

Conway Morris, A., Anderson, N., Brittan, M., Wilkinson, T.S., McAuley, D.F., Antonelli, J., &...Simpson, A.J. (2013). Combined dysfunctions of immune cells predict nosocomial infection in critically ill patients. *British Journal of Anaesthesia, 111*(5), 778-87. doi: 10.1093/bja/aet205.

Conway Morris, A., Kefala, K., Wilkinson, T.S., Dhaliwal, K., Farrell, L., Walsh, T.,& Simpson, A.J. (2009). C5a mediates peripheral blood neutrophil dysfunction in critically ill patients. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine, 180*(1), 19-28. doi: 10.1164/rccm.200812-1928OC.

Cook, A., Norwood, S., & Berne, J. (2010). Ventilator-associated pneumonia is more common and of less consequence in trauma patients compared with other critically ill patients. *The Journal of Trauma and Acute Care Surgery, 69*, pg. 1083-1091. doi: 10.1097/TA.0b013e3181f9fb51

Dasgupta, S., Das, S., Neeraj, S.C., & Hazara, A. (2015). Nosocomial infections in the intensive care unit: Incidence, risk factors, outcome and associated pathogens in a public tertiary teaching hospital of Eastern India. *Indian Journal of Critical Care Medicine, 19*(1), 14-20. doi: 10.4103/0972-5229.148633

Dawson, H.D., Loveland, J.E., Pascal, G., Gilbert, J., Uenishi, H., Mann, K.M., ...& Tuggle, C.K. (2013). Structural and functional annotation of the porcine immunome. *BMC Genomics*, *14*(1), 332.
de Jong, E., de Jong, A.S., & Rentenaar, R. (2013). Differentiation of Raoultella ornithinolytica/planticola and Klebsiella oxytoca clinical isolates by matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionization-time of flight mass spectrometry. *Diagnostic Microbiology and Infectious Disease*, *75*(4), 431–433. doi: 10.1016/j.diagmicrobio.2012.12.009

de Lastours, V., Chau, F., Roy, C., Larroque, B., & Fantin, B. (2014). Emergence of quinolone resistance in the microbiota of hospitalized patients treated or not with a fluoroquinolone. *Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy, 69*(12), 3393-400. doi: 10.1093/jac/dku283.

Deeks, J.J. (2001). Systematic reviews in health care: Systematic reviews of evaluations of diagnostic and screening tests. *British Medical Journal, 323*(7305), 157-162. doi: 10.1136/bmj.323.7305.157

Dellinger, R., Levy, P., Carlet, M., Bion, M., Parker, J., Jaeschke, J., . . . Vincent, T. (2008). Surviving Sepsis Campaign: International guidelines for management of severe sepsis and septic shock: 2008. *Intensive Care Medicine, 34*(1), 17-60. doi: 10.1097/01.CCM.0000298158.12101.41

Dettmeyer, R.B. (2011). Staining Techniques and Microscopy. *Forensic Histopathology, 17,* p. 17-35. doi: 10.1007/978-3-642-20659-7_2

Dezfulian, C., Shojania, K., Collard, H.R., Kim, H.M., Matthay, M.A., & Saint, S. (2005). Subglottic secretion drainage for preventing ventilator-associated pneumonia: A metaanalysis. *The American Journal of Medicine, 118*(1), 11–18. doi: 10.1016/j.amjmed.2004.07.051

Dickson, R.P., Erb-Downward, J.R., Freeman, C.M., McCloskey, L., Beck, J.M., Huffnagle, G.B., & Curtis, J.L. (2015). Spatial Variation in the Healthy Human Lung Microbiome and the Adapted Island Model of Lung Biogeography. *Annals of the American Thoracic Society*, *12*(6), 821-830. doi: 10.1513/AnnalsATS.201501-029OC.

Dickson, R.P., Erb-Downward, J.R., Martinez, F.J., & Huffnagle, G.B. (2016). The Microbiome and the Respiratory Tract. *Annual Review of Physiology, 78*, 481-504. doi: 10.1146/annurev-physiol-021115-105238

Dickson, R.P., & Huffnagle, G.B. (2015). The Lung Microbiome: New Principles for Respiratory Bacteriology in Health and Disease. *PLOS*, *11*(7), p.e1004923. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1004923

Dijkshoorn, L., van Aken, E., Shunburne, L., van der Reijden, T.J., Bernards, A.T., Nemec, A., & Towner, K.J. (2005). Prevalence of *Acinetobacter baumannii* and other *Acinetobacter* spp. in faecal samples from non-hospitalised individuals. *Clinical Microbiology and Infection, 11*(4), 329-332. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-0691.2005.01093.x

Divatia, J.V., & Bhowmick, K. (2005). Complications of endotracheal Intubation and other airway management procedures. *Indian Journal of Anesthesia, 29*:308–31.

Djeribi, R., Bouchloukh, W., & Menaa, B. (2012). Characterization of bacterial biofilms formed on urinary catheters. *American Journal of Infection Control, 40*(9), 854–859. doi: 10.1016/j.ajic.2011.10.009.

DNA Technologies Core. (2018). Nanodrop Spectrophotometer, Retreived from http://dnatech.genomecenter.ucdavis.edu/nanodrop-spectrophotometer/

Dorfman, R., Sandford, A., Taylor, C., Huang, B., Frangolias, D., Wang, Y.,...& Zielenski, J. (2008). Complex two-gene modulation of lung disease severity in children with cystic fibrosis. *The journal of Clinical investigation*, *118*(3), 1040-1049. doi: 10.1172/JCI33754.

Dorsey, C.W., Tomaras, A.P., & Actis, L.A. (2002). Genetic and phenotypic analysis of *Acinetobacter baumannii* insertion derivatives generated with a transposome system. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 68*(12), 6353-6360. doi: 10.1128/aem.68.12.6353-6360.2002

Durairaj, L., Mohamad, Z., Launspach, J.L., Ashare, A., Choi, J.Y., Rajagopal, S., ... &Zabner, J. (2009). Patterns and density of early tracheal colonization in intensive care unit patients. *Journal of Critical Care Medicine*, *24*(1), 114-121. doi: 10.1016/j.jcrc.2008.10.009

Džidić, S., Šušković, J., & Kos, B. (2008). Antibiotic Resistance Mechanisms in Bacteria: Biochemical and Genetic Aspects. *Food Technology & Biotechnology, 46*(1), 11-21. doi: 10.1271/bbb.70.1060

Erridge, C., Moncayo-Nieto, O.L., Morgan, R., Young, M., & Poxton, I.R. (2007). *Acinetobacter baumannii* lipopolysaccharides are potent stimulators of human monocyte activation via Tolllike receptor 4 signalling. *Journal of Medical Microbiology, 56*(Pt 2), 165-171. doi: 10.1099/jmm.0.46823-0

Espinal, P., Martí, S., & Vila, J. (2012). Effect of biofilm formation on the survival *of Acinetobacter baumannii* on dry surfaces. *Journal of Hospital Infections, 80*(1), 56-60. doi: 10.1016/j.jhin.2011.08.013.

Fablet, C., Marois-Crehan, C., Simon, G., Grasland, B., Jestin, A., Kobisch, M.,& Rose, N. (2012). Infectious agents associated with respiratory diseases in 125 farrow-to-finish pig herds: a cross-sectional study. *Veterinary Microbiology, 157*, 152-163. doi: 10.1016/j.vetmic.2011.12.015

Fano, E., Pijoan, C., Dee, S., & Deen, J. (2007). Effect of *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* colonization at weaning on disease severity in growing pigs. *Canadian Journal of Veterinary Research*, *71*(3): 195–200.

Filkins, L.M., & O'Toole, G.A. (2015). Cystic Fibrosis Lung Infections: Polymicrobial, Complex, and Hard to Treat. *PLOS Pathogens*, *11*(12). Doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1005258

Fishman, J.A. (2007). Infection in solid-organ transplant recipients. *The New England Journal* of Medicine, 357, 2601–261.

Fiorentino, D.F., Zlotnik, A., Vieira, P., Mosmann, T.R., Howard, M., Moore, K.W., & O'Garra, A. (1991). IL-10 acts on the antigen-presenting cell to inhibit cytokine production by Th1 cells. *Journal of Immunology, 146*(10), 3444-3451.

Flanagan, J. L., Brodie, E. L., Weng, L., Lynch, S. V., Garcia, O., Brown, R., ... & Bristow, J. (2007). Loss of Bacterial Diversity during Antibiotic Treatment of Intubated Patients Colonized with *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, *45*(6), 1954–1962. doi: 10.1128/jcm.02187-06

Flemming, H.C., & Wingender, J. (2010). The biofilm matrix. *Nature Reviews. Microbiology,* 8(9), 623-633. doi: 10.1038/nrmicro2415

Flierl, M.A., Rittirsch, D., Gao, H., Hoesel, L.M., Nadeau, B.A., Day, D.E., ...& Ferrara, J.L.M. (2008). Adverse functions of IL-17A in experimental sepsis. *The FASEB Journal, 22*(7). doi: 10.1096/fj.07-105221

Foglia, E., Meier, M.D., & Elward, A. (2007). Ventilator-Associated Pneumonia in Neonatal and Pediatric Intensive Care Unit Patients. *Clinical Microbial Review, 20*(3), 409-425. doi: 10.1128/CMR.00041-06

Foster, T.J. (2005). Immune evasion by staphylococci. *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, *3*(12), 948–958.

Fothergill, J.L., Walshaw, M.J., & Winstanley, C. (2012). Transmissible strains of Pseudomonas aeruginosa in cystic fibrosis lung infections. *European Respiratory Journal*, 40: 227–238. doi: 10.1183/09031936.00204411

Fothergill, J.L, Winstanley, C., & James, C. (2012). Novel therapeutic strategies to counter pseudomonas aeruginosa infections. *Expert Reviews Ltd.* doi: 10.1586/eri.11.168

Fournier, P.E., Vallenet, D., Barbe, V., Audic, S., Ogata, H., Poirel, L.,& Claverie, J.M. (2006). Comparative genomics of multidrug resistance in *Acinetobacter baumannii*. *PLoS Genetetics*, *2*(1):e7. doi: 10.1371/journal.pgen.0020007

Frazier, W.J., & Hall, M.W. (2009). Immunoparalysis and Adverse Outcomes from Critical Illness. *Pediatric clinics of North America*, *55*(3), 647-668. doi: 10.1016/j.pcl.2008.02.009.

Fujimura, Y. (2000). Evidence of M cells as portals of entry for antigens in the nasopharyngeal lymphoid tissue of humans. Virchows Archiv, 436 (6), 560-566. doi.org/10.1007/s004289900177

Fullerton, D.G., Jere, K., Jambo, K., Kulkarni, N.S., Zijlstra, E.E., ...& Gordon, S.B. (2009). Domestic smoke exposure is associated with alveolar macrophage particulate load. Tropical medicine and international health, 14(349-354). doi: 10.1111/j.1365-3156.2009.02230.x

Galle, M., Carpentier, I., & Beyaert, R. (2012). Structure and Function of the Type III Secretion System of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa. Current Protein & Peptide Science, 13*(8), 831-842. doi: 10.2174/138920312804871210.

Garcia-Morante, B., Llardén, G., Sibila, M., Segalés, J., Fraile, L., & Coll, T. (2017). Potential use of local and systemic humoral immune response parameters to forecast *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* associated lung lesions. *PLoS ONE*, *12*(4), E0175034.doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0175034

Garcia, R., Jendresky, L., Colbert, L., Bailey, A., Zaman, M., & Majumder, M. (2009) Reducing ventilator-associated pneumonia through advanced oral-dental care: a 48-month study. *American Journal of Critical Care 18*(6): 523–32.

Garibyan, L., & Avashia, N. (2014). Research Techniques Made Simple: Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR). *Journal of Investigative Dermatology*, *133*(3), e6. doi: 10.1038/jid.2013.1

Garland, J.S. (2010). Strategies to prevent ventilator-associated pneumonia in neonates. *Clinics in Perinatology*, *37*(3):629-643. doi: 10.1016/j.clp.2010.05.003.

Gil-Perotin, S., Ramirez, P., Marti, V., Sahuquillo, J.M., Gonzalez, E., Calleja, I., ...& Bonastre, J. (2012). Implications of endotracheal tube biofilm in ventilator-associated pneumonia response: a state of concept. *Critical Care, 16*(3), R93. doi: 10.1186/cc11357

Global Health Sciences: Global Research Projects. (2015). Microbiome, Virome, and Host Responses Preceding Ventilator-Associated Pneumonia (VAP). Retrieved on 14/08/2018 from https://globalprojects.ucsf.edu/project/microbiome-virome-and-host-responses-preceding-ventilator-associated-pneumonia-vap

Golia, S., Sangeetha, K.T., & Vasudha, C.L. (2013). Comparison of the isolated pathogens in late and early onset VAP (Figure). Originally Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3879896/

Golia, S., Sangeetha, K.T., & Vasudha, C.L. (2013). Microbial Profile of Early and Late Onset Ventilator Associated Pneumonia in The Intensive Care Unit of A Tertiary Care Hospital in

Bangalore, India. *Journal of Clinical and Diagnostic Research*, 7(11), 2462-2466. doi: 10.7860/JCDR/2013/6344.3580

Grossman, R.F., & Fein, A. (2000). Evidence-Based Assessment of Diagnostic Tests for Ventilator-Associated Pneumonia. *Chest*, *117*(4).

Gude, S., Pinçe, E., Taute, K.M., Seinen, A-B., Shimizu, T.S. & Tans, S.J. (2020). Bacterial coexistence driven by motility and spatial competition. *Nature*, *578*, (588–592). doi: 10.1038/s41586-020-2033-2

Guidelines for the management of adults with hospital-acquired, ventilator-associated, and healthcare-associated pneumonia. (2005). *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*, *171*(4), 388-416. doi: 10.1164/rccm.200405-644ST

Gunasekera, P., & Gratrix, A. (2016). Ventilator-associated pneumonia. *BJA Education, 16*(6), 198-202. doi: 10.1093/bjaed/mkv046

Hamady, M., Walker, J.J., Harris, J.K., Gold, N.J., & Knight, R. (2008). Error-correcting barcoded primers for pyrosequencing hundreds of samples in multiplex. *Nature Methods*, *5*(3):235-7.

Harrison, F., Muruli, A., Higgins, S., & Diggle, P. (2014). Development of an Ex Vivo Porcine Lung Model for Studying Growth, Virulence, and Signaling of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. *Infection and Immunity*, *82*(8), 3312-3323. doi: 10.1128/IAI.01554-14

Hassanzadeh, S., Pourmand, M.R., Afshar, D., Dehbashi, S., & Mashhadi, R. (2016). TENT: A Rapid DNA Extraction Method of Staphylococcus aureus. Iranian Journal of Public Health, 45(8), 1093–1095.

Hauser, A.R. (2009). The type III secretion system of Pseudomonas aeruginosa: infection by injection. *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, 7(9), 654-665. doi: 10.1038/nrmicro2199.

Hauser, A.R., Cobb, E., Bodi, M., Mariscal, D., Vallés, J.,& Rello, J. (2003). Type III protein secretion is associated with poor clinical outcomes in patients with ventilator-associated pneumonia caused by *Pseudomonas aeruginosa. Critical Care Medicine, 30*(3):521-528. doi: 10.1097/00003246-200203000-00005

Hazan, Z., Zumeris, J., Jacob, H., Raskin, H., Kratysh, G., Vishnia, M., & Lavie, G. (2006). Effective prevention of microbial biofilm formation on medical devices by low-energy surface acoustic waves. *Antimicrobial Agents in Chemotherapy*, *50* (12):4144-4152. doi: 10.1128/AAC.00418-06

He, S., Chen, B., Li, W., Yan, J., Chen, L., Wang, X., & Xiao, Y. (2014). Ventilator-associated pneumonia after cardiac surgery: A meta-analysis and systematic review. *The Journal of Thoracic and Cardiovascular Surgery*, *148*(6), 3148-3155. doi: 10.1016/j.jtcvs.2014.07.107.

Hellyer, T.P., Morris, A.C., McAuley, D.F., Walsh, T.S., Anderson, N.H., Singh, S., & Simpson, A.J. (2015). Diagnostic accuracy of pulmonary host inflammatory mediators in the exclusion of ventilator-acquired pneumonia. *Thorax, 70,* 41–47. doi:10.1136/thoraxjnl-2014-205766

Heming, N., Montravers, P., & Lasocki, S. (2011). Iron deficiency in critically ill patients: highlighting the role of hepcidin. *Critical Care*, *15*(2), 210. doi: 10.1186/cc9992

Herceg, A. (1997). The decline of Haemophilus influenza type b disease in Australia. *Communicable Diseases Intelligence, 21,* 173-176.

Hortal, J., Giannella, M., Pérez, M., Barrio, J., Desco, J., Bouza, M., & Muñoz, E. (2009). Incidence and risk factors for ventilator-associated pneumonia after major heart surgery. Intensive Care Medicine, 35(9), 1518-1525. doi:10.1007/s00134-009-1523-3

Huang, T., Zhang, M., Tong, M., Chen, J., Yan, G., Fang, S., ...& Ai, H. (2019) Microbial communities in swine lungs and their association with lung lesions. *Microbial Biotechnology*, *12*(2), 289–304. doi: 10.1111/1751-7915.13353

Huebinger, R., Smith, A., Zhang, Y., Monson, N., Ireland, S., Barber, R., . . . & Allen, M. (2018). Variations of the lung microbiome and immune response in mechanically ventilated surgical patients. *PLoS ONE*, *13*(10), E0205788. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0205788

Huebinger, R.M., Liu, M-M., Dowd, S.E., Rivera-Chavez, F.A., Boynton, J., Carey, C.,... & Barber, R.C. (2013). Examination with Next-Generation Sequencing Technology of the Bacterial Microbiota in Bronchoalveolar Lavage Samples after Traumatic Injury. *Surgical Infections*, 14(3): 275–282. doi: 10.1089/sur.2012.095

Huffnagle, G.B., Dickson, R.P., & Lukacs, N.W. (2016). The respiratory tract microbiome and lung inflammation: a two-way street (Diagram). Retrieved from: https://www.nature.com/articles/mi2016108

Huffnagle, G.B., Dickson, R.P., & Lukacs, N.W. (2017). The respiratory tract microbiome and lung inflammation: a two-way street. *Mucosal Immunology*, 10, 299–306.

Hunter, J.D. (2006). Ventilator associated pneumonia. *Postgraduate Medicine Journal,* 82(965), 172-178. doi: 10.1136/pgmj.2005.036905

Hunter, J.D. (2012). Ventilator associated pneumonia. *British Medical Journal, 29*(344: e3325). doi: 10.1136/bmj.e3325

Inamura, K. (2018). Update on Immunohistochemistry for the Diagnosis of Lung Cancer. *Cancers, 10*(3), 72. doi: 10.3390/cancers10030072

Institute for Healthcare Improvement. (2020). Ventilator-Associated Pneumonia. Retrieved from http://www.ihi.org/Topics/VAP/Pages/default.aspx

Ioanas, M., Ferrer, M., Cavalcanti, M., Ferrer, R., Ewig, S., Filella, X., ... & Torres, A. (2004). Causes and predictors of nonresponse to treatment of intensive care unit-acquired pneumonia. *Critical Care Medicine*, *32*(4), 938-945.

Iregui, M., Ward, S., Sherman, G., Fraser, V.J., & Kollef, M.H. (2002) Clinical importance of delays in the initiation of appropriate antibiotic treatment for ventilator-associated pneumonia. *Chest 122*(1), 262-8.

Ismail, N., Darbyshire, A., & Thorburn, K. (2012). Ventilator-associated pneumonia (VAP): a UK PICU experience. *Archives of Disease in Childhood, 97*(Suppl 1), A153-A154. doi:10.1136/archdischild-2012-301885.361

Itoi, K., Jiang, Y-Q., Iwasakiz, Y., & Watson, S.J. (2004). Regulatory Mechanisms of Corticotropin-Releasing Hormone and Vasopressin Gene Expression in the Hypothalamus. *Journal of Neuroendocrinology, 16*, 384-355.

Jardine, D., Bhutta, O.J., & Inglis, A. (2011). Specific Diseases of the Respiratory System: Upper Airway. In *Pediatric Critical Care (Fourth Edition)* (pp. 561-574). Retrieved from <u>https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/B9780323073073100448</u>

Johnston, N.J., Mukhtar, T.A., & Wright, G.D. (2002). Streptogramin antibiotics: mode of action and resistance. *Current Drug Targets*, *3*(4), 335-344. doi: 10.2174/1389450023347678

Johanson, W.G. Jr, Holcomb, J.R., & Coalson, J.J. (1982). Experimental diffuse alveolar damage in baboons. *The American review of respiratory diseases, 126*(1), 142–151. doi: 10.1164/arrd.1982.126.1.142

Joly-Guillou, M.L. (2005). Clinical impact and pathogenicity of *Acinetobacter*. *Clinical Microbiology and Infection*, *11*(11):868-873. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-0691.2005.01227.x

Judge, E.P., Hughes, L.J.M., Egan, J.J., Maguire, M., Molloy, E.L., & O'Dea, S. (2014). Anatomy and Bronchoscopy of the Porcine Lung. A Model for Translational Respiratory Medicine. *American Journal of Respiratory Cell and Molecular Biology*, *51*(3). doi: 10.1165/rcmb.2013-0453TR

Kalanuria, A.A., Zai, W., & Mirski, M. (2014). Ventilator-associated pneumonia in the ICU. *Critical Care, 18*(2), 208. doi: 10.1186/cc13775

Kalil, A.C., Metersky, M.L., Klompas, M., Muscedere, J., Sweeney, D.A., Palmer, L.B.,& Brozek, J.L.(2016). Management of Adults With Hospital-acquired and Ventilator-associated Pneumonia: 2016 Clinical Practice Guidelines by the Infectious Diseases Society of America and the American Thoracic Society. *Clinical Infectious Diseases: an official publication of the infectious diseases society of America, 63*(5):e61-e111. doi: 10.1093/cid/ciw353 27418577

Kanafani, Z.A., Zahreddine, N., Tayyar, R., Sfeir, J., Araj, G.F., Matar, G.M., & Kanj, S.S. (2018). Multi-drug resistant *Acinetobacter* species: a seven-year experience from a tertiary care centre in Lebanon. *Antimicrobial Resistance and Infection Control, 7*(9). doi: 10.1186/s13756-017-0297-6 Keane, S., & Martin-Loeches, I. (2019). Host-pathogen interaction during mechanical ventilation: systemic or compartmentalized response? *Critical Care, 23*(Supplement 1), 134. doi: 10.1186/s13054-019-2410-0

Kelly, B.J., Imai, I., Bittinger, K., Laughlin, A., Fuchs, B.D., Bushman, F.D., & Collman, F.G. (2016). Composition and dynamics of the respiratory tract microbiome in intubated patients. *Microbiome*, *4*(7). doi: 10.1186/s40168-016-0151-8

Klein, G., & Raina, S. (2015). Regulated Control of the Assembly and Diversity of LPS by Noncoding sRNAs. *Biomedical Research International*. doi: 10.1155/2015/153561.

Klompas, M. (2007). Does this patient have ventilator-associated pneumonia? *The Journal of the American Medical Association, 297,* 1583–1593. doi:10.1001/jama.297.14.15837

Klompas, M., Kleinman, K.P., & Karcz, A. (2012). Variability in Mean Duration of Mechanical Ventilation among Community Hospitals. Infection Control and Hospital Epidemiology, 33(6), 635-637. doi: 10.1086/665714

Knapp, S., Wieland, C.W., Florquin, S., Pantophlet, R., Dijkshoorn, L., Tshimbalanga, N.,& van der Poll, T. (2006). Differential roles of CD14 and toll-like receptors 4 and 2 in murine *Acinetobacter* pneumonia. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*, *173*(1), 122-129. doi: 10.1164/rccm.200505-730OC

Koenig, S.M., & Truwit, J.D. (2006). Ventilator-Associated Pneumonia: Diagnosis, Treatment, and Prevention. *Clinical microbiological Review*, *19*(4), 637-657. doi: 10.1128/CMR.00051-05

Kollef, M.H. (2004). Prevention of hospital associated pneumonia and ventilator associated pneumonia. *Critical Care Medicine, 32*(6), 1396–1404. doi: 10.1097/01.ccm.0000128569.09113.fb

Kollef, M.H., Afessa, B., Anzueto, A., Veremakis, C., Kerr, K.M., Margolis, B.D.,... & Schinner, R. (2008). Silver-Coated Endotracheal Tubes and Incidence of Ventilator-Associated Pneumonia: The NASCENT Randomized Trial. *JAMA Network, 300*(7), 805-813. doi:10.1001/jama.300.7.805

Kollef, M.H., Shorr, A., Tabak, Y.P., Gupta, V., Liu, L.Z., & Johannes, R.S. (2005). Epidemiology and outcomes of health-care-associated pneumonia: results from a large US database of culture-positive pneumonia. Epidemiology and outcomes of health-care-associated pneumonia: results from a large US database of culture-positive pneumonia. *Chest, 128*(6), pg. 3854-3862.

Kumar, H., Kawai, T., & Akira, S. (2011). Pathogen recognition by the innate immune system. *International Reviews of Immunology*, *30*(1), 16-34.

Kuroki, Y., Takahashi, M., & Nishitani, C. (2007). Microreview. Pulmonary collectins in innate immunity of the lung. *Cellular Microbiology*, *9*(8), 1871–1879. doi:10.1111/j.1462-5822.2007.00953.x

Kuroki, Y., Takahashi, M., & Nishitani, C. (2007). Pulmonary collectins innate immunity of the lung. *Cellular Microbiology*, *9*(8), 871–1879. doi: 10.1111/j.1462-5822.2007.00953.x

Labiris, N.R., & Dolovich, M.B. (2003). Pulmonary drug delivery. Part I: physiological factors affecting therapeutic effectiveness of aerosolized medications. *British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology*, *56*(6), 588–599. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2125.2003.01892.x

Lachiewicz, A.M., Hauck, C. G., Weber, D.J., Cairns, B.A., & van Duin, D. (2017). Bacterial Infections After Burn Injuries: Impact of Multidrug Resistance. *Clinical Infectious Diseases, 65*(12). Pg. 2130–2136. doi:10.1093/cid/cix682

Lee, J.C., Koerten, H., van den Broek, P., Beekhuizen, H., Wolterbeek, R., van den Barselaar, M.,& Dijkshoorn, L. (2006). Adherence of *Acinetobacter baumannii* strains to human bronchial epithelial cells. *Research in Microbiology, 157*(4), 360-366. doi: 10.1016/j.resmic.2005.09.011

Lee, M.S., Walker, V., Chen, L.F., Sexton, D.J., & Anderson, D.J. (2013). The Epidemiology of Ventilator-Associated Pneumonia in a Network of Community Hospitals: A Prospective Multicenter Study. *Infection Control & Hospital Epidemiology, 34*(7), 657–662. doi: 10.1086/670991

Lee, L.Y., Miyamoto, Y.J., McIntyre, B.W., Höök, M., McCrea, K.W., McDevitt, D., & Brown, E.L. (2002). The *Staphylococcus aureus* Map protein is an immunomodulator that interferes with T cell–mediated responses. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation, 110*(10), 1461-1471. doi: 10.1172/JCI16318

Lefcoe, M.S., Fox, G.A., Leasa, D.J., Sparrow, R.K., & McCormack, D.G. (1994). Accuracy of portable chest radiography in the critical care setting. Diagnosis of pneumonia based on quantitative cultures obtained from protected brush catheter. *Chest*, *105*(3), 885-887.

Lehrer, R.I. (2004). Primate defensins. *Nature Reviews Microbiology, 2*(9), 727-738. doi: 10.1038/nrmicro976

Leroue, M.K., Harris, J.K., Burgess, K.M., Stevens, M.J., Miller, J.I., Sontag, M.K. ...& Mourani, P.M. (2017). Molecular analysis of endotracheal tube biofilms and tracheal aspirates in the pediatric intensive care unit. *Advances in Pediatric Research*, 4(3), 14. doi: 10.12715/apr.2017.4.14

Lev, A., Aied, A., & Arshed, S. (2015). The effect of different oral hygiene treatments on the occurrence of ventilator associated pneumonia (VAP) in ventilated patients. *Journal of Infection Prevention*, *16*(2), 76-81.

Li Bassi, G., Rigol, M., Marti, J.D., Saucedo, L., Ranzani, O.T., Roca, I., & Torres, A. (2014). A Novel Porcine Model of Ventilator-associated Pneumonia Caused by Oropharyngeal Challenge with Pseudomonas aeruginosa. *Anaesthesiology*, *120*(5), 1205-1215. doi: 10.1097/ALN.00000000000222.

Lightowler, J., Wedzicha, J., Elliott, M., & Ram, F. (2003). Non-invasive positive pressure ventilation to treat respiratory failure resulting from exacerbations of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: Cochrane systematic review and meta-analysis. *British Medical Journal*, *326*(7382), 185-187.

Lillehoj, E.P., & Kim, K.C. (2002). Airway mucus: its components and function. *Archives of Pharmacal Research*, *25*, 770-780.

Lisboa, T., & Rello, J. (2008). Diagnosis of ventilator-associated pneumonia: is there a gold standard and a simple approach? *Current Opinion in Infectious Disease 21*(2):174-8. doi: 10.1097/QCO.0b013e3282f55dd1.

Liu, G.Y. (2009). Molecular Pathogenesis of *Staphylococcus aureus* Infection. *Pediatric Research, 65* (5 pt 2), 71-72R. doi: 10.1203/PDR.0b013e31819dc44d

Lodise, T.P. Jr., Patel, N., Kwa, A., Graves, J., Furuno, J.P., Graffunder, E.,& McGregor, J.C. (2007). Predictors of 30-day mortality among patients with Pseudomonas aeruginosa bloodstream infections: impact of delayed appropriate antibiotic selection. *Antimicrobial Agents in Chemotherapy*, *51*(10):3510-5. doi: 10.1128/AAC.00338-07

Lordan, J.L., Gascoigne, A., & Corris, P.A. (2003). The pulmonary physician in critical care. Illustrative case 7: Assessment and management of massive haemoptysis (Diagram). *Retrieved from:* https://thorax.bmj.com/content/58/9/814.citation-tools

Luckraz, H., Manga, M., Senanayake, E.L., Abdelaziz, M., Gopal, S., Charman, S.C., & Andronis, L. (2017). Cost of treating ventilator-associated pneumonia post cardiac surgery in the National Health Service: Results from a propensity-matched cohort study. Journal of the Intensive Care Society, 19(2), 94-100. doi: 10.1177/1751143717740804

Luna, C.M., Baquero, S., Gando, S., Patrón, J.R., Morato, J.G., Sibila, O.,& Torres, A. (2007). Experimental severe Pseudomonas aeruginosa pneumonia and antibiotic therapy in piglets receiving mechanical ventilation. *Chest*, *132*(2) 523–531. doi: 10.1378/chest.07-0185

Maes, D., Boyen, F., Devriendt, B. Kuhnert, P., Summerfield, A., & Haesebrouck, F. (2021). Perspectives for improvement of *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* vaccines in pigs. *Veterinary Research (52),* 67. Doi: 10.1186/s13567-021-00941-x

Magill, S.S. (2012). Ventilator-Associated Events: Background, Definitions and Surveillance Methods. USA: Arizona.

Mair, K.H., Sedlak, C., Käser, T., Pasternak, A., Levast, B., Gerner, W.,...& Meurens, F. (2014). The porcine innate immune system: An update. *Developmental & Comparative Immunology,* 45 (2), 321-343. doi: 10.1016/j.dci.2014.03.022 Magalhães, A.P., Lopes, S.P., & Pereira, M.O. (2017). Insights into Cystic Fibrosis Polymicrobial Consortia: The Role of Species Interactions in Biofilm Development, Phenotype, and Response to In-Use Antibiotics. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, *7*. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2016.02146

Majiduddin, F.K., Materon, I.C., Palzkill, T.G. (2002). Molecular analysis of beta-lactamase structure and function. *International Journal of Medical Microbiology, 292*(2), 127-37. doi: 10.1078/1438-4221-00198.

Mangram, A.J., Sohn, J., Zhou, N., Hollingworth, A.K., Ali-Osman, F. R., Sucher, J.F., Moyera, M., & Dzandu, J.K. (2006). Trauma-associated pneumonia: time to redefine ventilatorassociated pneumonia in trauma patients. The American Journal of Surgery, 210(6), 1056-1062. doi:10.1016/j.amjsurg.2015.06.029

Marik, P. E. (2001). Aspiration Pneumonitis and Aspiration Pneumonia. The New England Journal of Medicine, 344(9), 665-671.

Martin, C., Burgel, P-R., Lepage, P., Andréjak, C., de Blic, J., Bourdin, A., ...& Dusser, D. (2015). Host–microbe interactions in distal airways: relevance to chronic airway diseases. *European Respiratory Review*, *24*, 78-91, doi: 10.1183/09059180.00011614

Martin, T.R. & Frevert, C.W. (2005). Innate Immunity in the Lungs. *American Thoracic Society,* 2(5), 403-411. doi: 10.1513/pats.200508-090JS

Martínez, J.A., Cobos-Trigueros, N., Soriano, A., Almela, M., Ortega, M., Marco, F., & Mensa, J.(2010). Influence of empiric therapy with a beta-lactam alone or combined with an aminoglycoside on prognosis of bacteremia due to gram-negative microorganisms. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*, *54*(9), 3590-3596. doi: 10.1128/AAC.00115-10.

Martinez-Olondris, P., Sibila, O., Agustí, C., Rigol, M., Soy, D., Esquinas, C.,& Torres, A. (2010). An experimental model of pneumonia induced by methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus in ventilated piglets. *European Respiratory Journal, 36* 901–906. doi: 10.1183/09031936.00176709

Marquette, C.H., Wermert, D., Wallet, F., Copin, M.C., & Tonnel, A.B. (1999). Characterization of an animal model of ventilator-acquired pneumonia. *Chest*, *115*(1), 200–209. doi: 10.1378/chest.115.1.200

Maslow, J.N., Glaze, T., Adams, P., & Lataillade, M. (2005). Concurrent outbreak of multidrugresistant and susceptible subclones of Acinetobacter baumannii affecting different wards of a single hospital. *Infection Control and Hospital Epidemiology, 26*(1), 69-75. doi: 10.1086/502489

McCormack, F.X., Gibbons, R., Ward, S.R., Kuzmenko, A., Wu, H., & Deepe, G.S. (2003). Macrophage-independent fungicidal action of the pulmonary collectins. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, *278*(38), 36250-36256. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M303086200

Meyns, T., Van Steelant, J., Rolly, E., Dewulf, J., Haesebrouck, F., & Maes, D. (2011). A crosssectional study of risk factors associated with pulmonary lesions in pigs at slaughter. *Journal of Veterinary Science*, *187*(3), 388–392. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.tvjl.2009.12.027 P

Michetti, C.P., Fakhry, S.M., Ferguson, P.L., Cook, A., Moore, F.O., & Gross, R. (2012). Ventilator-associated pneumonia rates at major trauma centres compared with a national benchmark: a multi-institutional study of the AAST. *The Journal of Trauma and Acute Care Surgery, 72* (5), 1165–1173. doi:10.1097/TA.0b013e31824d10fa. PMID 22673241.

Microbe Online. (2019). Giemsa Stain: Principle, Procedure and Results. Retrieved From: https://microbeonline.com/giemsa-stain-principle-procedure-and-results/

Millo, J.L., Schultz, M.J., Williams, C., Weverling, G.J., Ringrose, T., Mackinlay, C.I., ...& Garrard, C.S. (2004). Compartmentalisation of cytokines and cytokine inhibitors in ventilatorassociated pneumonia. *Intensive Care Medicine*, *30*(1), 68-74.

Moodley, A., Espinosa-Gongora, C., Nielsen, S.S., McCarthy, A.J., Lindsay, J.A., & Guardabassi, L. (2012). Comparative Host Specificity of Human- and Pig- Associated Staphylococcus aureus Clonal Lineages. *PLOS ONE 7*(11). doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0049344

Morris, A & Flores, S.C. (2017). Study of the Lung Microbiome. Have We Reached the End of the Beginning? *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine, 195*(1). doi:10.1164/rccm.201608-1635ED

Morris, A.C., Brittan, M., Wilkinson, T.S., McAuley, D.F, Antonelli, J., McCulloch, C., &... Simpson, A.J. (2011). C5a-mediated neutrophil dysfunction is RhoA-dependent and predicts infection in critically ill patients. *Blood, 117*(19), 5178-88. doi: 10.1182/blood-2010-08-304667

Müller, B., Morgenthaler, N., Stolz, D., Schuetz, P., Müller, C., Bingisser, R., . . . Christ-Crain, M. (2007). Circulating levels of copeptin, a novel biomarker, in lower respiratory tract infections. *European Journal of Clinical Investigation*, *37*(2), 145-152.

Musumeci, G. (2014). Past, present and future: overview on Histology and histopathology. Journal of Histology and Histopathology, 1(5). doi: 10.7243/2055-091X-1-5.

Nadel, J.A. (2013). Mucous hypersecretion and relationship to cough. *Pulmonary Pharmacology & Therapeutics, 26*(5), 510-513. doi: 10.1016/j.pupt.2013.02.003

National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE). (2016). Healthcare-associated infections. Retrieved from https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/qs113/resources/healthcareassociated-infections-pdf-75545296430533

Nembrini, C., Marsland, B.J., & Kopf, M. (2009). IL-17-producing T cells in lung immunity and inflammation. *The Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, *123*, 986-994.

NHS.(2020).Respiratorydisease.Retrievedfrom:https://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/clinical-policy/respiratory-disease/

NHS. (2017). Healthcare associated infections. Retrieved on 16th August 2018 from https://improvement.nhs.uk/resources/healthcare-associated-infections/

NHS England. (2016). NHS England announces first medtech devices and apps to join fast track payment scheme for innovation. Retrieved 13th August 2018, from https://www.england.nhs.uk/2016/11/innov-tech-tariff/

NICE. (2011). Healthcare-associated infections: prevention and control. Retrieved from https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph36/resources/healthcareassociated-infections-prevention-and-control-pdf-1996300832965

NICE. (2016). Healthcare-associated infections. Retrieved from: https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/qs113/resources/healthcareassociated-infections-pdf-75545296430533

Nomori, H., Yamazaki, I., Kondo, T., & Kanno, M. (2017). The cryoablation of lung tissue using liquid nitrogen in gel and in the ex vivo pig lung. *Surgery Today*, *47*(2), 259-264.

Novick, R.P. (2003). Autoinduction and signal transduction in the regulation of staphylococcal virulence. *Molecular Microbiology*, *48*(6), 1429-1449. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2958.2003.03526.x

Nseir, S., & Martin-Loeches, I. (2014). Ventilator-associated tracheobronchitis: where are we now? Brazilian Journal of Intensive Care, 26(3), 212-214. doi: 10.5935/0103-507X.20140033

O'Dwyer, D.N., Dickson, R.P., & Moore, B.B. (2017). The Lung Microbiome, Immunity, and the Pathogenesis of Chronic Lung Disease. *Journal of Immunology, 196*(12), 4839-4847. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1600279

O'Dwyer, M.J., Mankan, A.K., Stordeur, P., O'Connell, B., Duggan, E., White, ., ...& Ryan, T. (2006). The occurrence of severe sepsis and septic shock are related to distinct patterns of cytokine gene expression. *SHOCK*, *26*(6), 544-550. doi: 10.1097/01.shk.0000235091.38174.8d

Ogg, C.D., & Patel, B.K.C. (2009). Caloramator australicus sp. nov., a thermophilic, anaerobic bacterium from the Great Artesian Basin of Australia. *The International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology*, *59*(Pt 1), 95-101. doi: 10.1099/ijs.0.000802-0.

Olson, M.E., Harmon, B.G., & Kollef, M.H. (2002). Silver-Coated Endotracheal Tubes Associated With Reduced Bacterial Burden in the Lungs of Mechanically Ventilated Dogs. *Chest*, *121*(3), 863-870.

Parkins, M.D., Gregson, D.B., Pitout, J.D., Ross, T., & Laupland, K.B. (2010). Population-based study of the epidemiology and the risk factors for Pseudomonas aeruginosa bloodstream infection. *Infection*, *38*(1), 25-32. doi: 10.1007/s15010-009-9145-9.

Paling, F.P., Wolkewitz, M., Bode, L.G.M., Klouwenberg, P.M.C.K., Ong, D.S.Y., Depuydt, P.... &Kluytmans, J.A.J.W. (2017). *Staphylococcus aureus* colonization at ICU admission as a risk factor for developing *S. aureus* ICU pneumonia. *Clinical Microbiology and Infection, 23*(1), 49.e9-49.e14. doi: 10.1016/j.cmi.2016.09.022

Palmer, C.S., Gabbe, B.J., & Cameron, P.A. (2016). Defining major trauma using the 2008 Abbreviated Injury Scale. *Injury*, *47*(1), 109-115. doi:10.1016/j.injury.2015.07.003

Peleg, A.Y., Seifert, H., & Paterson, D.L. (2008). *Acinetobacter baumannii*: Emergence of a Successful Pathogen. *Clinical Microbiological Review*, *21*(3), 538-582. doi: 10.1128/CMR.00058-07

Pelekanou, A., Tsangaris, I., Kotsaki, A., Karagianni, V., Giamarellou, H., Armaganidis, A., & Giamarellos-Bourboulis, E.J. (2009). Decrease of CD4-lymphocytes and apoptosis of CD14monocytes are characteristic alterations in sepsis caused by ventilator-associated pneumonia: results from an observational study.*Critical Care*, *13*(6). R172.

Perkins, J., Mouzakes, J., Pereira, R., & Manning, S. (2004). Bacterial biofilm presence in paediatric tracheotomy tubes. *Archives of Otolaryngology–Head and Neck Surgery*, 130(3), 339-343. doi: 10.1001/archotol.130.3.339

Perkins, S.D, Woeltje, K.F., & Angenent, L.T. (2010). Endotracheal tube biofilm inoculation of oral flora and subsequent colonization of opportunistic pathogens. *International Journal of Medical Microbiology*, *300*(7), 503-511. doi: 10.1016/j.ijmm.2010.02.005

Piazza, O., & Wang, W. (2014). A translational approach to ventilator associated pneumonia. *Clinical Translational Medicine*, *3*(26). doi: 10.1186/2001-1326-3-26. Pinzone, M.R., Cacopardo, B., Abbo, L., & Nunnari, G. (2014). Optimal duration of antimicrobial therapy in ventilator-associated pneumonia: What is the role for procalcitonin? *Journal of Global Antimicrobial Resistance*, *2* (4), 239-244.

Piskin, N., Aydemir, H., Oztoprak, N., Akduman, D., Comert, F., Kokturk, F., & Celebi, G. (2012). Inadequate treatment of ventilator-associated and hospital-acquired pneumonia: risk factors and impact on outcomes. *BMC Infectious Diseases, 12*(268). doi: 10.1186/1471-2334-12-268.

Planquette, B., Timsit, J.F., Misset, B.Y., Schwebel, C., Azoulay, E., Adrie, C., Bédos, J.P. (2013). Pseudomonas aeruginosa ventilator-associated pneumonia. predictive factors of treatment failure. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine, 188*(1), 69-76. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201210-1897OC.

Pragman, A.A., Kim, H.B, Reilly, C.S., Wendt, C., & Isaacson, R.E. (2015). Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease Lung Microbiota Diversity May Be Mediated by Age or Inhaled Corticosteroid Use. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, *53*(3). doi: 10.1128/JCM.03320-14

Price, R., Maclennan, G., & Glen, J. (2014). Selective digestive or oropharyngeal decontamination and topical oropharyngeal chlorhexidine for prevention of death in general intensive care: systematic review and network meta-analysis. British Medical Journal, *348*:g2197. doi: 10.1136/bmj.g2197

Proft, T., Sriskandan, S., Yang, L., & Fraser, J.D. (2003). Superantigens and Streptococcal Toxic Shock Syndrome. *Emerging Infectious Diseases, 9*(10), 1211-8.

Pulido, L. M., Burgos, D. G., Luna, C., & Morato, J. (2017). Does animal model on ventilatorassociated pneumonia reflect physiopathology of sepsis mechanisms in humans? *Annals of Translational Medicine*, *5*(22), 452.

Rea-Neto, A., Youssef, N.C.M., Tuche, F., Brunkhorst, F., Ranieri, V.M., Reinhart, K., & Sakr, Y. (2008). Diagnosis of ventilator-associated pneumonia: a systematic review of the literature. *Critical Care, 12*(2), R56. doi: 10.1186/cc6877

Rello, J., & Diaz, E. (2003). Pneumonia in the intensive care unit. *Critical Care Medicine*, *31*(10), 2544-2551. doi: 10.1097/01.CCM.0000089928.84326.D2

Rello, J., Ollendorf, D.A., Oster, G., Vera-Llonch, M., Bellm, L., Redman, R., Kollef, M.H. (2002) Epidemiology and outcomes of ventilator-associated pneumonia in a large US database. *Chest 122*(6): 2115–21

Rello, J., Sa-Borges, M., Correa, H., Leal, S-R., & Baraibar, J. (1999). Variations in Etiology of Ventilator-associated Pneumonia across Four Treatment Sites. Implications for Antimicrobial Prescribing Practices. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine, 160*(2). doi: 10.1164/ajrccm.160.2.9812034 **#**

Ricart, M., Lorente, C., Diaz, E., Kollef, M.H., & Rello, J. (2003). Nursing adherence with evidence-based guidelines for preventing ventilator-associated pneumonia. *Critical Care Medicine*, *31*(11), 2693-2696. doi: 10.1097/01.CCM.0000094226.05094.AA

Riera, J., Caralt, B., López, I., Augustin, S., Roman, A., Gavalda, J., & Rello, J. (2015). Ventilatorassociated respiratory infection following lung transplantation. *European Respiratory Journal, 45*, 726-737. doi: 10.1183/09031936.00095214

Rocha, LA., Ribas, R.M., Darini, A.L.C., & Filho, P.P.G., (2013). Relationship between nasal colonization and ventilator-associated pneumonia and the role of the environment in transmission of Staphylococcus aureus in intensive care units. *American Journal of Infection Control, 41*(12). pg. 1236-1240. doi: 10.1016/j.ajic.2013.04.009

Rodrigues, M.E., Lopes, S.P., Pereira, C.R., Azevedo, N.F., Lourenço, A., Henriques, M., Pereira, M.O. (2017). Polymicrobial Ventilator-Associated Pneumonia: Fighting In Vitro Candida albicans-Pseudomonas aeruginosa Biofilms with Antifungal-Antibacterial Combination Therapy. *National Library of Medicine*, *12*(1). doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0170433

Roquilly, A., Feuillet, F., Seguin, P., Lasocki, S., Cinotti, R., Launey, Y., ...& Asehnoune, K. (2016). Empiric antimicrobial therapy for ventilator-associated pneumonia after brain injury. *European Respiratory Journal*, *47*, 1219-1228. doi: 10.1183/13993003.01314-2015 Rouby, J.J., Bouhemad, B., Monsel, A., Brisson, H., Arbelot, C., & Lu, Q. (2012). Nebulized Antibiotics Study Group, Aerosolized antibiotics for ventilator-associated pneumonia: Lessons from experimental studies. *Anaesthesiology*, *117*(6), 1364–1380. doi: 10.1097/ALN.0b013e3182755d7a.

Rosenblatt, J., Reitzel, R., Jiang, Y., Hachem, R., & Raad, I. (2014). Insights on the role of antimicrobial cuffed endotracheal tubes in preventing transtracheal transmission of VAP pathogens from an in vitro model of microaspiration and microbial proliferation. *BioMed Research International, 2014*. doi: 10.1155/2014/120468

Rouby, J.J., Bouhemad, B., Monsel, A., Brisson, H., Arbelot, C., & Lu, Q. (2012). Aerosolized antibiotics for ventilator-associated pneumonia: lessons from experimental studies. *Anesthesiology*, *117*(6), 1364-1380. doi: 10.1097/ALN.0b013e3182755d7a.

Ruiz, A., Utrera, V., & Pijoan, C. (2003). Effect of *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* sow vaccination on piglet colonization at weaning. Journal of Swine Health Production, 11(3), 131–135.

Rutherford, S.T. & Bassler, B.L. (2012). Bacterial Quorum Sensing: Its Role in Virulence and Possibilities for Its Control. *Cold Spring Harbour Perspectives in Medicine*, *2*(11). doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a012427

Ryder, C., Byrd, M., & Wozniak, D.J. (2007). Role of polysaccharides in Pseudomonas aeruginosa biofilm development. *Current Opinions in Microbiology, 10*(6), 644-648. doi: 10.1016/j.mib.2007.09.010

Safdar, N., Crnich, C.J., & Maki, D.G. (2005). The pathogenesis of ventilator associated pneumonia: its relevance to developing effective strategies for prevention. *Respiratory Care*, *50*(6):725-739.

Safdar, N., Dezfulian, C., Collard, H.R., & Saint, S. (2005). Clinical and economic consequences of ventilator-associated pneumonia: a systematic review. *Critical Care Medicine*, *33*(10), 2184-2193.

Sands, K.M., Twigg, J.A., Lewis, M.A.O., Wise, M.P., Marchesi, J.R., Smith, A., & ...Williams, D.W. (2016). Microbial profiling of dental plaque from mechanically ventilated patients. *Journal of Medical Microbiology*, *65*(Pt 2),147–159. doi: 10.1099/jmm.0.000212

Schleder, B.J. (2003) Taking charge of ventilator-associated pneumonia. *Nursing Management*, *34*(8): 27–32.

Schmidt, H., & Hensel, M. (2004). Pathogenicity Islands in Bacterial Pathogenesis. *Clinical Microbiology review*, *17*(1), 14-56. doi: 10.1128/CMR.17.1.14-56.2004

Scott, A.J., Oyler, B.L., Goodlett, D.R., & Ernst, R.K. (2017). Lipid A structural modifications in extreme conditions and identification of unique modifying enzymes to define the Toll-like receptor 4 structure-activity relationship. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta*, *1862*(11), 1439– 1450. doi: 10.1016/j.bbalip.2017.01.004.

Segal, L.N., Alekseyenko, A.V., Clemente, J.C., Kulkarni, R., Wu, B., Chen, H., ...Weiden, M.D.(2013). Enrichment of lung microbiome with supraglottic taxa is associated with increased pulmonary inflammation. *Microbiome* 1(19) doi: 10.1186/2049-2618-1-19

Selvarajan, R., Sibanda, T., & Tekere, M. (2017). Thermophilic bacterial communities inhabiting the microbial mats of "indifferent" and chalybeate (iron-rich) thermal springs: Diversity and biotechnological analysis. *Microbiology open, 7,* 560. Doi: 10.1002/mbo3.560

Sender, R., Fuchs, S., & Milo, R. (2016). Revised Estimates for the Number of Human and Bacteria Cells in the Body. *PLoS Biology*, *14*(8): e1002533. doi: 10.1371/journal.pbio.1002533

Seng, P., Boushab, B.M., & Romain, F. (2016). Emerging role of Raoultella ornithinolytica in human infections: a series of cases and review of literature. *International Journal of Infectious Diseases*, *45*, 65–71. doi: 10.1016/j.ijid.2016.02.014.

Shi, D., Mi, G., Wang, M., & Webster, T.J. (2019). In vitro and ex vivo systems at the forefront of infection modelling and drug discovery. Biomaterials, 198, 228–249. doi: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2018.10.030

Shrive, A.K., Tharia, H.A., Strong, P., Kishore, U., Burns, I. Rizkallah, P.J., ... & Greenhough, T.J. (2003). High-resolution structural insights into ligand binding and immune cell recognition by human lung surfactant protein D. *Journal of Molecular Biology*, *331* (2), 509-523.

Shneerson, J.M., & Simonds, A.K. (2002). Noninvasive ventilation for chest wall and neuromuscular disorders. *European Respiratory Journal, 20,* 480-487. doi: 10.1183/09031936.02.00404002.

Sibila, M., Aragón, V., Fraile, L., & Segalés, J. (2014). Comparison of four lung scoring systems for the assessment of the pathological outcomes derived from *Actinobacillus pleuropneumoniae* experimental infections. *BMC Veterinary Research, 10*(165), doi:10.1186/1746-6148-10-165

Sibila, M., Pieters, M., Molitor, T., Maes, D., Haesebrouck, F., & Segale's, J. (2009). Current perspectives on the diagnosis and epidemiology of *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* infection. *Veterinary Journal, 181*, 221-231. doi: 10.1016/j.tvjl.2008.02.020

Siegel, J.D., Rhinehart, E., Jackson, M., & Chiarello, L. (2006). Management of multidrugresistant organisms in health care settings, 2006. *American Journal of infection Control, 35*(10 Suppl 2), S165-193. doi: 10.1016/j.ajic.2007.10.006

Siegel, J.D., Rhinehart, E., Jackson, M., & Chiarello, L. (2007). Management of multidrugresistant organisms in health care settings, 2006. *American Journal of Infection Control, 35*(10 Suppl 2):S165-93. doi: 10.1016/j.ajic.2007.10.006

Sigma Aldrick. (2019). Amino Acids Reference Chart (Table). Retrieved from: https://www.sigmaaldrich.com/life-science/metabolomics/learning-center/amino-acidreference-chart.html

Singh, N., Rogers, P., Atwood, C.W., Wagener, M.M., & Yu, V.L. (2000). Short-course Empiric Antibiotic Therapy for Patients with Pulmonary Infiltrates in the Intensive Care Unit; A Proposed Solution for Indiscriminate Antibiotic Prescription. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*, *162*(2). doi:10.1164/ajrccm.162.2.9909095

Siqueira, F.M., Pérez-Wohlfeil, E., Carvalho, F.M., Trelles, O., Schrank, I.S., Vasconcelos, A.T.R., & Zaha, A. (2017). Microbiome overview in swine lungs. *PloS One, 12*(7), E0181503. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0181503

Slenker, K., Hess, B.D., Jungkind, D.L., & DeSimone, J.A. (2012). Fatal case of *Weeksella* virosa sepsis. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, *50*(12):4166–4167. doi: 10.1128/JCM.01761-12

Smith, C.J., & Osborn, A.M. (2009). Advantages and limitations of quantitative PCR (Q-PCR)based approaches in microbial ecology. *FEMS Microbiology Ecology*, *67*(1), 6-20. doi:10.1111/j.1574-6941.2008.00629.x

Smith, M.G., Gianoulis, T.A., Pukatzki, S., Mekalanos, J.J., Ornston, L.N., Gerstein, M., & Snyder, M. (2007). New insights into Acinetobacter baumannii pathogenesis revealed by highdensity pyrosequencing and transposon mutagenesis. *Genes & Development, 21*(5), 601-614. doi: 10.1101/gad.1510307

Smulders, K., van den Hoeven, H., Weers-Pothoff, J., & Vandenbroucke-Grauls, C. (2002). A randomized clinical trial of intermittent subglottic secretion drainage in patients receiving mechanical ventilation. *Chest*, *121*(3), 858–862. doi: 10.1378/chest.121.3.858

Solomon, D.H., Wobb, J., Buttaro, B.A., Truant, A., & Soliman, A.M. (2009). Characterization of bacterial biofilms on tracheostomy tubes. *Laryngoscope*, *119*(8):1633-1638. doi: 10.1002/lary.20249.

St Michael's Hospital. (2020). Routine H&E Staining. Retrieved from: http://stmichaelshospitalresearch.ca/staff-services/research-facilities/facilities/histologycore/routine-he-stain/

Strateva, T., & Mitov, I. (2011). Contribution of an arsenal of virulence factors to pathogenesis of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* infections. *Annals of Microbiology, 61*,717–732. doi: 10.1007/s13213-011-0273-y.

Struck, J., Morgenthaler, N.G., & Bergmann, A. (2005). Copeptin, a stable peptide derived from the vasopressin precursor, is elevated in serum of sepsis patients. *Peptides, 26* (12), 2500-2504.

Summerfield, A. (2020) Immune responses against porcine Mycoplasma infections. *Mycoplasmas in Swine, 6*, 110–125.

Sunenshine, Rebecca H., Wright, Marc-Oliver, Maragakis, Lisa L., Harris, Anthony D., Song, Xiaoyan, Hebden, Joan,....& Srinivasan, Arjun. (2007). Multidrug-resistant Acinetobacter infection mortality rate and length of hospitalization. (RESEARCH). *Emerging Infectious Diseases, 13*(1), 97-103. doi: 10.3201/eid1301.06071

Sundin, C., Thelasus, J., Broms, J.E., & Forsberg, A. (2004). Polarisation of type III translocation by Pseudomonas aeruginosa requires PcrG, PcrV and PopN. *Microbial Pathogenesis, 37*(6), 313-322. doi: 10.1016/j.micpath.2004.10.005

Sutherland, I.W. (2001). The biofilm matrix--an immobilized but dynamic microbial environment. *Trends in Microbiology*, *9*(5), 222-227. doi: 10.1016/s0966-842x(01)02012-1

Swindle, M. M., Makin, A., Herron, A. J., Clubb Jr, F. J., & Frazier, K. S. (2012). Swine as Models in Biomedical Research and Toxicology Testing. *Veterinary Pathology*, *49*(2), 344-356. doi: 10.1177/0300985811402846

Tablan, O.C., Anderson, L.J., Besser, R., Bridges, C., & Hajjeh, R. (2004). Guidelines for preventing health-care--associated pneumonia, 2003: recommendations of CDC and the Healthcare Infection Control Practices Advisory Committee. *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report (MMWR) Recommendations and Reports, 53*(RR-3), 1-36.

Tam, K., & Torres, V.J. (2019). Staphylococcus aureus Secreted Toxins & Extracellular Enzymes. *Microbiology Spectrum*, 7(2). doi: 10.1128/microbiolspec.GPP3-0039-2018

Tarquinio, K., Confreda, K., Shurko, J., & LaPlante, K. (2014). Activities of tobramycin and polymyxin E against Pseudomonas aeruginosa biofilm-coated medical grade endotracheal tubes. *Antimicrobial Agents Chemotherapy*, *58*(3), 1723-1729. doi: 10.1128/AAC.01178-13.

Titford, M., & Bowman, B. (2012). What May the Future Hold for Histotechnologists? *Labmedicine*, *43*(S2), E5-E10.

Timsit, J.F., Esaied, W., Neuville, M., Bouadma, L., & Mourvllier, B. (2017). Update on ventilator-associated pneumonia. (2017). *F1000 Research, 6*(2061). doi: 10.12688/f1000research.12222.1

Tomaras, A.P., Dorsey, C.W., Edelmann, R.E., & Actis, L.A. (2003). Attachment to and biofilm formation on abiotic surfaces by *Acinetobacter baumannii*: involvement of a novel chaperone-usher pili assembly system. *Microbiology*, *149*(Pt 12), 3473-3484.

Ullberg, M., Luthie, P., Molling, P., Stralin, K., & Ozenci, V. (2017). Broad-Range Detection of Microorganisms Directly from Bronchoalveolar Lavage Specimens by PCR/Electrospray Ionization-Mass Spectrometry. *PLoS One, 12*(1). doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0170033

Van Cleve, J.R., Boucher, B.A., Smith, D.V., & Croce, M.A. (2018). Ventilator associated pneumonia caused by Raoultella ornithinolytica in two immunocompetent trauma patients. *Respiratory Medicine Case Reports, 24*, 135–137. doi: 10.1016/j.rmcr.2018.05.006

Van Den Driessche, F., Rigole, P., Brackman, G., & Coenye, T. (2014). Optimization of Resazurin-based Viability Staining for Quantification of Microbial Biofilms. *Journal of Microbiological Methods*, *98*, 31-34. doi: 10.1016/j.mimet.2013.12.011

Van Der Kooi, T.I.I., De Boer, A.S., Manniën, J., Beaumont, M.T., Mooi, B.W., &Van Den Hof, S. (2007). Incidence and risk factors of device-associated infections and associated mortality at the intensive care in the Dutch surveillance system. *Intensive Care Medicine*, *33*(2), 271-278.

Van der Poll, T., & Opal, S.M. (2008). Host–pathogen interactions in sepsis. *The Lancet Infectious Diseases*, *8* (1), 32-43. doi: 10.1016/S1473-3099(07)70265-7.

Vaure, C., & Liu, Y. (2014). A Comparative Review of Toll-Like Receptor 4 Expression and Functionality in Different Animal Species. *Frontiers in Immunology, 5*: 316. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2014.00316

Vela, I., García, N., Latre, M.V., Casamayor, A., Sánchez-Porro, C., Briones, V., *et al.* Aerococcus suis sp. nov., isolated from clinical specimens from swine. (2007). *International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology*, *57*, 1291–1294. doi: 10.1099/ijs.0.64537-0

Venet, F., Chung, C.S., Kherouf, H., Geeraert, A., Malcus, C., Poitevin, F.,& Monneret, G. (2009). Increased circulating regulatory T cells (CD4(+)CD25 (+)CD127 (-)) contribute to lymphocyte anergy in septic shock patients. *Intensive Care Medicine*, *35*(4), 678-686. doi: 10.1007/s00134-008-1337-8

Venet, F., Chung, C.S., Monneret, G., Huang, X., Horner, B., Garber, M., & Ayala, A. (2008). Regulatory Tcell populations in sepsis and trauma. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology, 83*(3), 523-535. doi: 10.1189/jlb.0607371

Wagh, H., & Achayra, D. (2009). Ventilator Associated Pneumonia – an Overview. *British Journal of Medical Practitioners*, 2(2).

Wagner, J., Coupland, P.,Browne, H.P., Lawley, T.D., Francis, S.C., & ParkhilL, J.P. (2016). Evaluation of PacBio sequencing for full-length bacterial 16S rRNA gene classification. *BMC Microbiology*, *16*(1), 274. doi: 10.1186/s12866-016-0891-4

Walters, E.M., Wolf, E., Whyte, J.W., Mao, J., Renner, S., Nagashima, H., ...& Prather, R.S. (2012). Completion of the swine genome will simplify the production of swine as a large animal biomedical model. *BMC Medical Genomics*, *5*(55). doi: 10.1186/1755-8794-5-55

Weijer, S., Lauw, F.N., Branger, J., van den Blink, B., & van der Poll, T. (2002). Diminished interferon-gamma production and responsiveness after endotoxin administration to healthy humans. *Journal of Infectious Diseases, 185*(12), 1748-1753. doi:10.1086/345675

Weinstein, R.A., Bonten, M.J., Kollef, M.H., & Hall, J.B. (2004). Risk Factors for Ventilator-Associated Pneumonia: From Epidemiology to Patient Management. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, *38*(8), 1141-1149. doi: 10.1086/383039

Wertheim, H.F.L., Melles, D.C., Vos, M.C., Van Leeuwen, W., Van Belkum, A., Verbrugh, H.A., & Nouwen, J.L (2005). The role of nasal carriage in *Staphylococcus aureus* infections. *The Lancet Infectious Diseases, 5*(12), 751-762. doi: 10.1016/S1473-3099(05)70295-4

Wertheim, H.F.L., Walsh, E., Choudhurry, R., Melles, D.C., Boelens, H.A.M., Miajlovic, H., ... & van Belkum, A. (2008). Key Role for Clumping Factor B in *Staphylococcus aureus* Nasal Colonization of Humans. *PLoS Medicine*, *5*(1), e17. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.0050017

White, M., Lawless, M.W., O'Dwyer, M.J., Grealy, R., Connell, B.O., Stordeur, P., ... & Ryan, T. (2010). Transforming growth factor β -1 and interleukin-17 gene transcription in peripheral blood mononuclear cells and the human response to infection. *Cytokine*, *50*(3), 322-327.

Whitsett, J.A. (2002). Intrinsic and innate defences in the lung: intersection of pathways regulating lung morphogenesis, host defence, and repair. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, *109*(5), 565-569. doi: 10.1172/JCI15209

Whitsett, J.A. (2002). Series Introduction: Intrinsic and innate defences in the lung: intersection of pathways regulating lung morphogenesis, host defence, and repair. *The Journal of Clinical investigation, 109*(5), 565-569.doi: 10.1172/JCI15209

Whitsett, J.A., & Weaver, T.E. (2002) Hydrophobic surfac-tant proteins in lung functions and disease. *The New England Journal of Medicine, 347*(26):2141-2148. doi: 10.1056/NEJMra022387

WHO. (2016). The top 10 causes of death. Retrieved on 10/08/2018 from http://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/the-top-10-causes-of-death

Wiener-Kronish, J.P. (2009). Ventilator-Associated Pneumonia: Problems with Diagnosis and Therapy. *Best Practice & Research: Clinical Anaesthesiology, 22*(3), 437-449. doi: 10.1016/j.bpa.2008.05.002

Williams, B.J., Dehnbostel, J., & Blackwell, T.S. (2010). Pseudomonas aeruginosa: Host defence in lung diseases. *Respirology*, *15*, 1037–1056. doi:10.1111/j.1440-1843.2010.01819.x

Williams, V.R., Callery, S., Vearncombe, M., & Simor, A.E. (2009). The role of colonization pressure in nosocomial transmission of methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus*. *American Journal of Infection Control, 37* (2), 106-110. doi:10.1016/j.ajic.2008.05.007

Willson, D.F., Conaway, M., Kelly, R., & Hendley, J.O. (2014). The lack of specificity of tracheal aspirates in the diagnosis of pulmonary infection in intubated children. *Paediatric Critical Care Medicine*, *15*(4), 299-305. doi: 10.1097/PCC.00000000000000106.

Wood, C.G. (2016). Adjunctive aerosolized antibiotics to treat ventilator-associated pneumonia: A clinical conundrum continues. *Respiratory Care, 61*(8), 1131-1132.

Wyncoll, D., & Camorota, L. (2012). Number needed to treat and cost-effectiveness in the prevention of ventilator-associated pneumonia. *Critical Care, 16*(3), 430. doi: 10.1186/cc11346

Xu, X., Yuan, B., Shi, Z., Liang, Q., Huang, H., Yin, X., . . . Fang, H. (2015, A). Identification of crucial genes in ventilator associated pneumonia through protein–protein interaction network. *Experimental Lung Research*, *41*(6), 316-323.

Yepes, D., Gil, B., Hernandez, O., Murillo, R., Gonzalez, M., & Velasquez, J.P. (2006). Ventilator associated pneumonia and transfusion, is there really an association? (the NAVTRA study). *BMC Pulmonary Medicine*, *6*(18). doi: 10.1186/1471-2466-6-18

Ying, L., Bing, S., Xiao, T., Ya-lan, L., Hang-yong, H., Xu-yan, L., ... Zhao-hui, T. (2019). Application of metagenomic next-generation sequencing for bronchoalveolar lavage diagnostics in critically ill patients. *European Journal of Clinical Microbiology & Infectious Diseases, 39*(2), 369-374.

Yoneyama, H., & Katsumata, R. (2006). Antibiotic resistance in bacteria and its future for novel antibiotic development. *Bioscience, Biotechnology and Biochemistry, 70*(5), 1060-1075.

Younan, D., Griffin, R., Zaky, A., Pittet, J-F., & Camins, B. (2018). Burn patients with infection-related ventilator associated complications have worse outcomes compared to those without ventilator associated events. *The American Journal of Surgery, 215* (4), 678-681.

Zakharkina, T., Martin-Loeches, I., Matamoros, S., Povoa, P., Torres, A., Kastelijn, J.B., ...& Bos, L.D.J. (2017). The dynamics of the pulmonary microbiome during mechanical ventilation in the intensive care unit and the association with occurrence of pneumonia. *Critical Care, 72,* 803-810. doi: 10.1136/thoraxjnl-2016-209158

Zanella, A., Cressoni, M., Epp, M., Hoffmann, V., Stylianou, M., & Kolobow, T. (2012). Effects of tracheal orientation on development of ventilator-associated pneumonia: An experimental study. *Intensive Care Medicine*, *38*(4), 677–685. doi:10.1007/s00134-012-2495-2

Zarogoulidis, P., Kioumis, I., Porpodis, K., Spyratos, D., Tsakiridis, K., Huang, H.,& Zarogoulidis, K.(2013a). Clinical experimentation with aerosol antibiotics: current and future methods of administration. *Drug Design, Development and Therapy, 7*, 1115–1134. doi: 10.2147/DDDT.S51303

Zarogoulidis, P., Papanas, N., Kouliatsis, G., Spyratos, D., Zarogoulidis, K., & Maltezos, E. (2011). Inhaled insulin: too soon to be forgotten? *Journal of Aerosol Medicine and Pulmonary Drug Delivery*, *24*(5), 213–223. doi: 10.1089/jamp.2011.0876

Zarogoulidis, P., Petridis, D., Ritzoulis, C., Darwiche, K., Spyratos, D., Huang, H., . . . & Zarogoulidis, K. (2013b). Establishing the optimal nebulization system for paclitaxel, docetaxel, cisplatin, carboplatin and gemcitabine: Back to drawing the residual cup. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, *453*(2), 480-487. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpharm.2013.06.011

Zhang, J.M., & An, J. (2007). Cytokines, Inflammation and Pain. *International Anaesthesiology Clinics*, *45*(2), 27–37. doi: 10.1097/AIA.0b013e318034194e

Zhang, X., & Morrison, D.C. (1993). Lipopolysaccharide structure-function relationship in activation versus reprogramming of mouse peritoneal macrophages. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology*, *54*(5), 444-450.

Zheng, B., Li, L., Zhang, J., Ji, J., & Fang, Y. (2015). Emergence of Raoultella ornithinolytica coproducing IMP-4 and KPC-2 carbapenemases in China. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*, *59*(11), 7086–7089. doi: 10.1128/AAC.01363-15

Zhou, X., & Moore, B.B. (2017). Lung Section Staining and Microscopy. *Bio Protocol, 7*(10), e2286. doi: 10.21769/BioProtoc.2286

Zhu, B., Xiao, D., Zhang, H., Zhang, Y., Gao, Y., Xu, L., ...& Shao, Z. (2013). MALDI-TOF MS distinctly differentiates nontypable Haemophilus influenzae from Haemophilus haemolyticus. *PLoS One*, *8*(2):e56139.

Zur, K.B., Mandell, D.L., Gordon, R.E., Holzman, I., & Rothschild, M.A. (2004). Electron microscopic analysis of biofilm on endotracheal tubes removed from intubated neonates. *Otolaryngology–Head and Neck Surgery*, *130*(4), 407-417. doi: 10.1016/j.otohns.2004.01.006

Zuo, Z., Cui, H., Li, M., Peng, X., Zhu, L., Zhang, M., Ma, J., Xu, Z., Gan, M., Deng, J., Li, X., & Fang, J. (2013). Transcriptional Profiling of Swine Lung Tissue after Experimental Infection with *Actinobacillus pleuropneumoniae*. International Journal of Molecular Sciences, 14(15), 10626-10660. doi:10.3390/ijms140510626